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Company Information

Board of Directors

Hasan Reza-ur Rahim - (Chairman) Non-Executive Director
Kulsum Dawood - Non-Executive Director

Inam Ur Rahman - Non-Executive Director

Kamran Nishat - Independent Director

Shafig Ahmed - Non-Executive Director

Sulaiman S. Mehdi - (Chief Executive) Executive Director
Faisal Nadeem - (Chief Financial Officer) Executive Director
Ahsan Igbal - (Secretary)

Board Audit Committee
Kamran Nishat (Chairman)
Shafig Ahmed

Inam Ur Rahman

Kiran Hassan (Secretary)

Board HR & Remuneration Committee
Kamran Nishat (Chairman)

Inam Ur Rahman

Hasan Reza-ur Rahim

Faisal Nadeem (Secretary)

Board Investment Committee
Hasan Reza-ur Rahim (Chairman)
Inam Ur Rahman

Shafig Ahmed

Faisal Nadeem (Secretary)

Chief Financial Officer
Faisal Nadeem

Company Secretary
Ahsan Igbal

Head of Internal Audit
Kiran Hassan

Executives*

Sulaiman S. Mehdi (CEQO)

Faisal Nadeem (CFO)

Ahsan Igbal (Company Secretary)

Kiran Hassan (Head of Internal Audit)

Muhammad Anas Karimi (Senior Manager Finance)
Naresh Kumar (Investment Associate)

Syeda Humaira Akhtar (Senior Investment Analyst)
Zulgarnain (Manager)

*As determined by the Board of Directors

Auditors

A.F. Ferguson & Co.
(Chartered Accountants)
State Life Building 1-C,

I.I. Chundrigar Road, Karachi.
Website: www.pwc.com/pk

Tax Consultants

A.F. Ferguson & Co.
(Chartered Accountants)
State Life Building 1-C,

I.I. Chundrigar Road, Karachi.
Website: www.pwc.com/pk

Share Registrar/Transfer Agent
CDC Share Registrar Services Limited
CDC House, 99 - B, Block ‘B’,
S.M.C.H.S., Main Shahra-e-Faisal
Karachi-74400

Tel # (92-21) 111-111-500

Fax: (92-21) 34326053

Email: info@cdcrsl.com

Website: www.cdcrsl.com

Legal Advisors

Mohsin Tayebally & Co.

1%t Floor, Dime Centre,
BC-4, Block 9, Khekashan,
Clifton, Karachi

Rating Agency
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Group Structure

Inbox Technology
Engro Corporation

Limited (IBTL)
Limited (ENGRO)

Engro Fertilizers
Limited (EFERT)

Engro Foods
Limited (EFOODS)

Engro Eximp Agri
t
ProsiLrlﬁittiépv ! Cyan Limited
(CYAN)
Engro Powergen
Qadirpur Limited
(EPQL)

Engro Polymer
& Chemicals
Limited (EPCL)

Engro Elengy
Terminal (Pvt)

Dawood
Limited Lawrencepur
Limited (DLL)
Engro Vopak

Pebbles (Pvt)

Limited
Terminal Limited

(Joint Venture)

Reon Energy
Limited

Tenaga Generasi
Limited

Cyan Limited



Geographical Presence only in Karachi

KARACHI
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Commitment Openness and
to Pakistan Transparency

Integrity

J

)

J

Social Strong Work Teamwork and
Responsibility Ethics Partnership
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Strategic Objectives

Overall strategic objectives, management’s objectives and strategies for meeting those objectives

At Cyan Limited, our aim is to solicit our strategic objectives in such a manner that our approach and
endeavor to create a positive impact, remains intact.

Obijectives

Focus: Generate attractive
returns on Equity Portfolio.
Our success is a result of
achieving growth through
indepth analysis and
management of risk while
taking into account the

ever changing investment
environment. As we move
ahead, our focus remains
steadfast and impeccable. We
are committed to generate
attractive returns on the Equity
Portfolio.

Aim: Maximize Shareholders’
Wealth Our aim is to maximize
shareholders’ wealth as we
believe that our growth
projectiles and their success
are all connected with the trust
and confidence that we get
from our valued shareholders.
Our strong business strategies
only work with superior
execution, so we endeavor
that our strategic planning is
aligned with the increase in
wealth of our stakeholders.

Strategy to Meet Objective

Monitoring our
portfolio of
investments
frequently.

Maximizing resource
utilization in the
best possible
manner.

Pursue: Private Transactions
Cyan Limited believes in
committing its employees,
capital and ideas to help
entrepreneurs and high
potential companies to thrive
in Pakistan. We further believe
that by taking private
companies to PSX can help
better growth prospects for
the target companies.

Continuously
seeking profitable

avenues in high-
growth sectors.
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Code of Conduct

FOR EMPLOYEES:

This code is developed and adopted with a view
to develop and promote the highest standards
of ethical behavior, professionalism, integrity
and commitment amongst the employees of
the company. It is adopted with the end view of
promoting good corporate governance.

The company makes it mandatory for all its
employeesto performtheir duties and responsibilities
in accordance with this code.

The company is guided by the following principles
in all activities for attainment of the organizational
objectives:

1. ABIDANCE OF LAWS / RULES
a. All employees shall conform to and abide
by the company policies, applicable laws,
regulations and directives which may from
time to time be in force.

b. The employees shall not take part in, subscribe
in aid of, or assist in any way, any political

movement that is in disinterest of Cyan.

2. INTEGRITY

a. Conduct themselves with the highest
standards of ethics, professional integrity and
dignity in all dealings with the public, clients,
investors and employees, and not engage in
acts discreditable to Cyan and the profession.
If they become aware of any irregularity that
might affect the interests of Cyan, they shall
inform the senior management immediately.

b. Maintain all books, data, information and
records with scrupulous integrity, reporting
in an accurate and timely manner all
transactions/reports.

¢. Avoid all such circumstance in which there is
personal interest conflict, or may appear to
be in conflict, with the interests of Cyan or its
clients.

d. Not use their employment status to seek
personal gain from those doing business or
seeking to do business with Cyan, nor accept
such gain, gift, favor, entertainment or other
benefits, if offered.

8 Cyan Limited

3. CONFIDENTIALITY

Maintain the privacy and confidentiality of all
the information acquired during the course of
professional activities and refrain from disclosing
the same unless otherwise required by statutory
authorities/law. All such information will remain
as a trust and will only be used for the purpose
for which it is intended and will not be used for
the personal benefits of any individual(s). Inside
information about Cyan'’s clients/affairs shall not
be used for their own gain, or for that of others
either directly or indirectly.

4. PROFESSIONALISM

Serve Cyan honestly and faithfully and strictly
serve Cyan’s affairs and the affairs of its
constituents. Disclose and assign to Cyan
all interest in any invention, improvement,
discovery or work of authorship that they
may make or conceive and which may arise
out of their employment with Cyan. If their
employment is terminated, all rights to property
and information generated or obtained as part
of their employment relationship will remain the
exclusive property of Cyan.

5. BUSINESS/WORK ETHICS
a. Respect fellow colleagues and work as a
team. They shall at all times be courteous and
not let any personal differences affect their
work.

b. Ensure good attendance and punctuality and
demonstrate a consistently good record in
this area.

c. Maintain a standard of personal hygiene and
dress appropriately for attendance at work.

d. As a personal responsibility, safeguard both
the tangible and intangible assets of Cyan that
are under their personal control and shall not
use Cyan assets for their personal benefits
except where permitted by Cyan.

e. Notindulgeinany kind of harassment including
sexual harassment or intimidation whether
committed by or against any senior/junior, co-
worker, customer, vendor or visitor. They shall
not use language, written or spoken in intra
office communication(s) or communication(s)



with individual(s) outside the office that may
contain any statement or material that is

offensive to others.

Employees shall also not indulge in any of
the following activities except with the prior
permission of the competent authority:

i.  Borrow money from or in any way place
themselves under pecuniary obligation to
broker or money lender or any employee
of Cyan or any firm or person having
dealings with Cyan;

ii. Buy or sell stock, share or securities of
any description without funds to meet the
full cost in the case of purchase or scrip’s
for delivery in the case of sale. However,
they can make a bona fide investment
of their own funds in such stock, shares
and securities in line with the employees
trading policy;

ii. Lend money in their private capacity to
a constituent of Cyan or have personal
dealings witha constituentin the purchase
or sale of bills of exchange, Government
paper or any other securities;

iv. ~Guarantee in their private capacity the
pecuniary obligation of another person or
agree to indemnify in such capacity any
person from |oss;

v. Act as agent for an insurance company
otherwise than as agent for on behalf of
Cyan;

vi. Be connected with the formation or
management of a joint stock company;

vii. Engage in any other commercial business
or pursuit either on their own account or
as agent for another or others;

viii. Accept or seek any outside employment
or office whether stipendiary or honorary;
and

iX. Undertake part time work for a private or
public body or private person, or accept
fee thereof.

FOR DIRECTORS:
The Code is developed and adopted with a view

to focus the Board and each Director on areas of
ethical risk; provide guidance to directors to help
them recognize and deal with ethical issues; provide
mechanisms to report unethical conduct; and help
foster a culture of honesty and accountability.

1. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Directors including the Chairman must avoid any

conflicts of interest between the director and the

Company. Any situation that involves, or may

reasonably be expected to involve, a conflict of

interest with the Company, should be disclosed

promptly to the the Board of Directors. A “conflict

of interest” can occur when:

a. A director’s personal interest is adverse to or
may appear to be adverse to the interests of
the Company as a whole;

b. Adirector, oramember of his or herimmediate
family, receives improper personal benefits as
a result of his or her position as a director of
the Company;

Some of the more common conflicts which
directors should avoid are listed below:

c. Relationship of Company with third-

parties. Directors may not receive a personal
benefit from a person or firm which is seeking
to do business or to retain business with
Cyan. A director shall recuse him or herself
from any Company Board decision involving
another firm or Company with which the
director is affiliated;

d. Compensation from non-Company
sources. Directors may not accept
compensation (in any form) for services
performed for the Company from any source
other than the Company;

e. Gifts. Directors may not offer, give or receive
gifts from persons or entities who deal with
Cyan in those cases where any such gift is
being made in order to influence the directors’
actions as members of the Board, or where
acceptance of the gifts could create the
appearance of a conflict of interest; and

f. Personal use of Company assets. Directors
may not use Company assets, labor or
information for personal use unless approved
by the Chairman of the Board or as part of
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a compensation or expense reimbursement
program available to all directors.

CORPORATE OPPORTUNITIES

Directors are prohibited from:

a. Taking for themselves or their companies
opportunities that are discovered through
the use of Company property, Company
information or position as a director;

b. Using the Company’s property or information
for personal gain; or

c. Competing with the Company for business
opportunities. However, if the Company is
disinterested and the directors determine that
the Company will not pursue an opportunity
that relates to the Company’s business, a
director may then do so.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Directors must maintain the confidentiality of
information entrusted to them by the Company
and any other confidential information about the
Company that comes to them, from whatever
source, intheir capacity as a director, except when
disclosure is authorized or legally mandated. For
purposes of this Code, “confidential information”
includes all non-public information relating to the
Company.

Cyan Limited

4. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, RULES AND

REGULATIONS; FAIR DEALING

Directors must comply, and oversee compliance
by employees, officers and other directors,
with laws, rules and regulations applicable to
the Company, including insider trading laws.
Directors must deal fairly, and must oversee
fair dealing by employees and officers, with the
Company’s customers, suppliers, competitors
and employees.

. ENCOURAGING THE REPORTING OF ANY

ILLEGAL OR UNETHICAL BEHAVIOR.
Directors should promote ethical behavior and
take steps to ensure the Company:

a. Encourages employees to talk to supervisors,
managers and other appropriate personnel
when in doubt about the best course of action
in a particular situation; and

b. Encourages employees to report violations
of laws, rules, regulations or the Company’s

Code of Conduct to appropriate personnel.

. COMPLIANCE STANDARDS

Directors should communicate any suspected
violations of this Code prompily to the
Chairman of the Audit Committee. Violations
will be investigated by the Board or by persons
designated by the Board, and appropriate
action(s) will be taken in the event of any
violations of the Code.
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Cyan Seven

12

Committed Management Team

Company has a strong management team with demonstrated commitment to ethical values and
a proven track record.

Sizeable Market Share

Company has a sizeable market share or a clearly defined road map to achieve one.

Scalable Business Model

Company has a proven and scalable business model with an operational record of at least three
years.

Target Margin

Company has an EBITDA of at least PKR 200 million and has remained positive for the past three
years.

Target Revenue

Company has revenues of at least PKR 500 million or a tangible growth plan to achieve this target
in the short term.

Minimum Investment Size
The Company is seeking to raise at least PKR 100 million.

Exit Potential

The ability of an exit for Cyan i.e. to sell its stake in 1-3 years via trade sale, IPO, share buyback/
redemption, etc.

Cyan Limited



Cyan Expertise

Capital market
expertise of
$50mn public
equities portfolio
managed over
the last 8 years
and a team that
has combined 50
years’ experience
in public equities

Knowledge
base of various
industries
(Agribusiness,
Power,
Consumers etc.)
and Operations
(Governance,
Board Level
Involvement) due
to the DH group
platform.

Combining
the two, Cyan

can help to
formalize and
grow companies
leading their way
to list themselves
on the PSX

for increased
representation of
companies on the
stock exchange.
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The contribution of livestock sector is around 13.2% in the country’s
62% towards the agriculture sector. It mainly provides milk and m
consumption. According to our estimate, the per capita local pr:
stands at 21 Kg.

14 Cyan Limited



Did you know?

+ Beef consumption in Pakistan is
approximately 6.4 kg per year per
person as compared to 3.8 kg in
China and 5.4 kg in Iran.

+ Consumption of poultry meat in
Pakistan is 5.9 kg per year per
person as compared to 11.6 kg in

China and 23 kg in Iran.
y (last 5 years)

ed by chicken and mutton. Pakistan
50 exports beef to various countries and.+
5 exports has been growing at a 5-year
AGR of 8%.

Livestock Expenditure (PKR Billion) Beef Exports (USD Million)

0,
GAGR-_S/O
0,
CAGR10% . 193
5,101 ) B
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4,616 ) 153
4,181 . g ()
apip 384T lii
3130 —~ ([ )
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Source: Pakistan Economic Survey, Trade Development Authority of Pakists




HARNMACEUTICAL

The total contribution of the pharmaceutical sector in the country’s G
approximately 1%. The industry is growing at a 5-year CAGR of 119
the back of rising demand in the country led by the increasing p
Amongst the regional countries, China has the highest spendi
of USD 92 while Pakistan has the lowest spending per capi
Moreover, there are approximately 650 pharmaceutical
operating in the country.
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Did you know?

+ Pakistan does not have even one US
FDA approved plant, while India has over
500 US FDA approved sites, the highest
number outside the USA.

+ Although there are less than 30
multinational pharmaceutical companies,
they generate around 67% of the
industry’s revenue.

CAGR

(last 5 years)

Xpenditure is USD 13, lower than thé
egional average of USD 39.

Pharmaceutical Market Size (PKR Billion)

cAGR: 117
M
346 ()

Regional Expenditure per capita (USD)

91.8
)
326
)
ple} ) 64.5
260 ()
232 )
) Regional Average = 39
29.9
224
| ‘ 13.3 183
o 2 o g § g
‘14" 15" 16, ‘17, ‘18 ‘19 5 e 2 s < ?:5
= < o g

Source: Pakistan Pharmaceutical Manufacturers’ Association, Pakistan Eg
Pakistan, ICAP, PACRA, Cyan Research







Did you know?

+ Total number of infant deaths in Pakistan
was 338,000 during 2018 as compared
to 57,000 in Afghanistan and 74,000 in
Bangladesh.

* Around 37.6% of children under 5 years
of age are estimated to have a stunted
growth in Pakistan, whereas, the rate
stands at 40.9% in Afghanistan and 42.1%
in Somalia.

CAGR

(last 5 years)

d for healthcare services in Pakistan

creased steadily due to rising income

s, high population growth, increase
ifestyle diseases (such as diabetes and

ardiac issues) and increased accessibility

ithin rural areas.

Health Expenditure (PKR Billion)

CAGR: 8%
916 1,014 1,028

794 Y ()
738 =

685 s
-

Source: Pakistan Economic Survey and State Bank of Pakistan, WHO, U,

Doctors per 100,000 Population
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UCSALION

Pakistan’s literacy ratio (10 years and above) is 62% that is one of the |
amongst the regional peers. At a provincial level, Punjab has the hig
literacy ratio of 65% followed by Sindh, KPK and Baluchistan wit
and 56%, respectively.
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Did you know?

+ The total number of enrolled students in
Pakistan is around 19.3 million at primary
level, which drops to 6.4 million students
at the lower secondary level.

+ Pakistan ranks at 152" position globally
according to human development index,
as compared to Bangladesh at 135" and
India at 129t position.

(last 5 years)

institutions, along with several non-
nment organizations running charitable
ation foundations. The Government
akistan is determined to enhance the
fsources available to education sector
Dy ensuring proper and timely utilization of
funds.

Total Public Expenditure (PKR Billion) Regional Literacy Rates (%)

98.2
96.8 0957

) () N 2L 29 o9
)

829

Regional Average = 86

744 739
699 ) (M)
663 7~

599
538

62.3

Philippines  China Indonesia Malaysia Thailand Srilanka India Bangladesh Pakistan

14 15 ‘16, ‘17, ‘18 ‘19

Source: World Bank, Pakistan Economic Survey, UNICEF and State Ban




ODGISTICS

Logistics industry contributes about 5.7% in Pakistan’s GDP with a signi
share of the sector outside the formal economy. The sector holds im
importance within any economy because it helps streamline the p
improve efficiency. However, in Pakistan the sector is marred wi
unorganized businesses and poor infrastructure. With the a
resulting upgradation of infrastructure, the sector is exp
pace. Besides, the sector might experience increase
a result of increasing infrastructure activity. The t
under the economic corridor is estimated at 9
reconstruction of 1,830 km rail network.
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Did you know?

+ According to Logistics Performance Index
(LPI) of the World Bank, Pakistan is ranked
at 122" position with a LPI score of 2.42,
lower than that of Bangladesh and India.

+ Approximately 50% of agricultural
products go stale during transportation
due to lack of proper cold-chain logistics
and processing facilities.

CAGR

(last 5 years)

ousing form the rest of the industry.
sector has overdependence on road
Sportation due to weak rail infrastructure,
ich if countered, could make the industry.«
ore profitable and efficient. :

Logistics Expenditure (PKR Billion)

R 7%
CAG 2,400
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Did you know?

+ Cellphone penetration in Pakistan is nearly
74%, one of the highest in South Asia.

+ Pakistan is ranked number 4th in the world
for freelance development.

(last 5 years)

otential exists to contribute strongly

> future. There are a total of 300,000

xperts in Pakistan, with 10,000 new
bfessionals produced each year. ;

Technology Industry (PKR Billion)

CAGR: 16%

637
)
298 298 300
‘14, 15/ ‘16
Source: State Bank of Pakistan, Pakistan Economic Survey, Kaymu (noy
Information Technology, Board of Investment Pakistan, Pakistan Telecom

451
370
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Did you know?

+ According to Bloomberg, almost two-
thirds of Pakistan’s population is aged
under 30, who could be classified as the
new millennial, inclined to spend more
than save.

CAGR

(last 5 years)

as it aids in economic expansion,
es job opportunities and attracts
gn investment into the country through
pealing global brands into the local «
arket. The sub-sectors that have huge
growth potential are food & beverages,
apparel and footwear.

Retail Expenditure (PKR Billion)

GAGR: 9%
7,288
6,571 ()

5960 M)
5017 5,324 )
4,656

=

Source: Pakistan Economic Survey & State Bank of Pakistan, Pakista
Authority, Cyan Research







Did you know?

+ Pakistan does not have any Naphtha
cracker plant compared to 9 plants in India
and 8 in Iran.

* Petrochemicals account for 14% of global
oil and 8% of gas demand.

CAGR

(last 5 years)

al imports. The chemical sector is
Or a robust growth in the upcoming
s mainly due to the strong growth
look of major downstream sectors «
cluding plastics, electronics, construetion
and automobiles.

Chemical Consumption By Sector (%) Chemical Imports (PKR Billion)

Others - 9%
Footware 7 CAGR
g
Houseware :
Packaging 840
SeCémty 665
554 )
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503 518
Medical N o~ A [ )
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Automobile
12

Electronics
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Source: State Bank of Pakistan, International Energy Agency, Cyan Rese




Notice of the 60" Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Sixtieth (60th) Annual
General Meeting (AGM) of Cyan Limited will be held at
Karachi at 2:00 p.m. on Thursday the May 21, 2020
at The TDF Business Hub, Ground Floor, Dawood
Center, M.T. Khan Road, Karachi to transact the
following businesses:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.

To confirm the minutes of the 59" Annual
General Meeting of the Company held on March
29, 2019.

To receive, consider and adopt the Audited
Financial Statements of the Company for the
year ended December 31, 2019 together with
the Auditors’ and Directors’ Reports thereon
and Chairman’s Review Report.

To approve the payment of final cash dividend
at the rate of Rs. 1.00/- per share i.e. 10%
for the year ended December 31, 2019 as
recommended by the Board of Directors.

To appoint Auditors for the year ending
December 31, 2020 and to fix their remuneration.

To elect seven (7) directors of the Company as
fixed by the Board of Directors, in accordance
with Section 159(1) of the Companies Act, 2017
for a term of three years commencing from May
22, 2020. The following retiring directors are
eligible to offer themselves for re-election:

i. Hasan Reza- Ur Rahim

ii. Kulsum Dawood

iii. Kamran Nishat

iv. Inam ur Rahman

v. Shafig Ahmed

vi. Sulaiman Saddruddin Mehdi

Directors have recommended to consider and, if
thought fit, pass, with or without modification(s),
the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions:

RESOLVED that a sum of Rs. 29,313,861/-
(Rupees Twenty nine million three hundred
thirteen thousand eight hundred sixty one only)
be capitalized out of the un-appropriated profit
of the Company and applied towards the issue
of 2,931,386 Ordinary Shares of Rs.10/- each
as fully paid bonus shares to be allotted to the
shareholders in proportion of 5 (in numbers)
shares for every hundred (100) existing Ordinary
Shares held by the Members of the Company
who are registered on the books of the Company
at the close of business on Thursday May
28, 2020, and that, after allotment, such new
shares shall rank pari passu in all respects with
the existing Ordinary Shares of the Company.
These bonus shares will not be eligible for the
final cash dividend of 10% for the year ended
December 31, 2019.

FURTHER RESOLVED that Members’
fractional entitlement to Bonus Shares may be
consolidated and sold on the Pakistan Stock
Exchange Limited and net sale proceeds of
such fractional entitlements when realized be
paid to a charitable institution.

FURTHER RESOLVED that for the purpose of
giving effect to the foregoing, the Chief Executive
or the Company Secretary be and are hereby
singly authorized to give such directions as may
be necessary and settle any questions or any
difficulties that may arise in the distribution of
the said Bonus Shares or in the payment of the
sale proceeds of the fractions.

7. To transact any other business with the

permission of the Chair.

Vii.

Faisal Nadeem

Attached to this notice of meeting being sent to the
members is a statement under Section 134(3) and
166(3) of the Companies Act, 2017.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

6.

30

To approve the issue of Bonus Shares in the
ratio of 5 bonus shares for every hundred
(100) existing Ordinary Shares held by the
shareholders (5%) as recommended by the Board
of Directors in their meeting held on February
24, 2020. To give effect to the above, the

Cyan Limited

Karachi, April 30, 2020

By order of the Board

AHSAN IQBAL
Company Secretary



NOTES:

CORONA VIRUS CONTINGENCY PLANNING

e |n view of the recent outbreak of COVID-19 and
the restriction imposed by the Government of
Sindh on large public gatherings at one place,
the Securities and Exchange Commission of
Pakistan (SECP) has, vide circular No. EMD/
MISC/82/2012 dated March 17, 2020, advised
the companies to modify their usual planning for
annual general meetings for the well-being of
the shareholders and avoid large gatherings by
provision of video link facilities.

e Considering the restriction imposed by the
Government on public gatherings and SECP’s
directives, the Company intends to convene
this AGM with minimum number of shareholders
in person while ensuring compliance with the
quorum requirements and requests the Members
to consolidate their attendance and voting at the
AGM through proxies.

e Furthermore, the Members who are willing to
attend and participate in the AGM can do so
through video-link. To attend the AGM through
video-link, Members are required to register their
particulars by sending an email at ahsan.igbal@
cyanlimited.com. The Members registering to
connect through video-link facility are required
to mention their Name, Folio Number and
Number of Shares held in their name in the email
with subject ‘Registration for CYAN's AGM’
alongwith valid copy of CNIC (both sides). Video
link and login credentials will be shared with
the Members whose emails, containing all the
required particulars, are received at the given
email address at least 24 hours before the time
of AGM. The Members are also encouraged
to send their comments/suggestions, related
to the agenda items of the AGM on the above
mentioned email address.

e The Company will follow the best practices and
comply with the instructions of the Government
and SECP to ensure protective measures are in
place for wellbeing of its Members. Therefore,
the Members are encouraged to attend the
AGM through video-link or by consolidating their
attendance through proxies.

Notice of Closure of Share Transfer Books for
Attending AGM and Dividend Entitlement

The Share transfer books of the Company will remain
closed from Friday May 15, 2020 to Thursday May
21, 2020 (both days inclusive). Transfers received in
order at the office of our Registrar, M/s. CDC Share
Registrar Services Limited, CDC House-99B, Block ‘B’,
S.M.C.H.S., main Shahrah—e-Faisal, Karachi-74000,
by the close of business (3:00 p.m. Ramadan timings)
on Thursday May 14, 2020 will be treated in time for
the purpose of payment of final cash dividend to the
transferees and to attend and vote at the AGM.

Notice of Closure of Share Transfer Books for
Bonus Entitlement

The Share transfer books of the Company will remain
closed from Friday May 29, 2020 to Friday June 05,
2020 (both days inclusive). Transfers received in order
at the office of our Registrar, M/s. CDC Share Registrar
Services Limited, CDC House-99B, Block ‘B’,
S.M.C.H.S., main Shahrah-e-Faisal, Karachi-74000,
by the close of business 5:00 p.m. on Thursday May
28, 2020 will be treated in time for the entitlement of
bonus shares.

Participation in the Annual General Meetin

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
may appoint any other member as his/her proxy to
attend and vote. A Corporation being a member may
appoint any person, whether or not a member of the
Company, as its Proxy. A Proxy, duly appointed, shall
have such rights as respects speaking and voting at
the Meeting as are available to a member.

In order to be effective, Proxy Forms, duly filled and
signed, must be received at the Registered Office of the
Company, not less than forty-eight (48) working hours
before the Meeting. A blank Proxy Form is attached at
the end of the report.

CDC account holders will further have to follow the
under-mentioned guidelines as laid down by the
Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan:

A. For Attending the Meeting

i. In case of individuals, the account holders
or sub-account holders whose registration
details are uploaded as per the Regulations
shall authenticate his/her original valid
Computerized National Identity Card (CNIC) or
the original passport at the time of attending
the meeting.

Annual Report 2019 31



In case of corporate entity, the Board of
Directors’ resolution /power of attorney with
specimen signature of the nominee shall be
produced (unless it has been provided earlier)

Directors’ resolution /power of attorney with
specimen signature shall be submitted (unless
it has been provided earlier) along with the
proxy form to the Company.

at the time of the meeting.
v. Proxy form will be witnessed by two persons

whose names, addresses and valid CNIC
numbers shall be mentioned on the forms.

B. For Appointing Proxies

i. In case of individuals, the account holders

or sub-account holders whose registration  Deduction of Income Tax from Dividend under

details are uploaded as per the Regulations tion 1 f the Income Tax Ordinan 2001
shall submit the proxy form as per the above  (“Income tax Ordinance”)

requirement. The rates of deduction of withholding tax for filers
and non-filers as prescribed under Section 150

ii.  Attested copies of valid CNIC or the passport of the Income Tax Ordinance 2001, are as under:

of the beneficial owners and the Proxy shall

be furnished with the Proxy Form. (@) For filers of income tax returns ~ 15.00%
iii. The proxy shall produce original valid CNIC or (b) For non-filer of income tax returns 30.00%
original passport at the time of the meeting.
iv. In case of corporate entity, the Board of Withholding tax on Dividend in f int

Account Holders

Members who have joint shareholdings held by Filers and Non-Filers shall be dealt with separately and in such
particular situation, each account holder is to be treated as either a Filer or a Non-Filer and tax will be deducted
according to his/her shareholding.

If the share is not ascertainable then each account holder will be assumed to hold equal proportion of shares and
the deduction will be made accordingly. Therefore, in order to avoid deduction of tax at a higher side, the joint
account holders are requested to provide the below details of their shareholding to the Share Registrar of the
Company latest by the Annual General Meeting date.

Folio/CDC A/c Total No of Name of Share Holding | Name of Joint | Share Holding
No. Shares Principal Shareholders
Shareholder and CNIC #
and CNIC #

Valid Tax Exemption Certificate for Exemption from Withholding Tax
A valid tax exemption certificate is necessary for exemption from the deduction of withholding tax under Section

150 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. Members who qualify under Clause 47B of Part IV of the Second
Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 and wish to seek an exemption must provide a copy of their valid
tax exemption certificate to the Shares Registrar prior to the date of commencement of Book closure otherwise
tax will be deducted according to the applicable law.

Unclaimed Dividend

Shareholders, who by any reason, could not claim their dividend, if any, are advised to contact our Share Registrar
CDC House-99B, Block ‘B’, S.M.C.H.S., main Shahrah—e-Faisal, Karachi-74000 to collect / enquire about their
unclaimed dividend, if any.

In compliance with Section 244 of the Companies Act, 2017, after having completed the stipulated procedure,
all such dividend outstanding for a period of 3 years or more from the date due and payable shall be deposited
to the Federal Government in case of unclaimed dividend.

Change of Address and Zakat Deduction
Shareholders (Non-CDC) are requested to promptly notify the Company’s Registrar of any change in their

addresses and submit, if applicable to them, the Non-deduction of Zakat Form CZ-50 with the Company’s
Registrar. All the shareholders holding their shares through the CDC are requested to please update their
addresses and Zakat status with their participants.
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Postal Ballot and E-voting:

a) Pursuant to the Companies (Postal Ballot)
Regulations, 2018 for the purpose of election of
directors and for any other agenda item subject
to the requirements of sections 143 and 144
of the Companies Act, 2017, members will be
allowed to exercise their right of vote through
postal ballot, that is voting by post or through
any electronic mode, in accordance with the
requirements and procedure contained in the
aforesaid Regulations.

b) If the number of persons who offer themselves
to be elected is more than the number of
directors fixed under Section 159(1) of the
Companies Act, 2017, then the Company shall
provide its members with the option of e-voting
or voting by postal ballot in accordance with
the provisions of the Companies (Postal Ballot)
Regulations, 2018.

c) Shareholders who wish to participate through
e-voting kindly provide immediately or not
later than 14 days before the date of General
meeting through a letter duly signed by them as
per the Company record with his/her/its details
i.e. Name, Folio / CDC A/C No., Email Address,
and Contact Number to the Share Registrar of
the Company i.e. CDC Share Registrar Services
Limited, CDC House, 99-8, Block 'B', S.M.C.H.
Society, Main Shahrah-e-Faisal, Karachi.

d) Voting lines for Election of Directors will be open
for Members from May 15, 2020 at 9:00 am till
May 20, 2020 at 3:00 p.m. Ramadan timings.

Deposit of Physical Shares into CDC Accounts
As per Section 72 of the Companies Act, 2017 every

existing company shall be required to replace its
physical shares with book-entry form in a manner as
may be specified and from the date notified by the
Commission, within a period not exceeding four years
from the commencement of the Companies Act, 2017
i.e. May 31, 2017.

The shareholder having physical shareholding may
open CDC sub-account with any of the brokers or
investor's account directly with the CDC to place their
physical shares into scrip-less form. This will facilitate
them in many ways including safe custody and sale of
shares, anytime they want as the trading of physical
shares is not permitted as per existing Regulations of
the Pakistan Stock Exchange limited.

CNIC Number

Shareholders holding physical shares were requested
to submit copies of their valid CNICs/NTN Certificates
along with the folio numbers to the Company’s Share
Registrar: M/s. CDC Share Registrar Services Limited.,

CDC House-99B, Block ‘B’, S.M.C.H.S., main
Shahrah—e-Faisal, Karachi-74000. No dividend will
be payable unless the CNIC number is printed on the
dividend warrants, so please let us have your CNIC
numbers, failing which we will not be responsible if we
are not able to pay the dividend.

Dividend Mandate

The provisions of Section 242 of the Companies Act,
2017 require the listed companies that any dividend
payable in cash shall only be paid through electronic
mode directly into the bank account of designated by
the entitled shareholders. Accordingly, the shareholders
holding physical shares are requested to provide the
Company'’s Share Registrar at the address given herein
above, electronic dividend mandate on E-Dividend
Form provided in the annual report and available on
website of the Company. In the case of shares held in
CDC, the same information should be provided to the
CDS participants for updating and forwarding to the
Company.

Election of Directors

In terms of Section 158 read with Section 161 of the
Companies Act, 2017 (the Act), the Board of Directors
of Cyan Limited (the Company) shall complete its 3
years term on April 30, 2020. The Company had earlier
planned to hold its election of directors in the 60th
Annual General Meeting (AGM) that was scheduled
to be held on April 29, 2020. However, due to lock
down on account of COVID-19 outbreak, SECP vide
its Circular No. 6 issued on March 22, 2020 granted a
general extension of 30 days for holding AGM till May
29, 2020 in terms of Section 132 of the Act and for
the delay in election of directors, SECP advised filing
of impediment report under Section 158(2) of the Act.
In order to safeguard the interest of the members and
ensure protection of its employees and members in the
light of the risks posed by the COVID-19, the Company
rescheduled its 60th AGM and holding the election of
directors of the company on May 21, 2020.

Pursuant to the Circular, the Company filed the
impediment report hence the current directors have
continued their terms in accordance with Section
158(2) of the Act, the Circular and the impediment
report filed with the Registrar under the Circular.

In terms of Section 159(1) of the Companies Act,
2017, the Directors have fixed the number of elected
directors at seven (7) to be elected in the AGM for the
next term of three year.

Any person who seeks to contest the election of
directors shall, whether he is a retiring director
or otherwise, file with the Company the following
documents and information at its registered office not
later than fourteen days before the day of the above
said meeting:
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a) His/her Folio No./CDC Investors Account No./
CDC Participant No./Sub-Account No.

b) Notice of his/her intention to offer himself/
herself for the election of directors in terms of
Section 159(3) of the Companies Act, 2017.

c) Consent to act as director on Form 28 under
section 167 of the Companies Act, 2017.

d) A detailed profile along with his/her office
address for placement onto the Company’s
website https://www.cyanlimited.com.

e) The selection of independent directors shall
be as per requirements of Section 166 of the
Companies Act, 2017. Any member intending
to contest as independent director shall submit
a declaration that he/she qualifies the criteria of
eligibility and independence notified under the
Companies Act, 2017 and rules and regulations
issued thereunder.

f) An attested copy of Computerized National
Identity Card (CNIC).

g) A declaration that:

e He/she is not ineligible to become a director
of the Company under any applicable laws
and regulations (including Pakistan Stock
Exchange Limited Regulations).

e He/she is not serving as a director of more
than seven listed companies.

e Neither he/she nor his/her spouse is engaged
in the business of brokerage or is a sponsor
director or officer of a corporate brokerage
house.

e He/sheis aware of his/her duties and powers
under the relevant laws, Memorandum
& Articles of Association of Company
and Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited
Regulations.

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS UNDER
ECTION 1 F THE COMPANIES ACT, 2017

This statement sets out the material facts concerning
election of directors, given in agenda items No.5 of
the Notice, to be transacted at the Sixtieth (60™) Annual
General Meeting of the Company.
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Section 166(3) of the Companies Act 2017 (the Act)
requires that a statement of material facts is required
to be annexed to the notice of the general meeting
called for the purpose of election of directors which
shall indicate the justification for choosing independent
director.

The Company is required to have at least two (2)
independent directors on the Board under the
Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance)
Regulations, 2019. The independent directors shall
also be elected through the process of election of
directors in terms of section 159 of the Companies
Act, 2017 and Articles of Association of the Company.

As regards the justification for choosing independent
directors, candidates should be eligible for election as
director of a listed company under Section 153 of the
Act and meet the criteria of independence laid down
under section 166(2) of the Act and the Companies
(Manner and Selection of Independent Directors)
Regulation, 2018 and his/her name is included in the
data bank of independent directors maintained by the
Pakistan Institute of Corporate Governance (PICG) duly
authorized by the Securities & Exchange Commission
of Pakistan.

The Directors of the Company have no interest in
the above said business except being eligible for re-
election as director of the company.

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS UNDER
ECTION 134 F THE MPANIES ACT, 2017

REGARDING THE SPECIAL BUSINESS

This statement sets out the material facts concerning

the Special Business, given in agenda items No.6 of

the Notice, to be transacted at the Sixtieth (60™) Annual

General Meeting of the Company.

The Board of Directors are of the view that the
Company’s financial position and its reserves justify
the capitalization of free reserves amounting to Rs.
29,318,861 for the issue of Bonus Shares in the ratio
of 5 (in number) Bonus Shares for every hundred (100)
Ordinary Shares held i.e. 5%.

The new ordinary shares when issued shall rank pari
passu with the existing ordinary shares in all respects.

The Directors of the Company, directly or indirectly, are
not personally interested in this business except to the
extent of their shareholding in the company.



Directors’ Report

The Board of Directors is pleased to present the
60th Annual Report of the company together with
the audited financial statements for the financial year
ended December 31, 2019.

Economy Review

Pakistan's economic  performance remained
subdued in FY19 as the country posted a real GDP
growth rate of 3.3%, as compared to 5.5% in FY18.
The growth is mainly attributable to agricultural
sector growth of 0.8%, industrial sector growth of
1.4% and services sector growth of 4.7%.

The agriculture sector’s performance for FY19
remained lackluster as it fell behind the growth
of 3.9% in FY18 and targeted growth of 3.8%.
The growth was restricted owing to acute water
shortage faced by the country resulting in reduced
area under cultivation and high input prices. This
has led to lower fertilizer offtake. Industrial sector
grew by 1.4% as compared to 4.9% in FY18
as contractionary policies and PKR devaluation
hampered growth. Wholesale and retail trade almost
halved as compared to last year, which dragged the
overall growth of services sector in FY19 from 6.2%
t0 4.7%.

GDP Growth Rate %
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The macroeconomic slowdown is depicted by
the Large-Scale Manufacturing (LSM) growth that
clocked in at -8.4% YoY in FY19. It was dragged
by Automobiles (-11.8%), Iron and Steel (-11.2%),
Coke and Petroleum (-8.4%), Pharmaceuticals
(-7.7%) and Food, Beverages and Tobacco (-7.3%).
The sector has suffered due to unfavorable interest
rates leading to increased cost of debt and exchange
rate devaluation leading to significantly high raw
material’s prices. However, electricity generation and
electricity & gas distribution contributed positively

towards industrial growth that clocked in at 1.4%.

LSM Growth - Cumulative
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The Inflation clocked in at 6.8% in FY19 compared
to 4.7% in the preceding year, as per the new
methodology. The hike in the average inflation rate
is attributed to surge in food prices, lagged impact
of PKR depreciation and higher utility prices. The
average inflation in 1THFY20 increased to 11.1%
compared to 6.0% in the corresponding period last
year. Nonetheless, the average inflation for THFY20
has remained within the SBP’s target range of 11%
- 12% for FY20.
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[l Frivate Sector Credit Offtake (in Billion) YoY Growth

The private sector credit offtake in FY19 increased
by PKR 606 bilion against the increase of PKR
753 billion in FY18, resulting in the growth of 11%
YoY as compared to 16% YoY in the preceding
year. The major reasons behind this slowdown
were high interest rates environment and adoption
of stabilization policies. The major sectors that
witnessed strong growth were Electricity, gas and
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water supply (23.6%), Commerce and trade (17.4%)
and Manufacturing (15.2%).

The mounting pressure on the external front led by
balance of payment crisis started to subside during
FY19. The Current Account Deficit (CAD) as a %
of GDP clocked in at 4.9% in FY19 against 6.3%
posted in FY18. CAD shrunk to USD 13.8 billion in
FY19 compared to USD 19.9 billion in FY18. This
was mainly on account of 13.5% decline in trade
deficit due to effective import compression policies
and currency devaluation. On the other hand,
remittances witnessed an increase of 9.7% during
the year to clock-in at USD 21.8 billion.

The imposition of regulatory duties and PKR
devaluation further brought down the CAD during
1HFY20, to USD 2.2 billion as compared to USD
8.6 billion during the same period last year.

Current Account Balance (USD Billion)
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On the fiscal front, Pakistan posted its highest ever
fiscal deficit of PKR 3.4 ftrillion in FY19 in lieu of
excessive expenditure by the government on mark-
up payments and defense expenditure coupled
with subdued performance observed in tax and
non-tax collections. Markup payments and defense
expenses witnessed an increase of 39.4% YoY and
11.3% YoY respectively. The incumbent government
curtailed PSDP expenditure and announced tax relief
reversal, which proved to be insufficient as revenue
collection fell short of target. Total revenue declined
by 6.3% YoY in FY19 whereas, total expenditure
increased by 11.4% YoY. As a result, fiscal deficit as
% of GDP stood at 8.9% for FY19 against the target
of 4.9%, and the last year’s fiscal deficit of 6.6%.
However, Pakistan posted primary balance surplus
of PKR 286 billion (0.7% of GDP) during 1THFY20.

During CY19, the SBP raised the policy rate by
325 bps at 13.25%. Looking ahead, inflationary
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pressures are expected to subside given stable
exchange rate and commodity price outlook. Overall
inflation is expected to remain within the SBP’s
forecasted range of 11-12%.

The reserve position of the country remained critical
during the first half of CY19. The bilateral inflows
from friendly economies such as KSA, UAE and
Qatar, were utilized to fund commercial borrowing
repayment, Eurobond maturity and repayment
of multilateral borrowings resulting in continued
pressure on currency amid thin import cover. As a
result, Pakistan entered the 39-month IMF program
under the Extended Fund Facility (USD 6 billion) to
address the structural imbalances in the economy.
The foreign exchange reserves increased by 30% to
stand at USD 17.9 billion at the end of CY19.

Foreign Exchange Reserves (USD Bn)
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Going ahead, the economic growth in upcoming
years seems to improve gradually. With the support
of IMF and other multilateral lenders, the balance
of payment position of the country has started to
improve. Inflation is expected to subside in CY20,
thus providing room to the central bank to adopt
monetary easing stance. The rate cut is expected
to provide a much-needed growth impetus in the
economy, where the central bank projects the GDP
growth rate at around 3.5% during FY20. Although
the revised revenue target of PKR 5.2 ftrillion for
FY20 seems to be quite ambitious and difficult to
achieve, fiscal consolidation along with revenue
expansion has been one of the key areas of focus of
the incumbent government.

Stock Market Review

Regional Markets CY19 USD Return (%)
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KSE-100 provided a total return of 9.9% (-1.5% in
USD terms) in CY19. The bourse turned positive
during CY19 after posting negative returns for two
consecutive years. This was mainly due to subsiding
macroeconomic uncertainty, improvement in foreign
inflows and a pause in Monetary tightening regime.
Index went down to 28,765 in August 2019 and
high up to 41,769 in December 2019 before closing
at 40,735 points.

The index performance remained subdued during
the first half of CY19 due to Balance of Payment
crisis. However, the investor confidence was
regained post entry into the IMF program and

visible improvement in structural imbalances of the
economy, mainly at the external front. The rupee
remained stable at PKR155/USD during the second
half of CY19 and SBP reserves stood at USD 11.3
billion during December 2019 as compared to USD
7.2 billion at the start of the year.

Consequently, overall activity of KSE-All index
improved as average daily traded volumes
increased to 378 million shares in CY19 from 185
million in CY18. However, average daily traded value
decreased to PKR 5.9 billion in CY19 from PKR 7.9
billion per day in the same period last year.

KSE-100 Event Chart
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Multiyear low valuations along with improving
macros, attracted foreign interest in Pakistan’s
market as foreigners remained net buyer during
CY19. It was the first time in the last five calendar
years when foreigners remained net buyers, where
CY19 witnessed a net foreign inflow of USD 55.7
million. In terms of sector-wise inflow, Banks (USD
69 million) witnessed the highest inflow, followed
by Fertilizer (USD 34 million) and Cements (USD 28
million).

We believe that implementation of stabilization

policies during the last one year has yielded positive
results that has been reflected in the contraction of

Worldwide Indices Performance in CY19

CAD and stability in foreign exchange reserves and
exchange rate. CPI inflation is expected to decline
in CY20 that may trigger SBP to opt to monetary
easing. Moreover, the yield curve is inverted and the
declineinfixed income rates may trigger mutual funds
investors to convert their investments from income
funds to equity funds. The attractive stock market
valuations from the historical perspective as well
as regional comparison and strong fundamentals
will provide boost to the stock market. The KSE-
100 index is currently trading at a forward P/E of
7.0, magnifying the potential to deliver double digit
returns in CY20.

CY19 Dollar Based Returns (%)
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Sector Reviews

In 2019, Leather & Tanneries, Textile Weaving,
Investment Banks and Sugar & Allied Industries
outperformed the KSE-100 index. However, the
worst performing sectors were Woolen, Refinery,
Automobile Parts, Tobacco and Engineering.

Sectors that contributed positively to the index
in terms of points contribution were Banks,
Fertilizer, E&Ps, Investment Banks and Automobile
Assemblers; whereas sectors that dragged down
the index were Cement, Tobacco, Refineries,
Pharmaceuticals and Food & Personal Care
Products.

Banking sector remained in the limelight due to high
interest rate environment resulting in expansion in net
interest margins. Dollar denominated returns amid
currency devaluation led to strong performance in
E&PsandPower sectors. Theincreaseininternational
margins amid shutdown of some plants in China
resulted in robust performance by the chemical
sector. Textile sector has outperformed, improving
export competitiveness courtesy favorable currency
movement, subsiding uncertainties over US-
China trade war and government’s focus towards
improving exports.

Cement sector was one of the major laggards during
CY19 due to cost pressures brought in by currency
devaluation and high interest rates. Depressed
demand and over-supply concerns resulted in
limited pricing power and reduced gross margins
of the sector. Automobile Assemblers performance

remained subdued as well due to increased cost
of production from PKR depreciation against
greenback and depressed consumer demand.
Refineries have also remained under stress given
depressed demand of furnace oil and exchange
losses arising from rupee devaluation.

Company Performance

During the year the company maintained its
exposure towards public equities at 92% (average),
whereas 8% was vested towards mutual funds and
Government Securities. The equity exposure was
based on the clarity on economic front after entry
into the IMF programme and favorable balance of
payment outlook after PKR depreciation against the
USD.

The equity portfolio was realigned to have a balance
between high growth and high yield investments
to this effect, sizable investments were made in
Banks, textile composite, Oil and Gas Marketing
Companies, Technology and Communication and
Oil and Gas Exploration Companies. Dividends
earned from equity portfolio amounted to Rs.94
million for the year 2019 that was in line with last
year, where as the company earned realized capital
gain of Rs.138 million and unrealized loss of Rs.2
million as opposed to realized gain of Rs. 229 million
and unrealized loss of Rs.420 million respectively in
the corresponding period last year.

During the year 2019 profit after tax stood at Rs.98
million as compared to loss after tax Rs.218 million
reported last year.

CY19 Sector Performance (%)

LEATHER & TANNERIES

TEXTILE WEAVING

INV. BANKS / INV. COS. / SECURITIES COS.
SUGAR & ALLIED INDUSTRIES
MISCELLANEOUS

ENGINEERING

TOBACCO

AUTOMOBILE PARTS & ACCESSORIES
REFINERY

WOOLEN 278
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The brief summary of the financial highlights for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as under:

Return on investments
Gain on sale of investments - net
Other income

Unrealized diminution

Operating & administrative expenses
Financial charges

Profit /(Loss) before tax

Taxation

Profit /(Loss) after tax

Earnings / (Loss) per share — Rupees

Portfolio Breakup based on Top ten Holding *

as at December 31, 2019 (%)

DLL

BAFL )12
meeL __ Jw
TRG )
HBL )8
FABL )
DAWH )6
SNGP )
UBL )5
D

PSO

*Top Ten Holding represent 91% of Total Equity Portfolio

Rs. in Million

Total Assets

Rs. in Million

| 2019 | 2018 | Change |

100 3%
138 229 (40%)
16 13 3%
253 339 (25%)
) (420) 99%
251 81) 410%
(144) (115) 25%
(11) (15) (27%)
95 (211) 145%
3 (7) 143%
98 (218) 145%
1.67 3.72) 145%
Sectorwise Breakup based on Top ten Holding *
as at December 31, 2019 (%)
1 Commercial Banks 43
B Textie Composite 33
M Oil & Gas Marketing Companies 10
1 Technology & Communication 8

2,546

2,522
2,264

| | | | | | | | | J
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

M Inv. Banks / Inv. Cos. / Securities Cos 6
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Earnings per Share

During the year the company posted earnings per
share of Rs.1.67 compared to loss per share of
Rs.3.72 in 2018.

Appropriation and Dividend

The Company’s profit after tax for the year ended
December 31, 2019 stood at Rs.98 million compared
to loss after tax of Rs.218 million last year.

Objectives and Corporate Strategy

Company’s sound and satisfactory performance
for last five years as compared to KSE-100 Index is
backed by achievement of our corporate objectives.
We are committed to mounting good asset quality
portfolio and continuously build the Company at
sound footing with diversified pool of income stream.
The key elements of our corporate strategy have
been to effectively employ available resources and
maximize profitability while managing and mitigating
related risks.

Liquidity, Cash Flows and financing arrangement
The Company has an effective cash management
system, powered by a team of dedicated and
competent employees, preparing forecasts and
regularly monitoring Company’s cash needs.
Inflows and outflows of cash and other liquid
assets, including investments, are managed on net
adjusted return basis. The Company has running
finance facility of Rs.2,000 million which has been
partially utilized during the year and will be used as
and when any investment opportunity arises.

Capital Structure

In the past years the Company has issued bonus
shares which increased paid-up capital of the
Company to Rs. 586.28 million. Shareholders’ fund
at the year-end totaled Rs.2,116 million. The liquidity
position of the Company remains strong with a year-
end current ratio of 6.

Risk management & Strategy for Mitigating Risks
Company also manages a portfolio of short-
term investments, made after thorough financial
evaluation. The credit risk in short term investments
is minimized through diversification in investments
among Government Securities and highly rated
money market mutual funds. Short term investments
include public equities having good financial health
and highly rated money market mutual funds.

Credit risk

Credit risk represents the risk of a loss if the
counterparties fail to perform as contracted. The
Company’s credit risk mainly arises from deposits
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with banks, loan to employees, Investments in
mutual funds and trade and other receivables. For
banks and financial institutions, management keeps
deposits with reputed institutions. For investment in
mutual funds, management keeps surplus funds in
high rated mutual funds. Credit risk on account of
dividend receivable is minimal due to the statutory
protection. All transactions in listed securities are
settled / paid for upon delivery using the system of
National Clearing Company of Pakistan Limited. The
risk of default in these transactions is considered
minimal due to inherent systematic measures taken
therein. Further, risk of investment in mutual funds is
also minimal as Company is exposed to high rated
money market funds for liquidity management.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of change in market prices,
such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Company’s income or
the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage
and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return. However,
the Company is exposed to interest rate risk and
equity price risk.

The Company is exposed to market risk with respect
to its investments, long term loans, short term
deposits and bank balances. The Company limits
market risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio
and by continuous monitoring of developments in
the equity market. The market risks associated with
the Company’s business activities are interest rate
risk and price risk. The Company is not exposed to
material currency risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values of
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. Since the Company only consider exposure
towards money market mutual funds therefore it is
exposed to interest rate risk, however the same is
mitigated via investing in these funds with less than
90 days duration.

Equity price risk

The Company is exposed to equity price risk
because of investments held by the Company and
classified on the Statement of Financial Position
as at fair value through profit or loss and Other
Comprehensive Income. To manage its price risk
arising from investments in equity securities, the
Company diversifies its portfolio within the eligible
stocks.



Foreign currency risk
The Company is not exposed to risk from foreign
currency exchange rate fluctuations.

Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company recognizes and respects the rights of
each and every stakeholder including shareholders,
employees, creditors, local communities and others.
The Company encourages active participation of
shareholders in all general meetings of the Company
and values their views towards better governance
and operational management. The Company is
also aware of its legal and constructive obligations
towards its stakeholders where it operates and
takes proper actions to timely respond to their
expectations after taking into account a realistic
view of their interests associated with the Company.
A detailed overview is made at all shareholders
meeting for keeping them abreast with the overall
performance of the Company.

Information Technology

We strongly believe that role of IT is very important
for progress of any business. In order to achieve
better market infrastructure and implementations of
sound techniques for controls of risks, the role of IT
is very important. The company implemented certain
key applications, i.e. human resource management,
enterprise general ledger and fixed assets module.
Due to implementation of above modules, the
operational capabilities of relevant department of
the Company improved and these developments
supported the improvement of internal controls and
effective management information system.

Human Resources Development, Training &
Succession Planning

The Company has employed experienced and
qualified human resources to meet the challenges
ahead. Company also plans to strengthen its team,
use employee performance evaluation methods
and benchmark surveys to further strengthen
organization structure and effectiveness.

Staff training is carried out on a continuous basis
throughout the year, based on the employee
training need particularly in the area of knowledge
enhancement and skills. Training and human
resources development always remains very
important for the Company. The Company HR
Manual is designed in such a way that always
gives proper reward, sense of encouragement and
motivation amongst the staff members.

The Company not only attracts the best talent
but also grooms and develops their abilities for

future leadership roles. The Company believes
in empowering employees by providing them
with challenging opportunities to enhance their
potential and develop their abilities. Clear roles
and job descriptions are defined, based on which,
succession plan is prepared for sensitive and critical
positions in the Company.

Internal Control

The internal control framework has been effectively
implemented  through an in-housed Internal
Audit function established by the Board which is
independent of the External Audit function. The
Company’s system of internal control is sound
in design and has been continually evaluated for
effectiveness and adequacy. The Audit Committee
has ensured the achievement of operational,
compliance, risk management, financial reporting
and control objectives, safeguarding of the assets
of the Company and the shareholders’ wealth
at all levels within the Company. The Internal
Audit function has carried out its duties under the
charter defined by the audit Committee. The Audit
Committee has reviewed material Internal Audit
findings, taking appropriate action or bringing the
matters to the Board’s attention where required.
Coordination between the External and Internal
Auditors was facilitated to ensure efficiency and
contribution to the Company’s objectives, including
a reliable financial reporting system and compliance
with laws and regulations.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

Sustainable and responsible development is not
only binding by local laws on corporate entities, but
it is more about moral obligation which needs to be
followed and practiced with the best spirit. Cyan
strongly believes that improving its environmental
and social performance is inevitable for its financial

success. The Company always emphasizes
on culture of excellence, good governance,
transparency, integrity and accountability. We

continued with our CSR program with focus on:

Education
e Health Sector
e  Community Building
e Children Welfare
* Heritage Preservation
e Relief Activities

Energy Conservation

The Company’s energy conversation measures
include usage of LEDs all around the Company
areas and shutting down auxiliaries and equipment’s
wherever possible.

Annual Report 2019 43



Occupational Health, Safety & Environment
Protection

We are committed to achieve excellence in health,
safety and environment across our business. Cyan
maintains a safe working environment and takes
responsibility for the health and wellbeing of its staff
and stakeholders. All new employees are required
to go through a compulsory medical checkup at the
time of appointment.

Community investment & welfare schemes
Support of community development continued to
be a significant element of Cyan’s CSR policy. The
Company is committed to work with community in
a way that delivers positive and lasting change for
people in need.

Corporate Relations

Corporate relations promote efficiency, productivity
and decent work. Indeed, a participative and
mutually respecting relations, advance cooperation,
enhance productivity and promote trust thereby
reducing dislike and exploitation. During the year
recreational and motivational activities in the form
of cricket matches were organized with other
institutions.

Employment of special persons

Being a caring employer, Cyan takes special interest
in creating employment opportunities for special
persons.

Business Ethics and Anti-Corruption Measures

It is a fundamental policy of the Company to
conduct its business with honesty, integrity and
in accordance with the highest ethical and legal
standards. Unethical practices of any sort are not
to find their way into our business. All employees
must act at all times in the interest of Company’s
shareholders and no employee shall ever commit an
illegal or an unethical act, or instruct and encourage
another employee to do so.

The Company has communicated the Code of
Conduct to all its directors and employees and has
also placed it on its website.

Contribution to National Exchequer

Cyan made a sizeable contribution of Rs.52.17
million to the National Exchequer by way of taxes,
during the year 2019.

Credit Rating

On December 31, 2019 JCR-VIS Credit Rating
Company Limited has reaffirmed the entity ratings
of ‘A/A-1" (A /A-One) to Cyan Limited (CL). Outlook
on ratings is ‘Stable’.
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Related Party Transactions

During the year all transactions made with associated
companies/related parties were duly recommended
by Board’s Audit Committee and approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company. All transactions
with related parties are on arm’s length basis.

Board of Directors
The total numbers of Directors are seven (07) as per
the following:

a. Male: 06
b. Female: 01

The composition of board is as follows:

\ET
Kamran Nishat

Category |
Independent Director

Non-executive Directors Inam ur Rahman
Hasan Reza-Ur Rahim
Shafig Ahmed
Sulaiman S. Mehdi

Faisal Nadeem

Executive Directors

Female Non-executive Director | Kulsum Dawood

Conflict of Interest among BOD Members

Any conflict of interest is managed as per provisions
of the Cyan’s Code of Conduct for Directors, Acts,
and rules and regulations of SECP and Pakistan
Stock Exchange.

CEO Performance Review

Each year, the Board reviews performance of the
CEO against pre-determined operational and
strategic goals. The Board adopts the monitoring
role, giving full authority to the CEO to manage
the Company, implement strategic decisions and
policies of the Board and align the Company’s
direction.

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The Company in its 51st AGM held on April 30,
2011 approved the Director's Remuneration (other
than Group Executives) for attending the Board and
the Board Committees’ meetings in compliance with
the requirements of Article 78(a) of the Company’s
Article of Association.

Directors’ Training Program

All seven directors have a minimum of fourteen
years of education. All the directors have obtained
certification under the directors’ training program
stipulated in the Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019.

Safeguarding of Company Records
Due to increasing dependence on IT for recording



and reporting of financial transactions, due
attention has been given to [T enabled tools for
security of financial records. We archived financial
and supporting record using Cloud services
enabling timely and convenient retrieval of relevant
documents. For ensuring safety of documentation,
the Company has hired services of Data Recall, an
organization responsible for maintaining documents
in a sealed box at the state of the art designed
facility. At the location, each box and cabinet are bar
coded providing efficient and effective traceability.

Board Meetings

During the year under review, five (5) meetings
of the Board of Directors were held, which were
presided over by the Chairman. The Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary also attended the
meetings required by the Listed Companies (Code

of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019.
Attendance by each director was as follows:
No. of No. of
meetings | meetings
held attended
Hassan Reza-ur Rahim (Chairman/Director) 5 5
Kulsum Dawood (Director) 5 5
Kamran Nishat (Director) ® B
Inam Ur Rahman (Director) S 8
Shafig Ahmed (Director) 5 5
Sulaiman S. Mehdi (CEO/Director) 5 5
Faisal Nadeem (Director) ® B
Board Audit Committee Meetings
No. of No. of
meetings | meetings
held attended
Kamran Nishat (Chairman) 5 5
Inam Ur Rahman (Member) ® B
Shafig Ahmed (Member) S 5
Board Investment Committee Meetings
No. of No. of
meetings | meetings
held attended
Hasan Reza-Ur Rahim (Chairman) 8 3
Inam Ur Rahman (Member) 8 8
Shafig Ahmed (Member) 8 2

Board HR & Remuneration Committee Meetings

No. of No. of
meetings | meetings
held attended
Kamran Nishat (Chairman) 1 1
Hasan Reza-Ur Rahim (Member) 1 1
Inam Ur Rahman (Member) 1 1

Code of Conduct

The board of directors adopted the Code of Conduct
for Directors and for employees and the same has
been circulated to board members and employees
in terms of requirement of the Listed Companies
(Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations,
2019. The code of conduct is also placed at the
company’s website.

Corporate and Financial Reporting Framework

a) The financial statements prepared by the
management of the Company, present fairly its
State of Affairs, the Results of its Operations,
Cash Flows and Statement of Changes in
Equity.

b) The Company has maintained proper books
of accounts as required under the Companies
Act, 2017.

c) The Company has followed consistent
and appropriate accounting policies in the
preparation of the financial statements. All
changes, wherever made during the year have
been adequately disclosed and accounting
estimates are on the basis of prudent and
reasonable judgment.

d) The International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), as applicable in Pakistan,
have been followed in the preparation of
financial statements and any departure there
from has been adequately disclosed.

e) The system of internal control is sound in
design and has been effectively implemented
and monitored.

f)  The fundamentals of the Company are strong
and it has the ability to continue as a going
concern free from uncertainties.

g) The Company has followed the best practices
of the Corporate Governance as laid down
in the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate
Governance) Regulations, 2019 and there has
been no material departure there from.

h)  There are no statutory payments on account
of taxes, duties, levies and charges which
are outstanding except in the ordinary course
of business and described in the financial
statements.

i) The value of investments of the Provident Fund
as maintained by the Company on the basis
of audited accounts as on June 30, 2019 is
Rs.38.19 million.

) There was no trading of shares by Directors,
Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer,
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Company Secretary, their spouses and minor
children during the year.

K) All of the company directors are Certified
Directors under Directors’ Training Program
from  approved institutes as prescribed by
SECP.

Ownership
As at December 31, 2019, there were 1,668
shareholders on the record of the Company.

Pattern of Shareholding

The pattern of Shareholding of the Company as
at December 31, 2019, along with the necessary
information is available at the end of this report.

Auditors

The present auditors M/s. A.F. Fergusons &
Co. (Chartered Accountants) being eligible, has
provided their consent for appointment at the 60th
annual general meeting. The Audit Committee
has recommended the appointment of M/s. A.F.
Ferguson & Co. as Statutory Auditors of the
company for the year ending December 31, 2020.
The Board has endorsed this recommendation.

Key operating and financial data

A Statement summarizing the key financial and
operating data for the last nine years along with the
current year is included in the report.

Forward Looking Information

Pakistan’s economy is on track with CPEC turning
from a dream to reality, Pakistan has attained
serious attention from the world at large. There
is optimism within the business community and
overall improved economic activity. The Company is
actively undertaking portfolio management business
and corporate finance advisory business and the
outlook is positive. The management team under
its CEO is fully committed to deliver a superior risk
adjusted return to the shareholders.
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We would like to thank all our stakeholders,
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CEQO’s Message

After providing negative returns for two consecutive
years, the KSE-100 index turned positive during
CY19. The index increased by 9.9% during CY19 to
close at 40,735 points though it went down to 28,765
points during August 2019. However, in USD terms,
the index decreased by 1.5% in CY19 against the
negative return of 27% in CY18.

Subsiding political headwinds and entry into the
IMF  program provided a much-needed breather
to the economy. The incumbent government
gradually implemented stabilization measures in
line with the IMF’s recommendations to address the
macroeconomic imbalances.

After successive selling in the last four years, foreign
investors remained net buyers during CY19 supported
by attractive valuations. Foreigners bought shares
worth USD 55.7 million (net) during this year. The
clarity on economic front, exchange rate stability and
entry into the IMF program increased confidence of
foreign investors. Among sectors, the Banking sector
witnessed the largest buying (USD 69 million) followed
by Fertilizer (USD 34 million) and Cement (USD 28
million).

Amongst the best performing sectors of the index,
Banking remained quite prominent due to rising
net interest margins followed by E&Ps, Power and
Textile. Cement sector remained under pressure due
to slowdown in construction activities. Automobile
assemblers remained under stress amid a weak
consumer demand and high cost of debt. The
performance of refineries remained subdued due to a
depressed demand of furnace oil and exchange losses
emanating from PKR depreciation against greenback.

Cyan’s portfolio increased by 20.83% during the year
against 9.9% return posted by the KSE-100 Index. The
outperformance was primarily due to above market
performance of Dawood Lawrencepur Limited, which
is the portfolio’s largest holding (29.14%). Average
exposure to equities during the year remained at
92%, whereas 8% was invested in mutual funds
and government securities. The equity portfolio was
aligned towards high growth investments and to
this effect investments were made in Banks, OMCs,
E&Ps, Cement, Textile composite, Technology, Food &
Personal Care products and Pharmaceuticals.

Achieving Milestones

Eight years ago, the market capitalization of the
Company was PKR1.95 billion, which has declined
to PKR 1.85 billion in 2019. During this period, the
Company managed to pay a total dividend of PKR 5.5
billion providing the shareholders with a total return

of 277%. The benchmark KSE-100 Index provided
a return of 259% during the same period reflecting
Cyan’s outperformance of 18 percentage points. This
translates into an 8-year Compounded Annual Growth
Rate (CAGR) of 18%.

Engaging New Opportunities

We are also aggressively looking to explore corporate
advisory services for adding new stream of revenue.

Economic Outlook

With the support of the IMF, the incumbent government
has taken painful but essential steps which has led the
economy to the path of recovery. This is reflected in
the Current Account Deficit position that narrowed to
USD 2.15 billion in 1THFY20 vis-a-vis USD 8.6 billion
in the corresponding period last year and USD 13.8
billion in FY19. Accordingly, SBP’s foreign exchange
reserves improved from USD 7.3 billion at CY18 to
USD 11 billion at CY19 on account of the IMF’s help
and foreign flows from multilateral agencies. Moreover,
the government has attracted considerable foreign
investments in local debt instruments.

PKR devaluation against the greenback followed by
higher food prices due to supply constraints fueled
double digit inflation during CY19. It is expected to
subside during CY20 that may result in monetary
easing that would ultimately provide growth impetus
to the economy.

The important economic measures taken by the
government would restore the confidence of foreign
investors who remained net-sellers from CY16 to
CY18. Besides, strong corporate earnings growth
coupled with attractive valuations from regional
perspective will entice investors who have ample
domestic liquidity.

Acknowledgments

| would like to thank all our Shareholders and the
Board of Directors for their immense support. The
Company’s accomplishments and present standing
could not have been possible without the commitment
and efforts of our employees who deserve full
compliment. | am confident that the team will continue
to grow and constantly deliver on expectations of all
stakeholders.

Sulaiman S. Mehdi
Cheif Executive Officer

Karachi: February 24, 2020
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Chairman's Review

We are pleased to present the Annual Report of
Cyan Limited for the year ended December 31,
2019.

Pakistan’s economy went through a period of
adjustments during CY19 where reforms to address
fiscal woes and macroeconomic imbalances
remained the key theme. Fiscal consolidation
measures coupled with monetary tightening led to
suppressed demand, which resulted in a subdued
GDP growth of 3.3% during FY19 compared to 5.5%
during FY18. With the help of the IMF Program and
an improved balance of payment position, SBP’s
foreign exchange reserves improved to USD 11.3
billion at CY19 from USD 7.2 billion at CY18.

The KSE-100 Index provided a return of 9.9% in
CY19. It is attributed to a successful entry into the
IMF Program, marked improvement in the current
account balance, expectations of the policy rate
cut from the year 2020 and unprecedented foreign
inflows in local debt securities. Foreigners were net-
buyers in CY19 to the tune of approximately USD
55.7 million though they were the net-sellers during
the period CY15 to CY18. Due to PKR depreciation,
market capitalization of the KSE-All share index
eroded by 8.4% declining from USD 55 billion to
USD 50.4 billion.

Moving ahead, significant PKR depreciation vis-a-
vis USD helped to curtail imports thereby reducing
uncertainty regarding balance of payments. Higher
prices of food items and utilities have kept inflation
on an uptick. Yet, it is expected to fall in the SBP’s
range of 11% to 12% for FY20. The improved fiscal
space through growing tax base and disciplined
spending will allow the government to implement
pro-growth policies and bring economic stability.
Although the GDP growth is expected to remain
tepid in FY20, smooth progress in the IMF program
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would put Pakistan on the long-term sustainable
growth path.

During the year, the Board of Directors of Cyan
Limited performed its duties diligently and in
conformity with the Companies Act 2017, the
Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance)
Regulations, 2019 and the Rule Book of Pakistan
Stock Exchange. It upheld the best interests for the
shareholders and provided adequate advice and
oversight to management. The key areas that were
focused upon and assessed included, but were
not limited to, the strategic process, key business
drivers & performing milestones, impact of global
& domestic economic environments, operational
& reputational risks affecting business, board
dynamics, managerial capability and information
flows. All significant issues throughout the year were
presented before the Board or its committees to
strengthen and formalize the corporate decision-
making process, which led to a harmonious
partnership with the management.

| would like to conclude by extending my gratitude
and thanks to the Directors, for their earnest
contributions towards the advancement of Cyan
Limited. | am also thankful to the Shareholders for
placing your trust in the Board and management’s
ability to deliver results. Furthermore, the Board also
thanks and appreciates the management teams’ for
selfless contributions and wish them successes in
the Company’s all future endeavors.

Hasan Reza Ur Rahim
Chairman

Karachi: February 24, 2020



Corporate Social Responsibility

At Cyan, we consider it our social responsibility to build a more enlightened and empowered society in
Pakistan that can contribute towards the progress and growth of the country as a whole. Whilst we continue
to make efforts to grow our business, we also recognize that our success in the long-term is defined by our
ability to add value to all our stakeholders, which includes those involved in our business operations, as well
as those who are part of the larger community in which we co-exist.

Since inception, Cyan’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) efforts in Pakistan have been multi-pronged
and have included a drive to protect our natural environment and to ensure that our businesses operate in
an ethical, sound and responsible manner.

Over the past years we have continued supporting our beliefs by contributing with the renowned institutions
who strive to generate maximum social value to build a better, more sustainable realm for all. They include;

e The Dawood Foundation

e The Citizen Foundation (TCF)

e Marie Adelaide Leprosy Centre (MALC)
e Fatimid Foundation

e |ndus Hospital

e SIUT

e Patients Aid Foundation

e Make A Wish Foundation

e FEducation Trust Nasra School

e HANDS

e Layton Rahmatulla Benevolent Trust (LRBT)
e Patients Behbood Society

Cyan considers the following factors while shortlisting the project:

e Associating to a cause which is in-line with the identified sectors
e Credibility and repute of the charity organization seeking assistance

The focus of our endeavors includes following areas;

e FEducation
e Health Sector
e  Community Building

° Children Welfare

° Sports Development

o Relief Activities

o Women Empowerment
° Heritage Preservation
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EDUCATION

During the past few years, Pakistan’s adult literacy rate has declined from 60% to
58%, clearly indicating decreasing penetration in the country. Education is a state
responsibility as per the constitution; however, quality education remains accessible
to only a few with the Net Primary Enrolment Ratio static at 57% since past five years.
65% of all primary school children do not end up studying further than 5th grade.
30% of the adult population has not received even a single year of schooling. And to accommodate new
population, Pakistan needs ~3.3 schools per hour for the next 5 years.

At Cyan, we certainly believe that the way to uplift Pakistan is by investing in the education of our future
generations.

HEALTH SECTOR

The accessibility and quality of healthcare is a common metric to assess the
developmental stage of a country. According to estimates provided by the Pakistan
Bureau of Statistics, there are 1,283 hospitals, 5,438 labs & diagnostic centers,
196,000 clinics and over 7,300 pharmacies. However, the quality of healthcare
infrastructure ranks low amongst peer countries. There are 2,000 people per hospital
bed in Pakistan. On average, only 3,500 beds are added while ~4 million people are added to population
each year. There are twice the numbers of doctors in the country than nurses.

Cyan is cognizant of the fact that healthcare system should exist as a fundamental element that assures life
and high standards of living, and it should be available to everyone.

COMMUNITY BUILDING

Cyan also encourages and participates in efforts to build and sustain the culture and
community of Pakistani society. Our endeavors are aimed at sustaining values of
society by preserving the richly diversified culture and heritage of Pakistan.
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Calendar of Major Events

February 2019 Cyan’s Board of Directors meeting was held to approve the financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2018.

March 2019 59" Annual General Meeting of the shareholders of the Company was held on
March 29, 2019.

April 2019 Cyan’s Board of Directors meeting was held to approve the first quarter accounts
for the period ended March 31, 2019.

August 2019 Cyan’s Board of Directors meeting was held to approve the interim Financial
Statements for the half year ended June 30, 2019.

Cyan’s Board of Directors meeting was held to approve the Financial Statements
for the nine months and quarter ended September 30, 2019

LTIl @2 [C Bl Cyan’s Board of Directors meeting was held to approve the Annual Corporate
Strategy including Budget 2020.
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Risk and Opportunity Report

The Company’s business activities are subject to significant risk factors that could affect Company’s
operations, earnings, cash flows and other financial performance. Cyan management strives to manage
risks in an organized manner in order to conduct business in a well-controlled environment.

STRENGTHS

¢ Successful track record of managing
public equities portfolio

We aim to generate consistent alpha by constructing a portfolio

based on proprietary fundamental and quantitative research. The
portfolio combines our style exposures with unrecognized value identified
through both top-down and bottom-up approaches by maintaining strict
risk control measures.

e Group foot print in multiple sectors

The Dawood Hercules (DH) Group is one of the largest Pakistani conglomerates having presence
in various sectors of the economy comprising Fertilizers, Real Estate, Food, Power Generation,
Technology, Financial Services and Petrochemicals. This diversity allows the Group to develop human

and intellectual capital across multiple industries and helps Cyan in various business engagements.

e Team with diversified skill sets

Our greatest asset is the team we have assembled at Cyan. We believe that diversity of ideas and

experiences contribute to the development of the company. Our team has a thorough understanding of
myriad industries and high-growth companies operating in private space. Our team is fully resourced and
capable of meeting the demands required by the changing financial landscape.

e Successful history of PIPE deals

Private Investments in Public Equity (PIPE) deals have become an important source of financing for
many public companies. These are appealing for public companies because they usually face fewer
hurdles than stock offerings. Cyan in tandem with the Group has executed a couple of PIPE deals

which has resulted in considerable value for the shareholders.

¢ Good understanding of high potential sectors

Footprint of DH group in food, energy and infrastructure sectors enables us to have
profound knowledge of potential sectors such as Retail, Food, Health, Education,
Logistics and Pharma. Besides, our team has extensive experience
and brings a combination of deep industry knowledge and expert
perspectives from other industries to offer our shareholders

sustainable return.
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WEAKNESSES

¢ Quality Human Resource

Cyan seeks candidates who are not only qualified and possess
technical abilities, but also competent to meet given deadlines. Keeping
pace with rapid changes in technology is a cause of concern amongst talent
management. Despite better hiring practices and training programmes, finding

and retaining high-caliber talent is difficult and hinders Cyan from realizing its full potential.

e Small Capital

Cyan operates with a small capital which impedes its capacity to undertake stake in
large entities in private space. Additionally, as a small investor, it’s difficult
to build diversified portfolio and spread capital across
various industries.

THREATS
¢ Key Team members being poached

Like every business, employee turnover is one of the most profound risks our

business faces and can cut across every major area of exposure. It is possible
that our top talent may be at a risk of being enticed away by a competitor. A
succession plan which includes training existing staff and planning other
risk-management activities help us to cope with this threat.
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Corporate Governance
Shareholder’s Information

Registered Office

Cyan Limited

4" Floor, Dawood Centre,

M. T. Khan Road,

Karachi.

Tel # (92-21) 35634290-3

Fax # (92-21) 35680218

Web site: www.cyanlimited.com
Email: info@cyanlimited.com

Share Registrar Office

CDC Share Registrar Services Limited Limited
CDC House, 99 — B, Block ‘B’,

S.M.C.H.S., Main Shahra-e-Faisal
Karachi-74400

Tel # (92-21) 111-111-500

Fax: (92-21) 34326053

Website: www.cdcrsl.com

Email: info@cdcrsl.com

Listing on Stock Exchange
Cyan Limited equity shares are listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX).

Listing Fees
The annual listing fee for the financial year 2019-2020 has been paid to the stock exchange within the
prescribed time limit.

Stock Code
The stock code for dealing in equity shares of Cyan Limited at PSX is CYAN.

Investor Service Centre

Cyan Limited share department is operated by CDC Share Registrar Services Limited. It also functions as
an Investor Service Centre and is managed by a well-experienced team of professionals and is equipped
with the necessary infrastructure in terms of computer facilities and comprehensive set of systems and
procedures for conducting the Registration function. The team is headed by Mr. Abdul Samad at Registrar
Office and Company Secretary at Cyan’s Registered Office.

The share department undertakes activities pertaining to dematerialization of shares, shares transfer and
transmission, issue of duplicate/ re-validated dividend warrants, issue of duplicate / replaced share certifi-
cates, change of address and other related matters.

For assistance, shareholders may contact either the Registered Office or the Share Registrar Office.

Contact Person:
Registrar Office

Mr. Mohsin Rajab Ali
Senior Manager

Tel # (92-21) 111-111-500

Contact Person:

Cyan Limited

Mr. Ahsan Igbal
Company Secretary

Tel# (92-21) 35634290-3

Services Standards

Cyan has always endeavored to provide investors with prompt services. Well reputed and experienced
firm of the share registrar services has been entrusted with the responsibility of ensuring that services are
rendered within the specified time limits.
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Statutory Compliance

During the year the Company has complied with all applicable provisions, filed all returns / forms and fur-
nished all the relevant information as required under the Companies Act, 2017 and allied laws and rules,
the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) Regulations and the Listing Regulations,
wherever applicable.

Withholding of Tax on Dividend:
The rates of deduction of withholding tax for filers and non filers as prescribed under:

(@) For filers of income tax returns: 15%
(b) For non-filer of income tax returns: 30%

General Meetings & Voting Rights

Pursuant to section 132 of The Companies Act, 2017, Cyan holds a General Meeting of Shareholders at-
least once a year. Every shareholder has a right to attend the General Meeting. The notice of such meeting
is sent to all the shareholders at least 21 days before the meeting and also advertised in at least one English
and one Urdu newspaper having circulation in Sindh, Punjab and FATA.

All shares issued by the Company carry equal voting rights. Generally, matters at the General Meetings are
decided by a show of hands in the first instance. Voting by show of hands operates on the principle of “One
Member-One Vote”. If majority of shareholders raise their hands in favor of a particular resolution, it is taken
as passed, unless a poll is demanded.

Proxies

Pursuant to Section 137 of the Companies Act, 2017 and according to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, every member of the Company who is entitled to attend and vote at a General
Meeting of the Company, can appoint another member as his / her proxy to attend and vote instead of
himself / herself.

The instrument appointing proxy, duly signed by the shareholder appointing that proxy should be deposited
at the office of the Company not less than forty-eight hours before the meeting.

Web Presence

The website of the Company has been maintained in accordance with directives of SECP vide various
SROs. Updated information regarding the Company can be accessed at Cyan web site, www.cyanlimited.
com. The web site contains the latest financial results of the Company.
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Critical Performance Indicator

Ten Years at a Glance

Particulars

Investments Income / (Loss)
Profit / (Loss) Before Taxation
Profit / (Loss) After Taxation

Pay Out Information %

Cash Dividend
Stock Dividend

Balance Sheet

Paid Up Capital

Equity

Investments

Cash & Bank Balances
Fixed Assets

Total Assets

Operating Performance
Earning / (Loss) per share (Rupees)

Break up value per share (Rupees)
Return on investments %
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2010

179,500
114,268
108,312

25
50

279,179
3,884,527
3,027,349
10,296
1,944
4,064,279

2.77
139.14
3.01

2011

2012

Rupees in ‘000

479,664
(172,089)
(197,508)

25
40

390,851
3,154,067
2,947,025

19,230
1,590
3,202,647

(3.37)
80.7
(6.61)

1,780,134
1,503,026
1,428,207

40
50

586,277
4,463,798
4,633,865

13,494
26,194
4,638,820

24.36
76
37.49

2013

1,451,519
1,212,275
1,176,049

100

586,277
5,311,292
5,383,322

17,835
22,814
5,607,511

20.06
91.00
24.10



2014

1,209,576
1,027,245
898,787

675

586,277
4,690,513
4,780,356

21,844
18,7562
4,886,548

15.33
78.30
22.47

2015

706,755
495,907
335,035

40

586,277
2,615,137
2,825,317

159,891

15,623
3,032,369

5.71
42.90
14.78

2016

2017

Rupees in ‘000

824,472
734,281
711,233

50

586,277
3,172,603
3,612,508

906
14,017
3,659,044

12.13
54.11
29.18

(442,333)
(5635,857)
(637,901)

586,277
2,270,093
2,440,890

5,269
14,088
2,646,226

9.17)
38.72
(18.12)

2018

(94,061)
(211,002)
(218,086)

25

586,277
1,834,130
2,108,946

9,670
13,471
2,264,085

(3.72)
31.28
(3.89)

2019

235,134
94,873
97,942

586,277
2,116,330
2,367,523

1,869
39,345
2,521,702

1.67
36.10
11.15
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Profit/ (Loss) before & after Tax

2626 (]
£8'v6 (|

(980'81+2)
(2o0°t12)

(106°2€9)
(298'ge9)

I AINA
18278 (

S€0'6eS
£06'G6Y

18/'868
Sve'Le0't
6V0'9LH |
s/eeie’t

—

202'82Y'} (

920°805"k (

(805°261
(680°22 L

21e'80k (]
892711 (]

000, Ut 's4

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

2010

B Profit / (Loss) After Taxation

B Profit / (Loss) Before Taxation

Paid up Capital & Total Equity

0ee'9kL'e
212985 (
0E}'ves’h
1/2'98S
£60'022'2
1/2'98S

€09'221'e (

112'98S

smiglge ]
102'98

€16'065'Y (

112'98S

262°11e'G (

112'985

6L'€9v'¥ (

1/2'98G

290'751°e (

168068 (|

225'788'¢ (.

621'6.2 (|

000, Ul sy

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
B Ecuity [ Paid up Capital

2010

59

Annual Report 2019



Investments
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Ratios

Ratios Unit 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Profitability

Profit before tax ratio % 84 70 85 126 258 38
Gross yield on earning assets % 25 24 24 (17) (4) 11
Cost / income ratio % 16 30 15 (26) (158) 62
Return on equity % 20 13 22 (24) (12) 5
Return on capital employed % 18 9 25 (20) (11) 5

Liquidity Ratios
Current ratio Times 18 6 8 9 5 6

Investment / Market Ratios

Earnings / (lo0ss) per share - Basic Rs. 1638 5.71 12.13 9.17) (8.72) 1.67
Price earnings ratio Times 5.60 15.60 6.35 (3.66) (10.50) 18.86
Price to book ratio Times 1.10 1.72 1.24 0.77 1.01 0.73
Dividend yield ratio % 79 4 6.49 - 6.40 -
Dividend payout ratio Times 4.40 0.70 0.41 - - -
Dividend cover ratio % 440 70 41 = = -

Market Value per share

e At the end of the year Rs. 85.92 89.10 77.08 33.56 39.06 31.50
e High during the year Rs. 138.50 150.50 94.90 91.70 50.57 40.63
e [ ow during the year Rs. 71.79 65.17 62.50 31.50 28.75 16.40

Capital Structure Ratios
Earning assets to total assets ratio  Times 0.99 0.99 0.99 0.96 0.94 0.94
Net assets per share Times 78.30 42.90 54.11 38.72 31.28 36.10
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Comments on Ratios

Comments on six years Earning Asset Ratios

More than 95% of the average assets of the company were used to generate earnings for the company
during the preceding 6 years indicating the efficient use of resources.

Comments on six years Profitability Ratios

The earnings of the company have been quite volatile in the last 6 years primarily because of the active
portfolio management. The company reported negative performance in 2017 and 2018 as the KSE-
100 index’s performance remained dismal. However, the ratios improved in 2019 because of market
performance.

Comments on six years Balance Sheet Analysis

The total assets and equity of the company have decreased over the years because of decline in investments
due to bumper dividend and negative performance of the market. However, in 2019 total assets and equity
increased by 11% and 15%, respectively.

Comments on six years Liquidity ratios

The company has maintained a current ratio of greater than 1.0x in last six years demonstrating sufficient
capacity to meet its short-term obligations. Further, all investments are categorized as short-term investment
with an objective to use these funds as and when required.

Comments on six years Profit and Loss Analysis

Performance of the equity market can be considered as the major driver of the earnings of the company.
Consequently, variation in the earnings per share can be witnessed from 15.33 in CY14 to 1.67 in CY19.
Apart from that, dividends and capital appreciation (realized and unrealized capital gains) in value of the
overall portfolio including the strategic investments are the main contributors for revenues and hence
profitability.
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Share Price Sensitivity Analysis

Cyan Share Price on the PSX

Jan-19 40.63 38.00 186,000
Feb-19 39.98 28.70 139,500
Mar-19 30.25 27.00 463,000
Apr-19 26.09 21.83 206,500
May-19 25.00 20.00 81,500
June-19 24.24 20.00 81,500
Jul-19 20.60 16.80 137,000
Aug-19 18.28 16.40 676,500
Sep-19 19.62 17.30 112,500
Oct-19 23.01 19.60 208,500
Nov-19 39.00 20.75 412,000
Dec-19 39.38 31.02 278,000
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Statement of Value Addition

Value added

Return on investments
Capital gain

Unrealized loss - Net

Other income

Gross Revenue

Less: Administrative expenses

Value Allocated

To Employees
Salaries, allowances and other benefits

To Shareholders
Cash Dividend
Bonus

To Government
Company Taxation

To Society
Workers’ Welfare Fund

To expansion
Depreciation and amortization

To growth
As Reserve and Retained earning

90611
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2019
Rs. 000

99,841

137,591
(2,298)
15,695

250,829

51,218
199,611

115,541

58,628
29,314

(3,069)

(24,246)

13,443

10,000

100

58

29
15

-12

100

2018
Rs. 000

96,899
228,757
(419,717)
12,422

(81,639)

68,571

(150,210)

58,103

146,569

7,084

2,689

(364,656)

(150,210)

%

100°

-39

-98

244
100



Key Operating Highlights

BALANCE SHEET COMPOSITION

Total Assets 2019

M Long term assets 5%
M Investments in Equities 92%
B Investments in Cash, Debt and
Mutual Funds 2%
& Other Current assets 1%

Shareholders' Equity and Liabilities -2019

Total Assets 2018

B Long term assets 4%
B Investments in Equities 91%
B Investments in Cash, Debt and
Mutual Funds 3%
[ Other Current assets 2%

Shareholders' Equity and Liabilities -2018

M Share Capital and 84%
Reserve

M Non-Current Liabilites 1%

[l Current Liabilities 15%

M Share Capital and 81%
Reserve

M Non-Current Liabiltes 1%

[l Current Liabilities 18%
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Key Figures & Highlights

Net Assets Per Share
(Rupees)

Total Equity
(Rs. in million)

2019 2018 2017

2,116.33 1,834.13 2,270.09

Total Assets
(Rs. in million)

2019 2018 2017

2,521.70 2,264.08 2,546.23
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Profit / (loss) after tax
(Rs. in million)

Total Revenue
(Rs. in million)

EBITDA
(Rs. in million)

2019

119.779
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Key Figures & Highlights

Number of Shareholders
(Numbers)

Market Price Per Share
(Rupees)

Earnings / (Loss) Per Share
(Rupees)
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Market Capitalization
(Rs. in million)

2019 2018

2017
1,846.77 2,289.99

1,967.55

Dividend
(Percentage %)

2019

Cash 10
Stock 5

Return on Equity
(Percentage %)
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Horizontal Analysis

Balance Sheet

Particulars

Cash and bank deposits

Loan to employee

Investments

Deferred tax

Amounts due from other insurers / reinsurers
Accrued investment income

Reinsurance recoveries against outstanding claims
Advances, prepayments deposit & sundry receivables
Fixed assets

Total Assets

Issued, subscribed and paid up share capital
Unappropriated profit

Reserves

Remeasurement of post employees benefits
Surplus on revaluation - OCI investments
Provision for outstanding claims [including IBNR]
Deferred liabilities

Deferred tax

Other non current laibility

Amounts due to other insurers / reinsurers
Accrued expenses and Other creditor and accrual
Accrued mark-up

Short term running finance

Taxation - net

Unclaimed dividend

Total Shareholders' Equity and Liabilities
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2014

21,844
16,020
4,780,356

2,464

5,406
41,706
18,752

4,886,548

586,277
3,635,458
133,088
(3,697)
339,387
8,805
9,377
16,171
587
97,217

143,659
20,219

4,886,548

2015

Rupees in ‘000

159,891
14,060
2,825,317

2,464

5,406
9,608
15,623

3,032,369

586,277
1,378,815
133,088
(3,480)
420,437
8,805
8,369
45,166
587
245,295

179,522
29,488

3,032,369

2016

906
12,315
3,612,508

2,464

5,406
11,428
14,017

3,659,044

586,277
1,708,968
133,088
(2,611)
746,881
8,805
10,628
13,803
587
48,112
1,796
183,265
187,197
32,348

3,659,044



2017 2018 2019 15 Over 14 16 Over 16 17 Over 16 18 Over 17 19 Over 18

Rupees in ‘000 Percentage Change

5,269 9,570 1,869 631.97% -99.43% 481.57% 81.63% -80.47%
10,463 8,484 6,376 -12.25% -12.41% -15.04% -18.91% -24.85%
2,440,890 2,108,946 2,367,523 -40.90% 27.86% -32.43% -138.60% 12.26%
52,235 74,051 83,815 - - 100.00% 41.77% 13.19%
2,464 - - - - - -
3,875 - - - - 100.00% 100.00% -
5,406 5,406 5,406 - - - 100.00% -
10,536 44,157 17,368 -76.96% 18.94% -7.81% 319.11% -60.67%
15,088 13,471 39,345 -16.69% -10.28% 7.64% -10.72% 192.07%

2,546,226 2,264,085 2,521,702 -37.94% 20.67% -30.41% -11.08% 11.38%

586,277 586,277 586,277 - - = - -

1,024,498 659,843 757,785 -61.00% 23.94% -40.05% -35% 14.84%
133,088 133,088 133,088 = = = = -
(2,142) (1,855) (384) 5.87% -24.97% -17.96% -13.40% -79.30%

528,372 456,777 639,564 23.88% 77.64% -29.26% -13.55% 40.02%
8,805 8,805 8,805 - - - = -

12,237 15,281 17,358 -10.75% 25.80% 16.23% 24.88% 13.59%
= = = 179.30% -69.44% 100.00% = -

= = 9,143 = = = = 100.00%

587 587 587 = = = = -
5,624 29,157 66,805 152.32% -74.60% -88.31% 418.44% 129.12%
400 6,346 5,464 = = -99.78% 1,486.50% -13.90%

= 211,800 189,982 = = = 100.00% -10.30%
217,809 125,380 80,501 24.96% 4.28% 16.35% -42.44% -35.79%
30,671 32,599 26,727 45.84% 9.70% -5.18% 6.29% -18.01%

2,546,226 2,264,085 2,521,702 -37.94% 20.67% -30.41% -11.08% 11.38%
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Vertical Analysis

Balance Sheet

Particulars

Cash and bank deposits

Loan to employee

Investments

Deferred tax

Amounts due from other insurers / reinsurers
Accrued investment income

Reinsurance recoveries against outstanding claims
Advances, prepayments deposit & sundry receivables
Fixed assets

Total Assets

Issued, subscribed and paid up share capital
Unappropriated profit

Reserves

Remeasurement of post employees benefits
Surplus on revaluation - OCI investments
Provision for outstanding claims [including IBNR]
Deferred liabilities

Deferred tax

Other non current laibility

Amounts due to other insurers / reinsurers
Accrued expenses and Other creditor and accrual
Accrued mark-up

Short term running finance

Taxation - net

Unclaimed dividend

Total Shareholders' Equity and Liabilities
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2014

21,844
16,020
4,780,356

2,464
5,406
41,706
18,752

4,886,548

586,277
3,635,458
133,088
(3,697)
339,387
8,805
9,377
16,171
587
97,217

143,659
20,219

4,886,548

2015

2016

Rupees in ‘000

159,891
14,060
2,825,317

2,464
5,406
9,608
15,623

3,032,369

586,277
1,378,815
133,088
(3,480
420,437
8,805
8,369
45,166
587
245,295

179,622
29,488

3,032,369

906
12,315
3,612,508

2,464
5,406
11,428
14,017

3,659,044

586,277
1,708,968
133,088
(2,611)
746,881
8,805
10,5628
13,803
587
48,112
1,796
183,265
187,197
32,348

3,659,044

2017

5,269
10,463
2,440,890
52,235
2,464
3,875
5,406
10,5636
15,088

2,546,226

586,277
1,024,498
133,088
(2,142
528,372
8,805
12,237

587
5,624
400
217,809
30,671

2,546,226



2018 2019 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Rupees in ‘000 Percentage Change
9,570 1,869 0.45% 5.27% 0.02% 0.21% 0.42% 0.07%
8,484 6,376 0.33% 0.46% 0.34% 0.41% 0.37% 0.25%
2,108,946 2,367,523 97.83% 93.17% 98.73% 95.86% 93.16% 93.90%
74,051 83,815 - - - 2.05% 3.27% 3.32%
- - 0.05% 0.08% 0.07% 0.10% - -
- - - - - 0.15% - -
5,406 5,406 0.11% 0.18% 0.15% 0.21% 0.24% 0.21%
44,157 17,368 0.85% 0.32% 0.31% 0.42% 1.95% 0.69%

13,471 39,345 0.38% 0.52% 0.38% 0.59% 0.59% 1.56%

2,264,085 2,521,702 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%  100.00% 100.00%

586,277 586,277 12.00% 19.33% 16.02% 23.03% 25.89% 23.25%
659,843 757,785 72.35% 45.47% 46.71% 40.24% 29.14% 30.06%

133,088 133,088 2.72% 4.39% 3.64% 5.23% 5.88% 5.28%
(1,855) (384) -0.08% -0.11% -0.07% -0.08% -0.08% -0.02%
456,777 639,564 6.95% 13.86% 20.41% 20.75% 20.17% 25.36%
8,805 8,805 0.18% 0.29% 0.24% 0.34% 0.39% 0.35%
15,281 17,358 0.19% 0.28% 0.29% 0.48% 0.67% 0.69%
= - 0.33% 1.49% 0.38% = = -

= 9,143 = = = = = 0.36%

587 587 0.01% 0.02% 0.01% 0.02% 0.03% 0.02%
29,157 66,805 1.99% 8.09% 1.31% 0.22% 1.29% 2.65%
6,346 5,464 = = 0.05% 0.02% 0.28% 0.22%
211,800 189,982 = = 5.00% = 9.35% 7.53%
125,380 80,501 2.94% 5.92% 5.12% 8.55% 5.55% 3.19%
32,599 26,727 0.41% 0.97% 0.88% 1.20% 1.44% 1.06%

2,264,085 2,521,702 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%  100.00%  100.00% 100.00%
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Horizontal Analysis

Profit and Loss Account

Particulars

Investment income / (Loss)

Other income

Financial charges

General and administration expenses
Taxation

Profit / (Loss) after tax

Earnings / (Loss) per share - Rupees (Basic)

Vertical Analysis

Profit and Loss Account

Particulars

Investment income / (Loss)

Other income

Financial charges

General and administration expenses
Taxation

Profit / (Loss) after tax
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2014

1,209,576
17,901
(140)
(200,092)
(128,458)
898,787
15.33

2014

1,209,576
17,901
(140)
(200,092)
(128,458)
898,787

2015 2016
Rupees in ‘000

706,755 824,472
7,319 35,882
(83) (13,040)
(218,084) (113,033)
(160,872) (23,048)
335,035 711,233
5.71 12.13

2015 2016
Rupees in ‘000

706,755 824,472
7,319 35,882
(83) (13,040)
(218,084) (113,033)
(160,872) (23,048)
335,035 711,233

2017

(442,333)
17,525
(14,622)
(96,427)
(2,044)
(537,901)
9.17)

2017

(442,333)
17,525
(14,622)
(96,427)
(2,044)
(637,901)



2018 2019
Rupees in ‘000
(94,061) 235,134
12,422 15,695
(14,689) (11,463)
(114,674) (144,493)
(7,084) 3,069
(218,086) 97,942
(8.72) 1.67
2018 2019
Rupees in ‘000
(94,061) 235,134
12,422 15,695
(14,689) (11,463)
(114,674) (144,493)
(7,084) 3,069
(218,086) 97,942

15 Over 14

-41.57%
-59.11%
-40.71%
8.99%
25.23%
-62.7%
-62.7%

2015

210.95%
2.18%
-0.02%
-65.09%
-48.02%
100%

16 Over 15

16.66%
390.26%
15,610.84%
-48.17%
-85.67%
112.00%
112.00%

2016

115.92%
5.04%
-1.83%
-15.89%
-3.24%
100%

17 Over 16 18 Over 17
Percentage Change
-1563.65% -78.74%
-51.16% -29.12%
12.13% 0.46%
-14.69% 18.92%
-91.13% 246.58%
-175.63% -59.46%
-175.63% -59.46%
2017 2018
Percentage Change
82.23% 43.13%
-3.26% -5.70%
2.72% 6.74%
17.93% 52.58%
0.38% 3.25%
100% 100%

19 Over 18

349.98%
26.35%
-21.96%
26.00%
-143.32%
144.91%
144.91%

2019

240.07%
16.02%
-11.70%
-147.53%
3.14%
100%
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Comments on Horizontal & Vertical Analysis

Comments on Horizontal Analysis of Balance Sheet

The investment portfolio is highly correlated with KSE-100 index, which has led to significant volatility in
investments during the last six years. Deferred liabilities grew over past six years as the Company operates
an unfunded approved gratuity scheme for all permanent employees. Reserves remained constant during
the last six years on account of unchanged general reserve and reserve for exceptional losses. The surplus
on revaluation has significantly improved as compared to last year due to positive performance of KSE-100
index and hence the Portfolio.

Comments on Vertical Analysis of Balance Sheet

More than 95% of the average assets of the Company contributed towards the earnings of the Company
during the preceding years indicating the efficient use of assets. Ratio of fixed assets has increased to
1.56% as compared to less than 1% in the preceding years due to IFRS 16 application. Ratio of surplus on
revaluation has been increased over the years due to positive performance of KSE-100 index

Comments on Horizontal Analysis of Profit & Loss

The investment income of the company has significantly improved during the current year due to positive
performance of the local bourse. General and administrative expenses have been reduced since 2014
on account of higher efficiencies and productivity of team. The Company reported profit during CY19 on
account of gains on investments.

Comments on Vertical Analysis of Profit & Loss

Ratio of investment income has significantly improved during the year as compared to 2018 due to better
performance of the equity portfolio.
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Summary of Six Years Cash Flow at a glance

2014
Cash & Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 17,835
Net Cash flow used in operating activities (1,692,674)
Net Cash flow from investing activities 1,699,683
Net Cash flow from financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash equivalent 7,009
Cash & Cash equivalents at the end of the year 24,844

Comments on Cash Flows

2015

24,844
(2,520,881)

2,668,928

138,047
162,891

2016

162,891
(505,975)

163,725

(342,250)
(179,359)

2017 2018 2019

(179,359) 8269  (199,230)

(173,198)  (278,834)  (27,459)

360,826 71,341

187,628  (207,499)

47,857
(6,281)

14,117

8269  (199,230)  (185,113)

Over the years, the company has effectively managed its cash flows as reflected in the above summary.

Cash Flow from investing activities has remained positive since 2014 as proceeds from sale of investments

exceeds the investments in securities.
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Quarterly Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter =
Rupees in 000

Revenue 130,236 (85,891) | (126,372) | 332,856 250,829
Return on investments 12,177 38,922 24,944 23,798 99,841
Gain / (loss) on sale of investments - net 69,066 (62,628) (8,672) | 134,825 137,591
Other income 3,234 4,898 3,866 3,697 15,695
Unrealised appreciation on re-measurement of investments classified

as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - net 45,759 (67,083) | (151,510) 170,536 (2,298)
Profit /(loss) after taxation 65,543 (121,321) (95,292) 249,012 97,942
Net assets 1,999,162 1,865,538 1,801,928 2,116,330 2,116,330
Comments

Analysis of Quarterly results

Significant portion of the Company’s investments are marked to market; and the interim operating results of
the Company reflect the fluctuations in the capital market and shifts in allocations. Notable outperformance
of the equity market was witnessed during the last quarter of CY19, where KSE-100 posted a positive
return of around 27%. Moreover, dividend income is essentially seasonal as dividend announcements are
generally made periodically and accrued as income through a consistently followed accounting policy.

Operating revenues

The company reported a positive revenue of PKR 250.83 million during CY19 as compared to negative
PKR 81.64 million in the preceding calendar year. The improvement in revenue has been mainly on the back
of 9.9% return posted by KSE-100 during CY19. Unrealized gain has been reported during the forth quarter
in line with the performance of the KSE-100 index on account of subsiding balance of payment crisis and
favorable interest rate outlook.

Profit after tax

Except for the second and third quarters, the company generated unrealized gain on investments in the
remaining two quarters, which were the main contributors towards positive performance.
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Dupont Analysis

Asset Eqwty Net (Loss) / Profit "

2018 (0.04) 2 -267% -11.89%
2019 0.10 1.19 39% 4.63%

As per Dupont Analysis, ROE improved from negative 11.89% in 2018 to positive 4.63% in 2019 due to
positive Asset Turnover Ratio.

Positive return on investments (revenue) was reported in 2019 as the performance of Cyan is highly
correlated with stock market which provided positive return during the year. Asset turnover ratio turned
positive this year, reflecting efficient usage of company resources.

Equity Multiplier slightly declined due to an increase in equity on account of an uptick in unappropriated
profits and surplus on revaluation of AFS investments.
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Board of Directors

HASAN REZA-UR RAHIM
(Chairman)

Mr. Rahimis anaccomplished professional who has over 35 years of domestic
and international experience in the Banking and Financial Services industry.
Currently he is the Chairman of Cyan Limited and he also serves on the
Boards of Dawood Hercules Corporation Limited, Dawood Lawrencepur
Limited, Atlas Insurance Limited and Hum Network Limited. Previously, he
was the Executive Director in-charge of the Chairman’s Corporate Office
of the Dawood Hercules Group (“DHG”) which consists of several listed
and unlisted companies and is one of the largest entrepreneurial groups in
Pakistan. DHG has a market capitalization exceeding USD 3.5 Billion for
companies listed on the Pakistan Stock Exchange.

Furthermore, Mr. Rahim spent 15 years at JPMorgan where he held several senior positions both in Pakistan
and abroad. His accomplishments include assisting in establishing and heading the Global Corporate Bank
in Bahrain, Qatar and Saudi Arabia, was Senior Country Officer of Pakistan and was an integral part of the
Regional Corporate Finance team based in Singapore. He has originated, led and executed large complex
M&A transactions and Privatizations totaling USD 5.0 billion, Sovereign Debt and Bond issues of over USD
2.0 billion in the Telecom, Airlines, Banking, Oil &Gas and Petrochemical industries.

Earlier in his career Mr. Rahim, also had senior roles with MashregBank psc, ANZ Grindlays Bank plc and
commenced his career with Exxon Chemical Pakistan Limited. He was also posted and lived in Zurich,
Singapore, Bahrain and Dubai and received his Bachelor’s degree from the University of Delaware in USA.

KULSUM DAWOOD
(Director)

Kulsum Dawood is a philanthropist and passionately promotes education
and human development. She is the Lead Trustee on the Board of The
Dawood Foundation (TDF) which was established in 1961. TDF has
been involved with the construction of schools and colleges, and is
now undertaking scalable content and technology-based projects for
knowledge dissemination through informal learning spaces. It has recently
invested in the MagnifiScience Center, which will be the first-of-its-kind
interactive science museum of Pakistan.

Mrs. Dawood is a certified Director of Corporate Governance from the Pakistan
Institute of Corporate Governance (PICG). She has attended courses on Family Business

at the International Institute for Management Development (IMD) in Switzerland, and at the Institute European
d’ Administration des Affaires (INSEAD). She is a graduate from Government College of Home Economics,
Karachi.

For the last two decades, Mrs. Dawood has been a regular participant at the Annual Meeting of the World
Economic Forum in Davos, Switzerland.
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INAM UR RAHMAN
(Director)

Inam ur Rahman joined the Board of Directors of Cyan Limited in March
2017.

Bringing more than 27 years of experience across diversified industries
including energy & renewables, education, enterprise technology, foods,
textiles, fashion & apparel, lifestyle, and business consulting, Inam ur
Rahman currently serves in corporate governance roles across various
public-listed firms associated with the 100-year old Dawood Hercules
Group. He was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the group’s parent
investment company, Dawood Hercules Corporation, on 1st December
2016.

An environmentalist at heart, Inam launched Reon Energy, an enterprise solar power EPC, and continues
to serve as Chief Executive of Tenaga Generasi Limited, a 50 megawatt wind power plant.

Inam ur Rahman passion is to develop and grow people. He has taught at the undergraduate level, and at
present devotes his time in governance roles at Karachi School of Business & Leadership.

Inam holds an MBA degree from Lahore University of Management Sciences (LUMS), in addition to an
engineering degree from UET Lahore.

KAMRAN NISHAT
(Director)

Mr. Kamran Nishat is a qualified Chartered Accountant and currently
serving M&P Pakistan as its Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer.
In addition to being a Director of Ali Gohar Pharmaceuticals Limited, he
serves on the boards of Briogene Private Limited and Cyan Limited while
serving as the CEO of M&P Express Logistics (Private) Limited (formely
known as OCS Pakistan Private Limited), Tech Sirat (Private) Limited,
TechSirat Technologies (Pvt) Limited, OCS road and rail cargo (Pvt) Ltd,
Logex (Pvt) Ltd and VeriBest brands (Pvt) Ltd.

Moreover, Mr. Nishat has had variety of experiences which include being
the member of Accounting and Auditing Standards Committee (South) of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Pakistan, member of Information Technology Committee (South) of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Pakistan, member of Management Association of Pakistan, Ex-Officio Member (Former
President) Of American Business Counsel, Senior Manager at Sidat Hyder Morshed Associates (Private)
Limited from the years 1997 till 1999, Group Financial Controller at MIMA Group in 1997, General Manager
Corporate Affairs at Dawood Hercules Chemicals Limited, Deputy Managing Director at Central Cotton
Mills Limited from 1988 till 1996 and Manager Finance at Al-Ghazi Tractors.
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Board of Directors

SHAFIQ AHMED
(Director)

Mr. Shafig Ahmed joined The Dawood Group in 2007 and has worked
for several Group concerns in different senior positions, including the
Chief Executive Officer of Dawood Lawrencepur Limited and Tenaga
Generasi Limited and currently looking after the Group’s private companies
comprising of Patek (Private) Limited, Dawood Corporation (Private)
Limited and Towershare (Private) Limited as Chief Executive Officer. He is
also serving on the Board of Directors of Dawood Lawrencepur Limited,
Tenaga Generasi Limited, Reon Alpha Limited, Patek (Private) Limited,
Dawood Corporation (Private) Limited, Towershare (Private) Limited and
Inbox Business Technologies Limited.

Prior to joining Dawood Group, he served in senior management position in Pakistan National Shipping
Corporation and has also been associated with Ernst & Young Ford Rhodes Sidat Hyder & Co., Chartered
Accountants for nine years. Having a flair for textiles, energy and accounting, his career spans over 25
years working with industry leaders and pioneers in these fields.

He is a Chartered Accountant from the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and a degree in Law
from University of Karachi. Shafiq is also a certified director from Pakistan Institute of Corporate Governance.

SULAIMAN S. MEHDI
(Director / Chief Executive Officer)

Sulaiman is the CEO Cyan Ltd., formerly Central Insurance Company
Limited (CICL). In 2011, Sulaiman orchestrated the business restructuring
of CICL (insurance) to Cyan (investments), a landmark transaction, and the
first of its kind in Pakistan.

Before Cyan, he has served PICIC DFI, PICIC Asset Management Company
Ltd., Allied Bank (ABL) and ABL Asset Management Company Limited. He
has had the privilege of establishing two leading AMCs of this country.

As a senior executive he has been working on strategy, organization,
mergers and acquisitions. He is a proven business leader with a track
record of delivering sustainable change and superior results in Pakistan.
Sulaiman’s experience spans over 18 years in multiple areas of financial services including investments,
operations, marketing, legal and corporate affairs.

Amongst his prominent achievements have been the acquisition of HUBCO from National Power in June
2012. The acquisition value was PKR 6bn and was sold in March 2018 for PKR 22bn resulting in gains
of app. PKR 23bn (incl dividends) in less than 6 years. He also had the privilege of leading the election
process of HUBCO for DH Group twice in 2012 and 2015 and managed 8 out of 11 seats with just 17.5%
shareholding while managing the rest through proxies.

He is the youngest Chairman of the Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited. He is also Chairman Pebbles Ltd.
- the real estate arm of Dawood Hercules (DH) Group and is spearheading all real estate initiatives of the
Group. He serves on the Board of Governors of The Institute of Business Management (IOBM). He is
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the Founding member of the Presidential Initiative for Artificial Intelligence and Computing (PIAIC) and a
Member of the Committee on Emerging Technologies of MOIT. He represents Sindh as an Independent
Member on Private Power and Infrastructure Board (PPIB).

He has also served on the Board of Dawood Lawrencepur Limited, FOCUS Pakistan (an Aga Khan
Foundation backed NGO), Inbox Business Technologies (Pvt.) Ltd., Inbox Consulting (Pvt.) Ltd., Inbox
Corporation (Pvt.) Ltd. and Sach International (Pvt.) Ltd.

He holds a master’s degree and is also a fellow member of The Institute of Corporate Secretaries of
Pakistan (FCIS). He is also a Certified Director from the Pakistan Institute of Corporate Governance (PICG).

FAISAL NADEEM
(Director / Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Faisal is a Fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Pakistan (ICAP) and Qualified Chartered Management Accountant from
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA-UK). He worked
at the senior executive level in the leading financial institutions where he
was involved in the areas of financial management, core finance, risk
management and internal control. He is a Certified Director of Corporate
Governance from the Pakistan Institute of Corporate Governance (PICG)
and presently on the Board of Cyan Limited and Pebbles Pvt. Ltd. — the
real estate arm of Dawood Hercules (DH) Group.

Before joining Cyan, he served as the Chief Financial Officer and Company
Secretary at ABL Asset Management Company Limited, a subsidiary of
Allied Bank Limited.
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Management Team

AHSAN IQBAL
(Company Secretary)

Public Listed Company.

KIRAN HASSAN
(Head of Internal Audit)

Ms. Kiran Hassan is the Head of Internal Audit of Cyan. She Joined Cyan
in July 2019. She is an Associate Certified Management Accountant
(ACMA) and has more than 10 years of diversified experience in the field
of Finance, Internal Audit, Controls & Risk Management in local and
multinational companies.

Prior to joining Cyan, she was associated with Orix Leasing, Alkaram
Textile, First Women Bank Limited and Griffin Nagda (UAE).

NARESH KUMAR
(Investment Associate)

wealth management.

Mr. Ahsan started his career with Cyan in January 2016. He is an ACCA
member. He has more than ten years of experience of Financial Reporting,
Taxation and corporate statues & compliance services applicable on a

Previously, he was associated with A.F. Ferguson & Co., Chartered
Accountants and Ernst & Young Ford Rhodes.

Mr. Kumar joined Cyan in August 2017. He is a CFA Charter holder
and a fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
(ACCA). He has more than ten years of diversified experience of
investment analysis, portfolio management, investment advisory and

Prior to joining Cyan, he was working with ABL Asset Management
Company Limited (ABL AMC) as an Equity Fund Manager, where he
managed equity funds of worth USD 120 million. Before ABL AMC, he
was associated with Magnus Investment Advisors Limited where he

spearheaded various departments including the Portfolio Management

Department.”
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SYEDA HUMAIRA AKHTAR
(Senior Investment Analyst)

Humaira holds more than seven years of experience in the capital market
of Pakistan. She brings in expertise in financial modelling, investment and
security analysis, credit analysis, and risk management.

Humaira has worked with renowned Financial Institutions of Pakistan
including United Bank Limited, Standard Chartered Bank, KASB
Securities. Before joining Cyan, she was working as a Deputy Head of
Research at BMA Capital Management Limited.

She is a double Gold Medalist and holds a Masters degree in Finance
from Institute of Business Management. Ms. Akhtar is also a CFA and
FRM charter holder.

M. HASSAAN KHAN
(Investment Analyst)

Management Sciences.

Mr. Hassaan started his career in June 2017 with Alfalah GHP as an
associate investment advisor in their portfolio management department.
Currently, He is working at Cyan Limited as an Investment Analyst in
their Growth Equity Team. He is also a CFA level lll candidate and has
done BSc. (Honors) Accounting & Finance from Lahore University of
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Board Committees

The Board has established three Committees namely
Board Audit Committee, Board HR & Remuneration
Committee and Board Investment Committee for
effective governance of the Company.

The compositions, role and responsibilities of
the Board Committees are clearly defined in their
respective Terms of References.

Board Audit Committee
The Board Audit Committee is composed of the
following Directors:

e Mr. Kamran Nishat Chairman
e Mr. Inam Ur Rahman Member
e Mr. Shafig Ahmed Member

Terms of Reference

The Committee shall ensure that adequate internal
control policies and procedures for safeguarding
of company’s assets have been developed by the
company. The Committee shall review the efficiency
and effectiveness of the operations including non-
financial control of the entity. The Committee
shall also review the Company’s Statement of
Compliance, which includes statement on internal
control systems, prior to endorsement by the Board
of Directors.

[t shall perform the following functions:

a. External Audit Function

i. The Committee shall, among other things, be
responsible for recommending to the Board of
Directors the appointment of external auditors by
the Company and shall consider any questions
of resignation or removal of external auditors,
audit fees and provision by external auditors of
any service to the company in addition to audit
of its financial statements;

i. The Committee shall evaluate on an annual

basis, the qualification, independence,
performance and scope of work of the external
auditor; and

ii. The Committee shall ensure that significant
findings and recommendations made by
external auditor and management response
thereon are discussed and appropriately acted
upon.

b.

Internal Controls

The Committee shall:

Vi.

Ascertain that the integrity of internal control
system including financial and operational
controls, risk management, accounting system
and reporting structure are adequate and
effective;

Determine the appropriateness of measures to
safeguard the Company’s assets;

Evaluate the security of computer systems and
applications and any contingency plans for
processing financial and other information in the
event of a computer systems breakdown;

Review the Company’s system for monitoring
compliance with laws, regulations and other
external requirements and with management
policies and directives and other internal
requirements;

Review the details of any investigation, review or
inquiry made by any statutory body concerning
the conduct of the Company’s activities or the
preparation of its financial statements; and

Monitor the compliance with the best practices
of Corporate Governance and identification of
significant violations thereof.

Internal Audit Function
The Committee shall:

Review and discuss the adequacy of structure,
responsibilities,  staffing, resources and
functioning of the Company’s internal audit
department;

Review the preparation, execution and results
of the Company’s annual internal audit work
program;

Review and discuss the periodical internal audit
reports; and

Ensure that significant internal  audit
findings and recommendations and
Management’s responses are considered.

Financial Reporting

The Committee shall review the quarterly, half-
yearly and annual financial statements of the
Company, prior to their approval by the Board
of Directors, focusing on;
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Vi

Vii.

Viii.

Vi

88

Significant accounting and reporting issues,
including professional and regulatory
pronouncements and assess their impact on
the Company’s financial statements;

Legal matters which could significantly impact
the financial statements;

Annual financial statements and assess whether
the financial statements reflect appropriate
accounting principles;

The judgments made in preparing the
Company’s financial statements, including any
valuation of assets and liabilities, litigation, and
other commitments and contingencies;

Significant or unusual events or transactions or
adjustments resulting from the audit;

The going-concern assumption; and

Changes in accounting policies & practices
and compliance with applicable accounting
standards.

Other responsibilities

Other responsibilities of the Committee shall
also include:

Review of preliminary announcements of results
prior to publication;

Facilitating the external audit and discussion
with external auditors of major observations
arising from interim and final audits and any
matter that the auditors may wish to highlight (in
the absence of management, where necessary);

Review of management letter issued by external
auditors and management’s response thereto;

Ensuring coordination between the internal and
external auditors of the Company;

Review of arrangement for staff and
management to report to audit committee in
confidence, concerns, if any, about actual or
potential improprieties in financial and other
matters and recommend instituting remedial
and mitigating measures;

Instituting special projects, value for money
studies or other investigations on any matter
specified by the Board of Directors, in
consultation with the Chief Executive and to
consider remittance of any matter to the external

Cyan Limited

auditors or to any other external bodly;

vii. Consideration of any other issue or matter as
may be assigned by the Board of Directors;

viii. Appointment of the Head of Internal Audit shall

be made by the BOD subject to recommendation

of the Committee; and

ix. Details of all related party transactions shall
be placed before the Audit Committee of the
Company for review and recommendation
to the Board of Directors. The related party
transactions which are not executed at arm’s
length price will also be placed separately at
each Board meeting along with necessary
justification for consideration and approval of the
Board after clearance from the Audit Committee

of the Company.
Board HR & Remuneration Committee

The Board HR & Remuneration Committee is
composed of the following Directors:

e Mr. Kamran Nishat Chairman
e Mr. Inam Ur Rahman Member
e Mr. Hasan Reza-ur Rahim  Member

Terms of Reference

The general duties and responsibilities of the
Committee shall be as follows:

() To develop the compensation philosophy
for Executive Management and present the
recommendations to the Board for approval;

(i) To meet with Executive Management to establish
Corporate objectives and, subsequently, to meet
independently of Executive Management to
assess progress in relation to these objectives;

(i) To undertake the performance evaluation of

the CEO and review for each member of the

Executive Management in consultation with the

Chair of the Board;

To review, establish and recommend to the
Board, approval of the compensation of each
member of the Executive Management;

(v) To recommend to the Board for consideration,
approval and establishment of stock option
plans, incentive plans or employee benefit
plans to be granted to, Executive Management
and other key employees of the Company and
guidelines with respect thereto. The Committee
may suggest amendments to any stock option



plans or incentive plans, provided that all
amendments to such plans shall be subject to
consideration and approval of the Board;

(vi) To review and recommend compensation
packages for the Executive Directors that
realistically reflect the responsibilities and risks
involved in being an Executive Director;

(vii) To consider and make recommendations to the
Board for its approval on all matters concerning
perquisites and benefits to be granted to
Executive Management, including levels and
types of benefits, within guidelines, if any,
established by the Board with respect thereto;

(vii) To review and recommend compensation
packages for the non-executive directors and
the Chair of the Board that realistically reflect
the responsibilities and risks involved in being a
non-executive director;

(iX) To regularly review the organization structure
and report any significant organization changes
to the Board;

(X) To review succession plans for Executive
Management, including specific development
plans, methods of achieving recommended
action, and career planning for potential
successors; and

(xi) To engage, through its Chair and in appropriate
circumstances, at the expense of the Company,
independent counsel and advisors; and to fulfill
such other powers and duties as delegated to it
by the Board.

Board Investment Committee

The Board Investment Committee is composed of
the following Directors:

e Mr. Hasan Reza-ur Rahim  Chairman
Mr. Inam Ur Rahman Member
e Mr. Shafig Ahmed Member

Terms of Reference
The Board Investment Committee shall:

() Recommend asset allocation strategy for liquid
and illiquid investments to the Board;

(i) Review and monitor business development
activities for illiquid investments;

(i) Recommend sectorfocus forilliquidinvestments;

(iv) Recommend all illiquid transactions to the Board
for approval;

(v Recommend Employees Trading Policy for
approval of the Board;

(vi) Recommend Investment Policy for approval of
the Board;

(viiy Continually review the Investment Policy,
Employee Trading Policy and approve changes
(if necessary) subject to ratification of the BOD;

(viii) Consider any other issue or matter as may be
assigned by the BOD; and

The BIC will periodically review the performance of
the MIC for company’s liquid investments in purview
of the various classes of assets and on overall basis,
based on the following factors:

(i) Achievement of budgetary revenues;
(i) Adherence to investment policy objectives;
(i) Compliance with laws and regulations;
(

iv) Performance relative to hurdles / benchmarks
approved by the BOD; and

(v) Performance vis-a-vis industry performance.
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Criteria to Evaluate Board’s Performance

A Company’s success is ultimately reflective of the
capacity of its directors to provide direction which is
in line with the vision in order to expand and flourish.
The Company, hence, endeavors to develop the
capacity of its Board of Directors to improve both
their personal and collective contributions to the
overall development of the Company.

A quality Board that really adds value is not just a
panel of high performing individuals but a balanced
team with harmonizing skill sets and a culture that
allows them to function as a single unit to make
the most effective decisions for the Company.
While the guidance from the Chair is the key, the
participation of every Board member is also vital for
its effectiveness.

One of the most significant responsibilities of the
Board of Directors is to ensure that the company
has a strong leadership and an effective executive
management. The Board establishes company
polices and then delegates authority and
responsibility to the CEO for the organization’s
smooth operations.

Performance evaluation continues to gain profile
and momentum within Boardrooms. Regulators
and institutional investors increasingly endorse
performance evaluation as a prerequisite for good
corporate governance. The Board of Directors
acts as a guardian of the shareholders money and
translates the same into the Company’s mission and
goals. In order to uphold the trust of stakeholders,
the Board of Directors’ performance warrants
assessment.

The evaluation of the performance will examine those
key areas where the Board requires clarity in order to
provide high level oversight, including: the strategic
process; key business drivers and performance
milestones; the global economic environment
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and competitive context in which the Company
operates; the risks faced by the business; Board
dynamics; capability and alignment; reputation; and
information flows.

The Board of Directors has set the following
evaluation criteria to judge its performance;

e Compliance with the legislative system in which
Company operates, including Companies
Act 2017, Regulations of Pakistan Stock
Exchange; and the Memorandum and Articles
of Association of the Company;

e Active participation in strategic planning
process, enterprise risk management system,
policy  development, financial  structure,
monitoring and approval;

e Hiring, evaluating, compensating and supporting
the Executive Directors and other key positions
including Chief Executive.

e Appropriate constitution of Board Committees
with members possessing adequate technical
know-how and experience;

e Establishingadequate system of internal controls
in the Company and its regular assessment
through self-assessment mechanism or/and
internal audit activities;

e Ensuring presence of required quorum in Board
and Committees’ meeting; and

e Ensuring orientation and training of Board of
Directors to enable them to perform their duties
in an effective manner



Roles and Responsibilities of Chairman

The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the Board. In particular, he will:

1.

2.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Manage the business of the Board and preside over its meetings and all general body meetings.

Ensure that minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors and all general body meetings are
appropriately recorded and circulated within the prescribed time.

Set the agenda, style and tone of Board discussions (taking full account of the issues and the concerns
of all Board members) to promote constructive debate and effective decision-making.

Ensure that members of the Board receive accurate, timely and clear information, in particular about
the Company’s performance, to enable effective performance of their duties.

Manage the Board’s time to ensure that sufficient time is allowed for discussion of complex or
contentious matters.

Build an effective and complementary Board, initiating change and planning succession on Board and
executive appointments.

Ensure that all Board committees are properly established, composed and operated.

Ensure effective operation of the Board and its committees in conformity with the highest standards of
corporate governance.

Facilitate the effective contribution of non- executive directors and ensure constructive relationships
and open communication, both between non- executive directors and executive directors and between
the Board and investors.

Ensure comprehensive induction programs for new directors and updates for all directors as and when
necessary.

Monitor and address the development needs of individual directors and of the Board as a whole and
ensure that the performance of individual directors and of the Board and its committees are formally
evaluated at least once a year.

Monitor progress towards the timely and effective achievement and implementation of the objectives,
policies and strategies set by the Board and of other decisions taken by or on behalf of the Board.

Ensure effective communication with shareholders and other relevant constituencies and that the views
of these groups are understood by the Board.

Establish a constructive, harmonious and open relationship with the Chief Executive Officer and support
him in the development of strategy and, more broadly advise the Chief Executive.

Lead the ongoing monitoring and annual evaluation of the performance of the Chief Executive Officer.

Maintain access to senior management as is necessary and useful, but not intrude on the Chief
Executive’s responsibilities.
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Roles and Responsibilities of CEO

The Chief Executive is responsible for leadership of
the business and managing it within the authorities
delegated by the Board. In particular, he will:

1.

92

Manage the day to day business of the
Company, taking account of the policies and
directions of the Board and its Committees.

Develop strategy proposals for recommendation
to the Board and ensure that agreed strategies
are reflected in the business.

Develop annual plans, consistent with agreed
strategies, for presentation to the Board for
support.

Plan human resourcing to ensure that the
Company has the capabilities and resources
required to achieve its plans.

Develop an organizational structure and
establish processes and systems to ensure the
efficient organization of resources.

Ensure that such actions are taken as
are necessary to secure the timely and
effective implementation of the objectives,
policies and strategies set by the Board and
of other decisions taken by the Board or by its
Committees on its behalf and be responsible to
the Board for the performance of the business
consistent with agreed plans, strategies and
policies.

Act as Chairman of the Management
Committee(s), set agendas, taking full account
of the issues and concerns of members of the
Committee(s), and ensure that Management
Committee members receive clear and timely
information.

Lead the executive team; monitor and address
the development needs of the team and ensure

Cyan Limited

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

that the performance of individuals is evaluated
at least once a year.

Ensure that the financial results, business
strategies and, where appropriate, targets and
milestones are communicated to the investment
community.

Develop and promote effective communication
with shareholders and other relevant constituencies.

Ensure that business performance is consistent
with the Business Principles.

Ensure that robust management succession
and management development plans are in
place and presented to the Board from time to
time.

Develop processes and structures to ensure
that capital investment proposals are reviewed
thoroughly, that associated risks are identified
and appropriate steps taken to manage the
risks.

Develop and maintain an effective framework
of internal controls over risk in relation to all
business activities including the Group’s trading
activities.

Ensure that the flow of information to the Board
is accurate, timely and clear. Ensure an effective
dialogue between the executives and the Board
and in particular ensure that the Chairman and
the Board are regularly updated on matters
affecting the Company’s performance,
competitive position and risk profile;

. Establish a close relationship of trust with the

Chairman, reporting key developments to him
in a timely manner and seeking advice and
support as appropriate.



CEQ'’s Performance Review

The Board of Directors of Cyan Limited regularly evaluates the performance of the CEO based on the
financial and non-financial KPIs presented by him and agreed by the Board at the start of the year. The
Board has reviewed the performance of the CEO for the current financial year and is truly content with the
achievements for the year. The Board wishes to further report that Mr. Sulaiman S. Mehdi is committed
to following best practices and the Code of Corporate Governance in true spirit. All Board meetings are
attended by Mr. Sulaiman S. Mehdi, where he provides details and explanations for each agenda item. The
Board has full confidence in his abilities to manage the affairs of the Company in the most professional and
competent manner. He is also responsible for setting the corporate objectives and its alignment with the
KPlIs for his management team and regularly updates the Board about the performance of the management
team in achieving the desired results. The Board ensures that the vision and mission sets the direction for
the overall corporate strategy and Cyan’s future endeavors in making investments in organizations with
realized high growth potential as well as to remain committed in maximizing the wealth of its shareholders.
The Board is pleased to note that Mr. Sulaiman Mehdi‘s endeavors result from following and applying
the corporate strategy that is conceived with the aid of the Company’s vision and mission. The entire
organization is connected and driven by this purpose and it serves as the main decision making criterion.
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Attendance of Board and Committee Meetings
During the Year 2019

Board of Directors
S. No. Name Dates No. of No. of
meetings | meetings
18-Feb-19 | 22-Apr-19 | 19-Aug-19 | 24-Oct-19 | 10-Dec-19 held attended
1 Hasan Reza Ur Rahim J J J J J 5 5
2 Kulsum Dawood J J J d J 5 5
3 Kamran Nishat J J J d J 5 5
4 Inam ur Rahman J J J 5 8
5 Shafiqg Ahmed J J J J J 5 5
6 Sulaiman Mehdi J J J J J 5 5
7 Faisal Nadeem J J J J J 5 5
Board Audit Committee
S. No. Name Dates No. of No. of
meetings | meetings
15-Feb-19 | 19-Apr-19 | 16-Aug-19 | 24-Oct-19 | 9-Dec-19 held attended
1 Kamran Nishat J A J J J 5 B
2 Inam Ur Rahman J J J J J 5 B
3 | Shafig Ahmed J J J J N 5 5
Board Investment Committee
S. No. Name Dates No. of meetings No. of meetings
22-Feb-19 | 6-Dec-19 | 17-Dec-19 held attended
1 Hasan Reza-ur Rahim J J J 3 8
2 Inam Ur Rahman J J J 8 8
8 Shafiq Ahmed J J 8 2

Board HR & Remuneration Committee

S. No. Name Date No. of meetings No. of meetings
9-Dec-19 held attended
1 Kamran Nishat J 1 1
2 Hasan Reza-ur Rahim J 1 1
8 Inam Ur Rahman J 1 1
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Whistle Blowing Policy

Cyan (‘the Company”) has an established
Code of Conduct which sets out the standards
of conduct expected in the management of its
business. All employees are expected to carry
out their duties in a manner that is consistent
with the Code. If employees become aware of
circumstances which are not in compliance
with the Code then they should communicate
their suspicions using the “whistle blowing”

policy.

The term “whistle blowing” is most commonly
used to describe when an employee discloses
wrong doing within the Company. Such wrong
doing can include unlawful conduct, financial
malpractice or dangers to the public or the environment. Public disclosure of confidential information about
the company could clearly be a breach of an employee’s contract, therefore special arrangements are
needed to protect both the employee and the company. It is important that the employee’s concerns about
illegal or unethical activities can be raised without fear of victimization and that the company is alerted to
malpractice early so that it can be stopped and the perpetrators dealt with.

A whistle blowing procedure allows employees to raise concerns with management about the conduct of
others which they consider to be in some way damaging to the company or others within it.

There may sometimes be circumstances in which people feel uncomfortable raising issues directly with their
managers/superiors. Hence we plan to provide a confidential “whistle blowing” mechanism throughout the
Company which the Cyan stakeholders i.e. Employees, Service Providers, Contractors, Dealers, Customers
as well as Vendors will be able to use to report to the management instances of unethical behavior / acts,
actual or suspected fraud or violation of the Company’s code of conduct or ethics policy.

The purpose of this document is to provide a framework to promote responsible and secure whistle blowing.
It protects the stakeholders wishing to raise a concern about serious irregularities within the Company. The
policy neither exempts employees from their duty of confidentiality in the course of their work, nor it is a
route for taking up personal grievance / act with a malafide intentions against fellow employee.

The Company believes in the conduct of the affairs of its constituents in a fair and transparent manner by
adopting highest standards of professionalism, honesty, integrity and ethical behavior.

The Company is committed to developing a culture where it is safe for stakeholders i.e. employees, Service
Providers, Contractors, dealers, customers as well as vendors for Cyan to raise concerns about any poor
or unacceptable practice and any event of misconduct.

There is no incidence reported during the year to the Audit Committee.
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IT Governance Policy

Cyan Limited has a well conceived and
implemented IT Governance Policy which
seeks to ensure that IT is aligned with Cyan’s
organizational goals and strategies and
STANDARDS delivers value to the organization. The policy is
] am  designed to promote effective, efficient, timely,
; 4 and informed decision-making concerning
= POLICIES Cyan's IT investments and operations.
RECULATIONS : RULES Specifically the policy aims to establish the
IT governance structure and its associated
{i} procedures, roles, and responsibilities,
as a critical component of the overall IT
Management (ITM) Framework, which guides
the management, implementation, and
monitoring of IT investments for Cyan Limited. Cyan’s IT Governance Policy is mainly charged with:

COMBLIA

e Establishing a shared vision of how information technology can add value to the
organization;

e Establishing information technology goals, and the strategies for achieving those goals;

e Establishing principles and guidelines for making information technology decisions and
managing initiatives;

e Qverseeing the management of institutional information technology initiatives;
e Establishing and communicating organizational information technology priorities;
e Determining information technology priorities in resource allocation;

e Establishing, amending and retiring, as necessary, organizational information technology and
other technology related policies, and

e Determining the distribution of responsibility between the IT Department and end users.
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Level of Materiality

The board of directors shall define the level
of materiality, keeping in view the specific
circumstances of the company and the
recommendations of any technical or executive
subcommittee of the board that may be set up
for the purpose.

International Standard on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) 320 “Materiality in planning and
performing an audit” (ISA 320) explains that
misstatements and omissions, are considered
to be material if they, individually or in
aggregate, could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users of
the financial statements. The users are considered as a group of users of the financial statements rather
than as individual users.

Judgment comes into play when deciding whether a misstatement or omission is immaterial, as although
it may be below the calculated materiality level, by its very nature it is material to the users of the financial
statements and should therefore be adjusted and/or disclosed in the financial statements e.g. related party
transactions.

The first consideration when calculating materiality is the assessed risk associated with the business. There
is an inverse relationship between risk and materiality. The higher the assessed risk of material misstatement
within the financial statements, the lower the materiality and vice versa. This means that larger samples will
be selected in response to the higher assessed risk and as such low materiality results in larger samples,
higher materiality levels result in smaller sample sizes.

There are a number of benchmarks which can be selected to help calculate materiality and a range of
materiality percentages that could be used when calculating materiality. ISA 320 doesn’t specifically mention
the ranges of percentages that can be used as again this is left to the auditor’s judgment, however, common
percentages used are shown below. Ideally the one selected by the auditor should be the benchmark
that most represents the needs of the users of the financial statements. Examples of the more common
benchmarks and percentages are as follows:

e Revenue (0.5% to 1%)

e Total Assets (1% to 2%)

¢ Net assets (2% to 5%)

e Profit after tax (5% to10%)

Keeping in view that Cyan limited is a company mainly involved in investing in public and private equities,
therefore the appropriate materiality level should be calculated based on percentage of Net Assets. The
Board has recommended minimum percentage allocation of 0.5% of Net Assets as Material level. However,
this level does not include the related party transactions.
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Investors’ Relations Policy

o Policy Statement

The Investors’ Relations policy has
been developed to define broad parameters
on how Cyan Limited (“the Company”) shall
deal with the investors in context of general
awareness, complaints and communications.

o Broad Parameters
This Investor Relations Policy (IRP) will:

- Serve as a statement to the
shareholders and other stakeholders of
how Cyan intends to keep them informed of
material developments, and maintain effective
communications with them.

- Provide a framework of processes and procedures upon which Cyan can successfully implement
its Investor Relations program. This Policy is meant to serve the company’s shareholders and
stakeholders.

e General Principles

Cyan strives to maintain its corporate credibility and instill investor confidence by practicing a structured
approach to the communication of price sensitive information. The Investor Relations program, which
is designed to be both proactive and interactive, will be based on Cyan’s commitment to:

- always report its financial results and material developments to the Exchange, its shareholders
and other stakeholders in a timely, open and comprehensive manner.

- communicate only through its Company Secretary or CEO.

- proactively address reports and rumors, so as to avoid unnecessary
volatility in the stock price

- Use its website as an additional communications channel.

The company has setup an Investor Service Centre for the facilitation of shareholders.

e Communications

Cyan will make every effort to ensure that all price sensitive information concerning the company is
made accessible. The company’s communication will be characterized by the following attributes:
- Transparency: price sensitive information will be released, whether it is favorable or not, in a
balanced and fair manner that is not misleading.
- Consistency: all stakeholders will receive the same information, only formats may differ depending
on the audience and forum.

- Accuracy: information shall be complete and accurate when released and material errors will be
immediately corrected and clarified, if any.

- Timeliness: price sensitive information will be released as soon as it is known, unless there are
exceptional legitimate reasons to withhold, which will be no longer than absolutely necessary.

- Non-selective: equality of access to price sensitive information will be achieved through broad
public dissemination; no stakeholder will be given undisclosed price sensitive information in any
form.

e Spokesperson

Cyan has a well-defined structure for governance and management which provides specific authority and
responsibility for policy implementation. The Company shall designate Head of Compliance / Manager
Compliance or in their absence any other senior management officer whose name shall be available
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in the Annual Report and on the website to handle investor complaints, grievances. The Company
Secretary shall also be responsible for communication to the shareholders regarding announcements
of general meetings, dividends, and any other price sensitive information.

Price Sensitive Information

The Company will always fully comply with its disclosure obligations in line with regulatory requirements
Information shall be considered price sensitive if it falls in the definition of price sensitive information
as provided in Section 96 of the Securities Act, 2015 or any superseding Act/Ordinance together with
taking into account all the circulars or naotifications by the Exchange or Commission.

Confidentiality

In general, all information regarding the Company, its operations, financial condition and future
prospects, should be regarded as material and price sensitive, and must be treated as confidential
unless it is already in the public domain.

Employees and third parties, such as the Company’s auditors, bankers, lawyers or other professional
advisors who require such information to properly execute their duties, are to protect the confidentiality
of such information.

Major Corporate Developments

The Company will strictly enforce its procedures for the protection of confidentiality until such time as
the development of any major corporate development, such as a merger or acquisition or the launch of
a significant new business, has received all requisite approvals. Thereafter, special attention will be paid
to ensure the widest and most complete dissemination of information concerning the development, in
line with the provisions of this Policy, Companies Act and the Listing Regulations of the Exchange.

Amendment

The BOD may on its own motion or on recommendation of the BAG, if it considers that it would be
in the interest of the Company to do so, alter, amend, modify or relax any restriction or terms and
conditions of the IRP as it may deem fit.

Any provision(s) of this IRP in contravention of any applicable rules and regulation and any guidelines
or circulars issued from time to time by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP)/
Regulators, the latter shall supersede and prevail over the provisions contained in the IRP.
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Health & Safety Policy

In order to improve job satisfaction of the
workforce, ensuring a safe and secure
environment for employees is always
considered important for any organization. To
improve the safety and health conditions on an
on-going basis, it is necessary to continuously
monitor the health and safety issues in

the environment and update the current

procedures accordingly.

Commonsense and basic good housekeeping
are the predominant factors influencing the
maintenance of high standards of health
and safety in offices and staff should always
be conscious of dangers to themselves and
their colleagues, presented by their working
environment and activities.

Any unsafe conditions, e.g. faulty lifts, faulty fire doors, missing fire extinguishers, missing Fire Notices,
defective equipment (particularly defective gas connections), poor lighting, damaged floor coverings, unsafe
furniture and so on, should be reported at once to immediate supervisor, admin officer or safety officer so

that necessary remedial action can be taken.

Recognizing the importance of employee health and safety, the Company is committed to ensure that
employees must know and follow all health and safety requirements of their specific job requirement.

The following items are considered for incorporation of Health & Safety Policy:

e Health and safety are to be given equal consideration with all other business functions.

e Health and safety are everyone’s responsibility. Employees shall actively participate in all elements of the

Health & Safety program.

e The organization is committed to comply with all corporate policies, procedures and applicable

legislation.

e Health and safety are among our highest values and a key indicator of organizational excellence.

e Al work-related injuries and iliness are preventable by identifying and controlling risks.

e Hazard identification, risk assessment and risk control represent the foundation of a successful Health

& Safety management system.

e QOur Health & Safety management system is based on continuous improvement.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Policy

Cyan recognizes that we must integrate our
business values and operations to meet
the expectations of our stakeholders. They
include customers, employees, suppliers,
the community and the environment.

e Werecognize that our social, economic
and environmental responsibilities to these
stakeholders are integral to business. We
aim to demonstrate these responsibilities
through our actions and within our corporate
policies.

We take seriously all feedback, complaints and compliments that we receive from our stakeholders
and, where possible maintain open dialogue to ensure that we fulfill the requirements outlined within
this policy.

We shall be open and honest in communicating our policies, strategies, targets, performance and
governance to our stakeholders in our continual commitment to sustainable development.

Cyan will, where reasonable, make the necessary resources available to realize our corporate
responsibilities. The responsibility for delivery lies with all employees.

In relation to community involvement, Cyan will identify a charity each year and staff will work
together to raise funds and aid the charity as and when possible in a practical way.

In selecting either a charity for this support or working with a charity in a team building scenario,
Cyan will only support programs which are inclusive in nature and reach across all social and
community backgrounds. Support will not be given to individuals or groups with political or sectarian
connections.

CSR activity undertaken by Cyan staff will be reported in the Annual Report circulated to all stakeholders.

Cyan CSR activities will be focused on the following areas:

e Education

e Health Sector

e Community Building

J
J
J
J

J

Children Welfare
Women Empowerment
Sports Development
Heritage Preservation

Relief Activities

Cyan considers the following factors while shortlisting the project:

e Associating to a cause which is in-line with the identified sectors

e Credibility and repute of the charity organization seeking assistance
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Insider Trading Policy

Cyan Limited has taken definitive steps
in ensuring that all employees, officers,
members of the Board and all such relevant
persons follow strict guidelines while trading
in the shares of the Company. The Insider
Trading Policy codifies the Company’s
standards on trading and enabling the
trading of securities of the Company or
other publicly-traded companies while
in  possession of material non-public
information.

The general guidelines within the policy
state that:

i. No trading in the securities of the Company
is permitted for directors and all employees who are “Executives” as defined in the PSX Regulations, within
the Closed Periods announced by the Company.

i. No insider may purchase or sell any Company’s security while in possession of material non-public
information about the Company, its customers, suppliers, consultants or other companies with which the
Company has contractual relationships or may be negotiating transactions.

iii. No insider who knows of any material non-public information about the Company may communicate that
information to any other person, including family and friends.

iv. In addition, no insider may purchase or sell any security of any other company, whether or not issued by
the Company, while in possession of material non-public information about that company that was
obtained in the course of his or her involvement with the Company in the way of conducting official
business. No insider who knows of any such material non-public information may communicate that
information to any other person, including family and friends.

The Company’s Responsibility to Disclose Inside Information
The Company’s responsibility, in case of inside information made known to a third party, shall be to ensure
that in such case the knowledge is given full public disclosure or if such information still needs to be kept

non-public then the Company must ensure that the third party, is placed under legal obligation to maintain
confidentiality.
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Governance, Risk Management and Compliance Policy

Cyan Limited (the “Company”)
aims to develop strong governance
practices across the spectrum of the
Company’s activities along with a risk
management framework to ensure
that risks across the business are
monitored and managed effectively.

Governance

The CEO is responsible to ensure
that the governance procedures
are in place. The CFO and
department heads are responsible
for the implementation of necessary
controls to ensure that the strategies,
directions and instructions allocated
to the departments and employees
are carried out systematically and effectively. Detailed governance procedures are covered in the Code of
Corporate Governance, Code of Conduct, Chairman and Chief Executive Responsibilities and the Authority
Policy.

Risk Management

Board’s Role in the Oversight of the Risk

As per the SECP Code of Corporate Governance, the Board must ensure that a risk management policy
is in place and that all risk issues are reviewed and discussed by the Boards of Directors. This also
includes reputational risk. Further the Board is required to address risk analysis, risk management and risk
communication including any uncertainties surrounding the listed company in its annual report.

The Board’s role will comprise the following with the objective to oversee the risks:

e Review the process that management has put in place and ensure that it is as per risk appetite
approved by the Board and meets the risk tolerances established by them

e Discuss key issues and confirm the risk strategies implemented by management

e Ensure that the risk is communicated to the shareholders, stakeholders, regulators, stock exchange
and other external parties in a timely manner

Risk Management

Risk management is the logical and systematic method of identifying, analyzing, evaluating, treating and
monitoring risks in a way that will enable the organization to meet its objectives and minimize losses and
maximize opportunities.

While the CEO will be accountable for risk management, the Department heads will be responsible for
the identification, assessment and prioritization of risks. The methods and goals will be determined by the
objectives of the department i.e. financial, public health and safety, environmental, security etc. Risk will
be managed by having controls in place or by transferring the risk to another party or by avoiding the risk.
Risk register

will be maintained by each department and the risk mitigation plan will be approved by the appropriate level
of authority.
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Risk Management Plan
Department Heads will be responsible for setting the appropriate controls or counter measures for each
risk. Hence the department heads need to ensure that:

e Business processes have adequate built-in risk control and containment measures

e Risk is transferred to an external agency (e.g. an insurance company) where this is possible and
appropriate

¢ Risks are avoided altogether (e.g. by closing down a particular high-risk business area)

Leadership and Commitment
The responsibility of the CEO and CFO will comprise the following:

Develop and maintain a risk management system
Create general risk awareness within the company
Review and monitor risk

Nominate risk owners

Oversee the operations of risk management policy

L T o

Form a staff induction training program

Monitoring, Review and Reporting of risk

A regular schedule for the review of risk needs to be in place to ensure that risk is monitored and managed
as per the risk appetite of the company. As per the schedule given in the department’s risk register, the
departments will develop:

e Consistent and comprehensive reporting procedures

e Risk monitoring and contingency procedures

e Procedure for analyzing all feedback received in order to mitigate future risk assessment and
allocation

A schedule will be established for the review of the risk management plans which will evaluate:

1. Applicability and effectiveness of the previously selected security controls and;
2. Changes in the possible risk levels in the business environment

The risk register is a dynamic document that will be reviewed by the management on a quarterly basis and
by BAC on a half year/annual basis. The risk review report prepared by each departmental head will include
a statement on the effectiveness of internal controls. If any unanticipated risks emerge and the risk’s impact
is greater than the expected planned response or if risk’s impact is significant to the business, this must be
brought immediately to the CEO and CFQO'’s attention.

Compliance

The CEO will be responsible for all external legal and regulatory compliance risks which will be managed
within the above risk management framework.
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Adoption and Statement of Adherence with the International
Integrated Reporting Framework (IR)

Cyan Limited always strategizes in integration of financial, social and environmental information so to report
its performance and activities by linking sustainability issues to business strategies.

Cyan focuses on economic, societal, technological and environmental factors and their impacts in
Company’s core strengths in order to achieve sustainable corporate value. The aim of our integrated
reporting approach is to enable our stakeholders, including investors, to make a more informed assessment
of the value of Cyan and its prospects that covers risk and the aspect of conformance. Cyan also ensures
accurate measurement of operational, financial and sustainable performance against its strategy that
ensures comparability with the industry and beyond.

Adoption of International Integrated Reporting Framework depends on the individual circumstances of an
entity and is still considered to be a practice in its early stages. We will continue to improve the information
produced to make it even easier to understand, while taking into account the opinion of stakeholders
reading this report. Initially, the Company has included following content elements for the users of this
report:

¢ Organizational overview and external environment

e Risks, opportunities and internal controls

e Strategic objectives and strategies to achieve those objectives

e Governance and Remuneration

e Performance

e Outlook

The Management acknowledges that reasonable care has been taken in preparation and presentation
of this Integrated Report presented herewith which comprises the discussion, analysis and disclosures
pertaining to stewardship, which should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements. The
role of stewardship brings upon it an obligation to be transparent and accountable, which is thoroughly
recognized in this report.
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Directors’ Orientation and Training

All the Directors of the Company are well experienced and have diverse backgrounds. At the time of
induction of any new director, he or she is given proper orientation about the operations of the Company
and his or her fiduciary responsibilities. The Company is compliant in respect of certification of all directors
under the directors’ training program offered by institutions that meet criteria specified by SECP.

Policy on Directors’ Remuneration

The Directors’ Remuneration policy has been developed to remunerate Directors in line with the market
norms in the largest interest of Cyan Limited (“the Company”). The objective of the remuneration policy is to
create a remuneration structure that will allow the Company to attract, reward and retain qualified Directors
who will lead the Company in achieving its strategic objectives. The Company in its 51st AGM held on April
30, 2011 approved the Director’s Remuneration (other than Group Executives) for attending the Board and
the Board Committees’ meetings in compliance with the requirements of Article 78(a) of the Company’s
Article of Association.

The Board of Directors may on its own motion or on recommendation of the BHR & RC, if it considers that
it would be in the interest of the Company to do so, alter, amend, modify or relax any restriction or terms
and conditions of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy as it may deem fit subject to approval of Shareholders
in the general meeting. Any provision(s) of this Directors’ Remuneration Policy in contravention of any
applicable rules and regulation and any guidelines or circulars issued from time to time by the Securities
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP)/Regulators, the latter shall supersede and prevail over the
provisions contained in the Directors’ Remuneration Policy.

Matters Delegated to the Management

Responsibility forimplementing the strategies, conducting the routine business operations of the Company in
accordance with the strategies and goals as approved by the Board of Directors is the primary responsibility
of the Management. Management is also concerned in keeping the Board members updated regarding any
changes in the operating environment. It is also the responsibility of management, with the oversight of the
Board and its Audit Committee, to prepare financial statements that fairly present the financial position of
the Company in accordance with applicable accounting standards and legal requirements.

Governance Practices Exceeding Legal Requirements

Cyan Limited is proud to have successfully adapted practices to reflect the changing standards of evolving
governance regulations. Today we meet, and often exceed, all mandatory legal compliances under the
Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019, the Companies Act 2017 and other
applicable rules, regulations and standards. In addition, we have also carried out the following activities in
addition to the legal requirements;

e The requirement for a female director on the board of a listed company has been recently mandated by
the new Company laws. Cyan is already in compliance before the introduction of this requirement.

e (Cyan has developed and implemented health and safety standards to ensure to ensure proper safety of
its people and equipment.

Independent Director

The amendment in new law requires that the independent directors of each listed company shall not be less
than two members or one third of the total members of the board, whichever is higher. Cyan will comply
with this requirement after the director elections which will be conducted in the up coming AGM to be held
on May 21, 2020.
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Related Parties

Disclosure requirements of the 4th Schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 and applicable International
Financial Reporting Standards have been complied and presented in note 26 to the financial statements
presented afterwards in this annual report.

POLICY ON TRANSACTIONS/CONTRACTS WITH ASSOCIATED COMPANIES / RELATED PARTIES
CYAN Limited shall ensure that all transactions/contracts with related parties/subsidiary and associated
companies are carried out on arm’s length basis and in line with the market norm for all commercial
transactions. No undue favors shall be accorded to any related party/subsidiary and associated company
while entering into any transactions. All transactions with related parties/subsidiary and associated
companies shall be duly declared as per prescribed Regulations of SECP.

Statement of Managements Responsibility Towards the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements and Directors Compliance Statements

The Company, its Board of Directors and the management have always been keen to follow the standards
set down by governing institutions. In lights of the same strict compliance of all standards set out by ICAP,
the Companies Act, the international Accounting Reporting Standards have been adhered to and otherwise
good and responsible reporting has been our general practice.

Conflict of Interest Policy

Cyan Limited provides a code of conduct for all directors of the Company to avoid any conflicts of Interest
between the director and the Company. Any situation that involves, or may reasonably be expected to
involve, a conflict of interest with the Company, should be disclosed promptly to the Board of Directors.

This policy provides guidance on what constitutes a conflict of interest and how it will be managed and
monitored by the Company.

Directors should communicate any suspected violations of the above policy promptly to the Chairman of
the Audit Committee. Violations will be investigated by the Board or by persons designated by the Board,
and appropriate action will be taken in the event of any violations of the Code.

Human Resource Policies

The primary goal of our human resource department is to ensure that we have the right people at the right
time in the right position. Our HR department, through continuous consultation with other departments,
determines our future HR requirement. We then aim to meet such requirements through talent acquisition,
talent development and succession planning.

Our objective always remains to recruit dynamic people whose caliber and capabilities are best suited
for the job, which we conform to through our recruitment and selection process. In addition to recruiting
employees externally, we seek to meet our HR requirements through job rotations. This enables us to
create more career opportunities for our people and enhances both lateral and upward mobility in our
organization.

Our employees are reviewed against their job objectives annually depending on their job roles. Our
performance appraisal process enables us to emphasize on the growth of our employees as well as identify
their learning and career development needs. As a part of this process, through constructive dialogue, our
employees are also encouraged to work on areas where there is scope of improvement. We also get to
identify our high-potential employees for our succession-planning program. This process also helps us to
ensure that the contributions of our employees are properly recognized and appropriately rewarded.

Succession planning is critical to us, as it enables us to ensure leadership continuity and avoid extended
and costly leadership vacuum. We prefer to promote from within the organization so that we can create
greater career opportunities for our people.

The Company has a complete set of other HR policies referred as HR Manual for appointment and

commencement of service, Salary and other perquisites, Medical and Life Insurance facilities, Training and
development, Performance evaluation etc.
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Diversity Policy
Cyan is committed to fostering, cultivating and preserving a culture of diversity and inclusion.

Our human capital is the most valuable asset we have. The collective sum of the individual differences, life
experiences, knowledge, inventiveness, innovation, self-expression, unique capabilities and talent that our
employees invest in their work represents a significant part of not only our culture, but our reputation and
company’s achievement as well.

We embrace and encourage our employees’ differences in age, color, disability, ethnicity, family or marital
status, gender identity or expression, language, national origin, physical and mental ability, political affiliation,
race, religion, sexual orientation, socio-economic status, veteran status, and other characteristics that
make our employees unique.

Cyan’s diversity initiatives are applicable but not limited to our practices and policies on recruitment and
selection; compensation and benefits; professional development and training; promotions; transfers; social
and recreational programs; layoffs; terminations; and the ongoing development of a work environment built
on the premise of gender and diversity equity that encourages and enforces:

e Respectful communication and cooperation between all employees.

e Teamwork and employee participation, permitting the representation of all groups and employee
perspectives.

e Work/life balance through flexible work schedules to accommodate employees’ varying needs.

e Employer and employee contributions to the communities we serve to promote a greater
understanding and respect for the diversity.

Statement of Unreserved Compliance of International Financial

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)

Cyan Limited is preparing statutory financial statements in accordance with the IFRS issued by IASB as
notified under the Companies Act, 2017 including the disclosure requirements of fourth schedule.

In addition to this, note 3.2 to the financial statement specify few standards and interpretations which are

yet to be effective in Pakistan. The Company believes that that the impact of those referred in note 3.2 does
not have any material impact to the financial statements.
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Report of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has concluded its annual review of the conduct and operations of the Company
during 2019, and reports that:

The Company has issued a “Statement of Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance”
as stipulated in listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations 2019, which has
also been reviewed and certified by the Auditors of the Company.

Understanding and compliance with Company codes and policies has been affirmed by the
members of the Board, the Management and employees of the Company individually. Equitable
treatment of shareholders has also been ensured.

Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied except as disclosed in the
Annual Financial Statement for the year ended December 31, 2019. All cores & other applicable
International Accounting Standards were followed in preparation of financial statements of the
Company on a going concern basis, for the financial year ended December 31, 2019, which
present fairly the State of Affairs, Results of Operations, Profits, Cash Flows and Changes in
Equities of the Company for the year under review.

The Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer have reviewed the Financial Statements of
the Company and the Directors’ Report. They acknowledge their responsibility for true and fair
presentation of the Company’s financial condition and results, compliance with regulations and
applicable accounting standards and establishment and maintenance of internal controls and
systems of the Company.

Accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgments. Proper and adequate
accounting records have been maintained by the Company in accordance with Companies Act,
2017 and the external reporting is consistent with Management processes and adequate for
shareholder needs.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary. The Annual Secretarial Compliance
Certificates are being filed regularly within stipulated time.

Closed periods were duly determined and announced by the Company, limiting the Directors, the
Chief Executive and Executives of the Company from dealing in Company shares, prior to each
Board meeting involving announcement of interim / final results, distribution to shareholders or any
other business decision, which could materially affect the share market price of Company, along
with maintenance of confidentiality of all business information.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The internal control framework has been effectively implemented; the Board has established an
effective internal audit function within the Company.

The Company’s system of internal control is sound in design and has been continually evaluated
for effectiveness and adequacy.

The Audit Committee has ensured the achievement of operational, compliance, risk management,
financial reporting and control objectives, safeguarding of the assets of the Company and the
shareholders wealth at all levels within the Company.

The Internal Audit function has carried out its duties under the charter approved by the Committee.
The Committee has reviewed material Internal Audit findings, taking appropriate action or bringing
the matters to the Board'’s attention where required.
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e The Head of Internal Audit has direct access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and
the function has all necessary access to Management and the right to seek information and
explanations.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

* The statutory Auditors of the Company, A. F. Ferguson & Company, Chartered Accountants, have
completed their Audit assignment of the “Company’s Financial Statements” and the “Statement
of Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance” for the financial year ended December
31, 2019 and shall retire on the conclusion of the 60th Annual General Meeting.

*  The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the Audit Report with the External Auditors.

e The Auditors have been allowed direct access to the Committee and the effectiveness,
independence and objectivity of the Auditors has thereby been ensured. The Auditors attended
the Annual General Meetings of the Company during the year and have confirmed attendance of
the 60th Annual General Meeting scheduled for April 29, 2020 and have indicated their willingness
to continue as Auditors.

* The Audit Committee has recommended the appointment of A.F. Ferguson & Co. Chartered
Accountants as External Auditors of the Company for the year ending December 31, 2020.

Kamran Nishat
Karachi: February 21, 2020 Chairman - Audit Committee
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Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies
(Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019

CYAN LIMITED

Year Ended December 31, 2019

The company has complied with the requirements of the Regulations in the following manner:

1.

10.

11.

12.

The total number of directors are seven (07) as per the following:

a. Male: 06
b. Female: 01

The composition of board is as follows:

Category ‘ Names

*Independent Director Kamran Nishat

Non-executive Directors Inam ur Rahman
Hasan Reza-Ur Rahim
Shafig Ahmed

Executive Directors Sulaiman S. Mehdi
Faisal Nadeem

Female Director Kulsum Dawood

The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than seven listed
companies, including this company;

The company has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been
taken to disseminate it throughout the company along with its supporting policies and procedures;

The Board has developed a vision/mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies
of the company. The Board has ensured that complete record of particulars of the significant policies
along with their date of approval or updating is maintained by the company;

All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been taken
by Board/ shareholders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these Regulations;

The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director
elected by the Board for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of Act and the
Regulations with respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meeting of the Board;

The Board have a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in accordance
with the Act and these Regulations;

The company is compliant in respect of certification of all directors under the Director’s Training program;

The Board has approved appointment of chief financial officer and company secretary and head of
internal audit, including their remuneration and terms and conditions of employment and complied with
relevant requirements of the Regulations;

Chief financial officer and chief executive officer duly endorsed the financial statements before approval
of the Board;

The board has formed committees comprising of members given below:
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13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

a) Audit Committee

Name Designation Category

Mr. Kamran Nishat Chairman Independent Director
Mr. Inam Ur Rahman Member Non-Executive Director
Mr. Shafig Ahmed Member Non-Executive Director

b) Human Resource and Remuneration Committee

Name Designation Category

Mr. Kamran Nishat Chairman Independent Director
Mr. Hasan Reza Ur Rahim Member Non-Executive Director
Mr. Inam Ur Rahman Member Non-Executive Director

c) Investment Committee

Name Designation Category

Mr. Hasan Reza Ur Rahim Chairman Non-Executive Director
Mr. Inam Ur Rahman Member Non-Executive Director
Mr. Shafig Ahmed Member Non-Executive Director

The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and advised to
the committee for compliance;

The frequency of meetings (quarterly/half yearly/ yearly) of the committee were as per following:

a) Audit Committee: 05 meetings held during the year ended December 31, 2019;
b) HR and Remuneration Committee: 01 meeting held during the year ended December 31, 2019.
c) Investment Committee: 03 meetings held during the year ended December 31, 2019.

The Board has set up an effective internal audit function managed by a suitably qualified and experi-
enced professional who is conversant with the policies and procedures of the Company;

The statutory auditors of the company have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory rating
under the Quality Control Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and
registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they and all their partners are in compliance with
International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and that they and the partners of the firm involved in the audit
are not a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent and non-dependent children) of the chief executive
officer, chief financial officer, head of internal audit, company secretary or director of the company;

The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide other
services except in accordance with the Act, these regulations or any other regulatory requirement and
the auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard; and

We confirm that all requirements of regulations 3, 6, 7, 8, 27,32, 33 and 36 of the Regulations have
been complied with.

Karachi: February 24, 2020 HASAN REZA UR RAHIM

Chairman
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REVIEW REPORT
To the members of Cyan Limited

Review Report on the Statement of Compliance contained in Listed Companies (Code ol
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate
Governance) Regulations, 2019 prepared by the Board of Directors of Cyan Limited (the Company) for the
year ended December 31, 2019 in accordance with the requirements of regulation 36 of the Listed
Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulutions, 2010,

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of the Board of Directors of the Company,
Dur responsibility iz to review whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company™s
complhance with the provisions of the Regulations and report if it does not and bo highlight any non-
compliance with the requirements of the Regulations. A review is limited primanily to inguiries of the
Cump[;u'_r's personnel and review of various documents prepared by the Company to comply with the
Regulations,

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the
accounting and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective sudit
approach. We are not required to consider whether the Board of Directors” statement on internal control
covers all risks and controls or to form an opinton on the effectiveness of such internal controls, the
Company’s corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Regulations require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, und upon recommendation of
the Audit Committes, place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval, its related poarty
transactions and also ensure compliance with the requirements of section 208 of the Companies Act, 2017.
We are only required and have ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the approval of the
related party transactions by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the Audit Commitiee. We
have not carried out procedures to assess and determine the Company’s process for identification of related
parties and that whether the related party transactions were undertaken at arm’s length price or not.

Bazed om our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Statement of
Complinnce does not appropriately reflect the Company's compliance, in all material respects, with the

requirements contained in the Regulations s applicable to the Company for the year ended December 31,
2019,

K g

A F, Ferguson & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Karachi

Dated: March 13, 2020

A. F, FERGUSDN & O, Chartered Acvownlants, o mannbr firm rllﬂllr Pl netaork
Stale Life Buflding No. 1-C. LE Chundrigar Rood, PO, Box 4706, Karochi-7g0o0, Pakistan
Tud: +02 (21) 334266030/ 32 42671 1-5; Fux: =08 [21) 3040 50807 324270 R 2240470 <Ieier P oo, ks
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TOTHE MEMEERS OF CYAN LIMITED

Report on the Andit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed financial statements of Cyan Limited (the Company), which comprizes the
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and
ather explanatory information, and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations
which, to the best of cur knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of the audit.

In our opinion and ta the best of our information and eccording to the explanations given to us, the
statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss and other comprebensive income, the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows together with the notes forming part thereof
conform with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and give the information
required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017), in the manner 0 required and respectively give a true
and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at December 31, 2019 and of the profit, other
comprehensive income, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the vear then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conduected our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in
Pakistan. Dur responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Staterments section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Aceountants’ Code of Ethies for Professional
Accountants as adopted by the Institote of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Aundit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the eurrent period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Following are the Key Audit Matters:

(i} |Investments
{ Refer note g to the financial statements)

The total assets “fl"h:ﬁg?mm aggregate to Bs, Our avdit procedures ineluded:

2,522 million out of which investments amoonts o ; ) ‘ " .
Ra 2368 million. These investments are measared *  Reviewed miﬁ;ﬂ‘i : and :::I:Edrb:h: ng;m&;
| at Fair value through profit or boss, fair value through _:H::':.Iiu:nul': €y con |
ather comprehensive income and amortised cost. PRI

A
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A, F. FERGUSON & OO0, Chartered Accountants, @ rnember firm of the PwC mefwoark
State Life Muilding No, 1-C, LI, Chundrigar Road, P.0O, Box 4716, Karachi-74o00, Pakistan
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(i)
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Kwﬂnﬂl‘tum

averall satement of financial position of the
ﬂnm]:l.un}' as ot December 31, 201, the valuation of
these investments in accordance with the adopted
sccounting policy was & significant visk and |
considered a key audit matter.

IFRS = 16 Leases
{Refor note 5.1.3 o the financial statements)

t}btmnaﬂ lﬂﬂ!p!ﬂﬂtﬂl mtnEIrmalmns im' uenl}ung
the existence of the investment portfolio as at
December 51, 2019 and reconcled [t with the books
and records of the Company;

Re-performed valuation to assess that investments

are carried as per the valustion methodology
specified in the astounting policies: and

Reviewed the presentation and disciosures related
o investments and assessed whether it complied
with the applicable financial reporting framewark.

The Company has adopted IFRS 18 "Leases™ with Our audit procedures inclueded the following:

effect from Jenuary 1, 2019, [FRS 16 introduces a|
isingle on-balance sheet lease pocounting model for

leases entersd into by the lessees. A lesses recognbses

aright-of-use psset répresenting its right of using the
underlying asset and a corresponding lease liability s

representing its obligations to make lease pavments.

\On adoption of IFRS 16, the Company has changed

its aceounting poalicy for operating leazes which are
o recognised on the statement of fnancial
position. The Company has accordingly recorded

right-of-use asset and lease lisbility amounting to ®
Rs. 23447 million as ot Jonuary 1, 2009. The
comparatives figures for the 2018 reporting period

have nmot been restated, as permitted under the

‘apeciflc transitional previgions of the standard

The adeption of IFRS 16 involves estimation and |
judgement. Because of the significance of the impact ®

of these judgements / estimates, we considered this
ared a5 o key audit matter.

Obtained an understanding of the management's
process for identification of agreements which
eontain leasing armangements.

Evaluated the selection of accounting policies and
methoedology followed by the management for
determination and measurement of right-of-ame
asset, corresponding lesse llabilitles and other
related Impacts.

Tested the umderdying data used by the
management  from  the lease coptmact  for
determination of the right-of-use asset and
corresponding fease Babilities. Purther, performed
re-compaotation  to  assess  the  sccursey  of
computation performed by the management,

Assessed whether the presentation and disclosures
relating to the adoption of IFRS 16 in the financial
staterments are in compliance with the applicable
financial reporting framework

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not inclede the financial statements and our auditor’s report
therson.

Onr apinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with cur andit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the ether information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information i materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge ohtained in the audit or atherwise appears to ba materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard,

Respansibilities of Management and Board of DHrectors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of
the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error,

Al
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In prr.purlng the finaneial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as & going i:nnr:em.d‘iuluslnp.. as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basiz of accounting unless management either intends to liguidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative buk to do s0.

The Board of directors are respansible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process,
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
ineludes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with [5As as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraod or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 15As as applicable in Pakistan, we exercize professional judgement
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the andit. We also:

= [dentify and ossess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from frand is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal comtrol,

=  Ohbrain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

= Evaluate the appropristeness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the andit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclwde that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements ar, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion, Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence ebtained up to the date of our auditor's
report, However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going
COTCETT.

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our andit.

We also provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determing those matters that were of most
gignificance in the audit of the financial staterments of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We desceribe these matters in our auditer’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 3 matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 50 would reasonahbly be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

M.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

{a} proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX
of 2017}

{b) the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows together with the notes thereon have
been drawn up in conformity with the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and are in agreement with
the books of acconnt and returmns;

{e) investments made and expenditure incurred during the year were for the purpose of the Company's
business; and

(d} zakat deductible at 2ource under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980}, was deducted
by the Company and deposited in the Central Zakat Fund established under section 7 of that Ordinance.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent anditor's report is Shahbaz Akbar.

Apopemen

Chartered Accountants
Karachi

Date: March 13, 2020



Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2019

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Deferred taxation

Long term investment
Long term loans

Long term deposits

Current assets

Short term investments

Long term loans - current portion
Trade and other receivables

Advances and short-term prepayments
Cash and bank balances

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital and reserves

Authorised share capital

100,000,000 (2018: 100,000,000) Ordinary shares
of Rs. 10 each

Issued, subscribed and paid-up share capital
Unappropriated profit
Reserves
Remeasurement on post retirement benefits
obligation - net of tax
Surplus on revaluation of investments carried at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Non-current liabilities
Deferred liability - gratuity
Lease liability against right-of-use asset

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Current portion of lease liability against right-of-use asset
Unclaimed dividend

Short term borrowings

Taxation - net

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Note

10
11
12

13

14

15

17

18

19

2019

2018

(Rupees in '000)

39,236 13,405
109 66
83,815 74,051
42,248 -
4,282 6,154
2,500 2,500
172,190 96,176
2,325,275 2,108,946
2,094 2,330
11,976 43,772
8,298 3,291
1,869 9,570
2,349,512 2,167,909
2,521,702 2,264,085
1,000,000 1,000,000
586,277 586,277
757,785 659,843
133,088 133,088
(384) (1,855)
639,564 456,777
2,116,330 1,834,130
17,358 15,281
9,143 -
26,501 15,281
68,174 38,549
8,023 -
26,727 32,599
195,446 218,146
80,501 125,380
378,871 414,674
2.521,702 2,264,085

The annexed notes 1 to 36 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Faisal Nadeem Sulaiman S. Mehdi
Chief Financial Officer Chief Executive
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other

Comprehensive Income

For the year ended December 31, 2019

Return on investments
Gain on sale of investments - net
Other income
Unrealised diminution on re-measurement of investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss - net
EXPENSES
Operating and administrative expenses
Financial charges
Profit / (loss) before taxation
Taxation - current year
- prior year
- deferred
Net profit / (loss) for the year after taxation

Other comprehensive income for the year

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Note

20

21

22
23

24
24
24

Surplus on revaluation of investments carried at fair value through

other comprehensive income

Remeasurement of post retirement benefits obligation - net of tax

ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Deficit on revaluation of available-for-sale securities

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year

Basic and diluted earnings / (loss) per share

31

2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

99,841 96,899
137,591 228,757
15,695 12,422
253,127 338,078
(2,298) (419,717)
250,829 (81,639)
(144,493) (114,674)
(11,463) (14,689)
(155,956) (129,363)
94,873 (211,002)
(20,400) (29,060)
13,105 -
10,364 21,976
3.069 (7,084)
97,942 (218,086)
182,787 -
1,471 287

- (71,595)
282,200 (289,394)

(Rupees)
1.67 (3.72)

The annexed notes 1 to 36 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Faisal Nadeem Sulaiman S. Mehdi
Chief Financial Officer Chief Executive

Kamran Nishat
Director
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Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended December 31, 2019

Balance as at January 1, 2018

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for
the year ended December 31, 2018

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss

Transactions with owners recorded
directly in equity

Interim Dividend of Rs. 2.5 per share for the
half year ended June 30, 2018
Balance as at December, 31 2018

Total comprehensive income for
the year ended December 31, 2019

Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Balance as at December 31, 2019

Share capital Capital reserves Revenue reserves Remeasur- Surp!us/
(deficit) on
ement .
revaluation of
Issued, [Reserve for| Capital on post investments
L . ; General |Unappropr-| retirement : Total
subscribed |exceptional| gain ; . ' at fair value
: reserve |iated profit| benefits
and paid-up| losses | reserve obligation - through other
9 comprehensive
net of tax .
income
(Rupees in ‘000)
586,277 10,535 2,553 120,000 1,024,498 (2,142) 528,372 2,270,093
- - (218,086) - | (218,086)
- - - 287 (71,695)[  (71,308)
- - (218,086) 287 (71,695) (289,394)
- - (146,569 - (146,569)
586,277 10,5635 2,653 120,000 659,843 (1,855) 456,777 1,834,130
- - - - 97,942 - -| 97,942
- - - - - 1,471 182,787 | 184,258
- - - - 97,942 1,471 182,787 282,200
586,277 10,535 2,553 120,000 757,785 (384) 639,564 2,116,330

The annexed notes 1 to 36 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Faisal Nadeem
Chief Financial Officer
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Chief Executive

Kamran Nishat
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Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit / (loss) before taxation

Adjustment for non cash charges and other items:

Depreciation on owned fixed asset

Depreciation on right-of-use asset

Amortisation

(Gain) / loss on sale of property and equipment

Capital gain on sale of investments - net

Amortisation of premium on government securities

Financial charges

Net unrealised dimunition on revaluation of investments
classified as at fair value through profit or loss

Operating loss before working capital changes

Decrease / (increase) in operating assets
Trade and other receivables
Long term loans
Advances and short-term prepayments

Increase in operating liabilities

Deferred liability
Trade and other payables

Net cash generated from / (used in) operations

Taxes paid

Financial charges paid
Dividend paid
Net cash used in operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of investments

Investment in securities

Capital expenditure incurred

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Net cash generated from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal portion of lease liability against right-of-use asset

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Note

12.2

2019

2018

(Rupees in '000)

94,873 (211,002)
5,306 2,618
8,039 -

98 71

(990) 23
(137,591) (228,757)
(3,235) (3,042)
11,463 14,689
2,298 419,717
(114,612) 205,319
(19,739) (5,683)
31,796 (27,530)
2108 1,979
(5,007) 248
28,897 (25,303)
4,149 3,486
29,625 23,533
33,774 27,019
42,932 (3,967)
(52,174) (121,489)
(12,345) (8,743)
(5,872) (144.,641)
(27,459) (278,840)
4,946,983 5,921,043
(4,884,246) (5,848,607)
(16,506) (1,243)
1,626 148
47,857 71,341
(6,281) -
14,117 (207,499)
(199,230) 8,269
(185,113) (199,230)

The annexed notes 1 to 36 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Faisal Nadeem
Chief Financial Officer

Sulaiman S. Mehdi
Chief Executive

Kamran Nishat

Director
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2019

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

LEGAL STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

Cyan Limited (“the Company”), a DH Group Company, is a Public Limited Company incorporated
in Pakistan on April 23, 1960 under the Companies Act, 1913 (now Companies Act, 2017). The
Company is listed on the Pakistan Stock Exchange. The registered office of the Company is situated
at 4th Floor Dawood Centre, Molvi Tamizuddin Khan Road, Karachi. The Company is a subsidiary of
Dawood Corporation (Private) Limited (the Parent Company).

The Company is engaged in making equity investments in companies with high growth potential.
BASIS OF PREPARATION
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting
standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan
comprise of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.

Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS
Standards, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been followed.

Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
investments which are measured at fair value as described in note 4.5 and certain staff retirement
benefits which are carried at present value as described in note 4.12.

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupees, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency and have been rounded off to the nearest thousand rupees.

Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the approved accounting and reporting
standards requires the management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. It also requires the management to
exercise judgment in application of its accounting policies. The estimates, judgments and associated
assumptions are based on the management’s experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate
is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods. The areas where various assumptions and estimates
are significant to the Company’s financial statements or where judgment was exercised in application
of accounting policies are as follows:

(@) Classification of investments (note 4.5 and 9).
(b) Accounting for defined benefit plan (note 4.12 and 15).
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3.1

3.1.1

(c) Depreciation / amortisation of operating fixed assets and intangible assets (note 4.1, 4.6, 6 and 7)
(d) Provision for taxation (current and prior years) and deferred taxation (note 4.3, 16 and 24)

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED APPROVED
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Standards, Interpretations and Amendments to Published Approved Accounting Standards
that are effective in the current period and other changes in accounting policy

IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2019.
IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities and replaces the guidance in IAS 39 that relates to the classification and measurement of
financial instruments. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes
three primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCI) and fair value through profit or loss. The basis of classification depends
on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss with
the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value or other comprehensive income
(OCI) without recycling. There is now a new expected credit loss model that replaces the incurred
loss impairment model used in IAS 39. The management believes that the impact of ‘Expected
Credit Losses (ECL)’ on the assets of the company would not be material.

The Company has made an irrevocable election on initial recognition, on an instrument-by-
instrument basis on equities categorized under Available for sale, to present changes in fair value in
other comprehensive income rather than profit or loss (except for equities that give the Company
significant influence over an investee according to IAS 28, however the company may account for
those investments under IFRS 9 if they are measured at “fair value through profit or loss”). When
this election is used, fair value gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Accordingly, investments carried as
available for sale have been designated as investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

The effect of this change in accounting policy is as follows:

As at
December As at As at
31,2018 (as|| Change January 1, || December
previously 2019 31,2019
stated)
----------------- (Rupees in ‘000)-----------------
Impact on Statement of Financial Position
Investments - ‘Loans and receivables’ 3,000 (3,000) - -
Investments - ‘At amortised cost’ - 3,000 3,000 3,000
Investments - ‘Available for Sale’ 574,719 (674,719) - -
Investments - ‘Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income’ - 574,719 574,719 757,506
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2019

3.1.2

3.1.3

124

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
July 1, 2018. This standard deals with revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporting
useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty
of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is recognized
when a customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the ability to direct the use and
obtain the benefits from the good or service. The standard replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and IAS 11
‘Construction contracts’ and related interpretations. Based on the analysis of the Company’s current
revenue activities, adoption of IFRS 15 does not have a significant impact on the company’s profit or
loss.

IFRS 16: ‘Leases’, became effective from annual period beginning on or after January 1, 2019.

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company has adopted IFRS 16, “Leases” which replaces existing
guidance on accounting for leases, including IAS 17 ‘Leases’, IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an
arrangement contains a Lease’, SIC-15 ‘Operating Leases- Incentive and SIC-27 ‘Evaluating the
substance of transactions involving the legal form of a Lease’. IFRS 16 introduces a single, on balance
sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset representing its
right-of-use of the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligations to make lease
payments. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current standard i.e. lessors continue to classify
leases as finance or operating leases.

The Company has adopted IFRS 16 retrospectively from January 1, 2019, but has not restated
comparatives for the 2018 reporting period, as permitted under the specific transitional provisions
in the standard. The impact of adoption of this standard is therefore recognised in the opening
statement of financial position on January 1, 2019. The accounting polices relating to Company right
of use asset and lease liability are disclosed in note 4.2.

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Company recognised lease liabilities which had previously been
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of IAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were measured
at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the Company’s incremental
borrowing rate as of January 1, 2019. The Company’s weighted average incremental borrowing rate
applied to the lease liabilities on January 1, 2019 was 12.91% per annum.

December January 1,
31, 2019 2019
(Rupees in ‘000)

Total lease liability recognised against right-of-use asset 17,166 23,447

The right-of-use asset is measured at an amount equal to the lease liability adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the statement of financial
position as at December 31, 2019.
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The recognised right-of-use asset relate to the following type of asset:
December 31, January 1,
2019 2019
(Rupees in ‘000)

Property and equipment 15,408 23,447

The effect of this change in accounting policy is as follows:

Impact on Statement of Financial Position

- Increase in Property and equipment - right-of-use asset 15,408 23,447
- Increase in deferred tax asset 510 -
- Increase in total assets 15,918 23,447
- Increase in lease liability against right-of-use asset 17,166 23,447
- Decrease in net assets 1,248 -

Impact on Profit and Loss account
- Increase in financial charges - interest expense on lease

liability against right-of-use asset 2,354
- Increase in operating and administrative expenses -

depreciation on right of use asset 8,039
- Decrease in operating and administrative expenses - rent

and taxes (8,635)
- Decrease in profit before tax (1,758)
- Tax charge @ 29% 510
- Decrease in profit after tax (1,248)

Rupees

- Decrease in earnings per share - Rupees __ (0.02)

3.1.4 During the current year, the Company has also changed its accounting policy in respect of the
presentation of components of ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ by including a single statement titled
‘Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income’. Previously, these components
were shown in a separate statement titled ‘Statement of Profit or Loss’ and ‘Statement of Other
Comprehensive Income’. As a result of the above change, single statement is now being presented
i.e. ‘Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income’. This change in accounting policy
has been made for better presentation and has been applied retrospectively.

3.2 Standards, Interpretations and Amendments to Published Approved Accounting Standards
that are not yet effective

The following amendments would be effective from the dates mentioned below against the respective

amendment:
Effective date
(accounting period
beginning on or after)
Amendments
- IAS 1 - ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (amendment) January 1, 2020
- IAS 8 - ‘Accounting policies, change in accounting January 1, 2020

estimates and errors’ (amendment)

The management is currently in the process of assessing the full impact of these amendments on the
financial statements of the Company.

Annual Report 2019 125



Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2019

4.1

411

4.2

There are certain other standards and amendments to the published standards that are not yet
effective and are also not relevant to the Company’s financial statements and operations and
therefore, have not been presented in these financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years except for the change in
accounting policy as explained in note 3.1.1, 3.1.3 and 3.1.4 above.

Property and Equipment
Tangible

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Maintenance and normal repairs are charged to the profit or loss as and when incurred.
Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is possible that the future economic benefits associated with the items will
flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation on tangible fixed assets is charged to the profit or loss by applying the reducing balance
method except in the case of cell phones in which case the straight line method is applied, whereby
the depreciable amount of an asset is written-off over its estimated useful life at the rates specified
in note 6. Depreciation is charged on additions from the date the asset is available for use whereas
depreciation on disposals is charged till the date of disposal.

An item of fixed asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate at
each financial year end. Gain or loss on disposal of fixed assets is charged to the profit or loss.

Intangibles

Intangible assets comprise software license, and are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Amortisation is charged over the useful life of the asset
on a systematic basis to profit or loss by applying the straight line method at the rates specified in
note 7 to the financial statements.

Lease liability and right-of-use asset

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based
on whether the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at
the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Company.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate.
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4.3

4.3.1

4.3.2

4.4

Lease payments include fixed payments, variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees, the exercise price
of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option, less any lease
incentives receivable. The extension and termination options are incorporated in determination of
lease term only when the Company is reasonably certain to exercise these options.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in fixed lease
payments or an index or rate, change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of whether it
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. The corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-to-use asset, or is recorded in profit and loss if the carrying amount
of right-to-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured based on the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted
for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentive received. The right-of-
use asset is depreciated on a straight line method over the lease term as this method most closely
reflects the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits. The right-of-use asset is
reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the
profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive
income or equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity respectively.

Current

Provision for current taxation is based on taxable income at the enacted or substantively enacted
rates of taxation after taking into account available tax credits and rebates, if any. The charge for
current tax includes adjustments to charge for prior years, if any.

Deferred

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using the enacted
or substantively enacted rates of taxation.

The Company recognises a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits for
the foreseeable future will be available against which the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and at banks, stamps in hand, deposits, short
term placements with banks and short term borrowings which form an integral part of the Company’s
cash management and are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose
of the statement of cash flows.
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4.5

4.51

4.5.2

4.5.3

4.6

4.6.1

4.6.2
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Investments

The management of the Company determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the
time of purchase and classifies its investments as at fair value through profit or loss, fair value through
other comprehensive income and amortised cost. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the investments were acquired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are those financial assets which are either designated
in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. A gain or loss on investment that is
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it arises.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets
and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On adoption of IFRS-9, the Company has made an irrevocable election in respect of equity securities
categorized under Available for sale, to present changes in fair value in other comprehensive income
rather than profit or loss. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are held within a business model whose objective is to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial
assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding. Interest income from these financial assets, impairment losses
and gain or loss arising on derecognition are recognised directly in profit or loss.

Impairment
Financial assets

The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its
financial assets carried at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.

Non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Non-financial assets that suffer an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include investments, deposits,
loans, advances, cash and bank, sundry receivables, loans to employees, accrued expenses, other
creditors and accruals, unclaimed dividends and short term borrowings.

Financial assets are recognised at the time the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. These are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except
for financial assets carried ‘at fair value through profit or loss’. Financial assets carried ‘at fair value
through profit or loss’ are initially recognised at fair value and transactions costs are recognised in the
profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership. Any gain or loss on derecognition of financial assets is taken to the profit or
loss except for investment in equity securities classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income.

Financial liabilities are recognised at the time when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. These are initially recognised at fair values and subsequently stated at
amortised cost.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
expired. Any gain or loss on derecognition of financial liabilities is taken to the profit or loss.

Off-setting of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the financial statements only
when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amount and the Company intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Trade and other payables

Liabilities for creditors and other amounts payable are carried at cost which is the fair value of the
consideration to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not billed to the
Company.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions
are reviewed at each statement of financial position date and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate.

Revenue recognition

Return on Investments

i) Dividend income on equity securities is recognised in the profit or loss when the right to receive
the dividend is established.
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4121

4.12.2

4.12.3

4.13

4.14

i) Realised capital gain / (losses) arising on sale of investments classified as financial assets ‘at
fair value through profit or loss’ are recognised in the profit or loss on the date at which the
transaction takes place.

iii) Unrealised capital gains / (losses) arising on mark to market of investments classified as ‘Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss’ and at ‘fair value through other comprehensive income’
are recognised in the profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they
arise.

iv) Income on government securities is recognised on time proportion basis using the effective yield
method.

Other income

v) Income on long term loans, bank deposits and placements is recognised on accrual basis.

vi) Income on advisory services is recognised on delivery of services.

Employee Benefits

Defined contribution plan

The Company operates a recognised contributory provident fund scheme for all its eligible
employees. Equal contributions are made by the Company and the employees at the rate of 15%
of the basic salary.

Defined benefit plan

The Company operates an unfunded approved gratuity scheme for all permanent employees
who have completed the minimum qualifying period of service. Contributions to the scheme
are made in accordance with an independent actuarial valuation using the Projected Unit Credit
Method. Amounts arising as a result of remeasurements, representing actuarial gains and losses
are recognised directly in equity through ‘other comprehensive income’ as they occur. The latest
actuarial valuation of the scheme has been carried out as at December 31, 2019.

Employees’ compensated absences

The Company accounts for the liability in respect of employees compensated absences in the
period in which they are earned.

Regular way contracts

Regular purchases and sale of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, the date on which
the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Earnings per share (EPS)

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic
EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for
own shares held. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own
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4.15

4.16

417

4.18

shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes
and share options granted to employees.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates prevailing on the date of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the reporting date. Exchange gains or losses, if any, are taken to the profit or loss.

Dividend declaration and reserve appropriations

Dividend distribution and reserve appropriations are recorded in the period in which the distribution
and appropriations are approved.

Segment Reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from
which it may earn revenues and incurs expenses that relates to transactions with any of the other
components of the entity.

The Board of Directors and Chief executive have been identified as the Chief operating decision
makers who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing the performance of the operating
segments. Currently the Company is functioning as single operating segment .

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a separate major line of business, which is a distinct part of the
business both operationally and for financial reporting purposes and which is in the process of
being discontinued by the entity. When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the
comparative income statement is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the
start of the comparative period.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In 2011, the Board of Directors and shareholders of the Company in their respective meetings
held on January 27, 2011 and March 10, 2011 had approved a business restructuring plan (BRP),
by virtue of which the Company discontinued its insurance business and continues to undertake
only strategic and portfolio investment business and investments in other financial instruments. On
November 30, 2011, the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP), in exercise of
its powers under section 9 (2) of the Insurance Ordinance, 2000, de-registered the Company as an
insurer and revoked its insurance license to carry on insurance business.
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6 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture . .
and oliifes Vehicles el Total
fixtures equipment use asset
————————————————————————— (Rupees in ‘000) - -- -- --

Year ended December 31, 2019
Opening net book value 8,705 2,401 2,299 - 13,405
Adoption of IFRS 16 (note 3.1.3) - - - 23,447 23,447
Additions during the year 403 3,333 12,629 - 16,365
Disposals during the year

Cost - (1,851) (1,518) - (3,369)

Accumulated deprciation - 1,530 1,203 - 2,733

- (321) (315) - (636)

Depreciation charge for the year (879) (1,709) (2,718) (8,039) (13,345)
Closing net book value 8,229 3,704 11,895 15,408 39,236
As at December 31, 2019
Cost 16,812 12,077 15,381 23,447 67,717
Accumulated depreciation (8,583) (8,373) (3,486) (8,039) (28,481)
Closing net book value 8,229 3,704 11,895 15,408 39,236
Year ended December 31, 2018
Opening net book value 9,626 2,448 2,877 - 14,951
Additions during the year 42 1,201 - - 1,243
Disposals during the year

Cost - (1,047) (39) - (1,086)

Accumulated depreciation - 879 36 - 915

- (168) 3) - (171)

Depreciation charge for the year (963) (1,080) (575) - (2,618)
Closing net book value 8,705 2,401 2,299 - 13,405
As at December 31, 2018
Cost 16,409 10,595 4,270 - 31,274
Accumulated depreciation (7,704) (8,194) (1,971) - (17,869)
Closing net book value 8,705 2,401 2,299 - 13,405
Rate of depreciation 10% 33% & 50% 20% 33%
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7.1

8.1

8.2

8.3

Computer Software

2019 2018

INTANGIBLE ASSETS Note (Rupees in '000)
Year ended December 31
Opening net book value 66 137
Additions during the year 141 -
Disposals during the year

Cost - -

Accumulated amortisation - -
Amortisation charge for the year (98) (71)
Closing net book value 109 66
As at December 31
Cost 7,209 7,068
Accumulated amortisation (7,100) (7,002)
Closing net book value 7.1 109 66
Rate of amortisation 33.33% 33.33%

Included in cost of intangibles are fully amortised items which are still in use aggregating to
Rs. 7.068 million (2018: Rs. 6.86 million).

LONG TERM LOANS

Considered good

-due from executives 8.1 6,376 8,484
6,376 8,484

Current portion of long-term loans (2,094) (2,330)
4,282 6,154

House loans given to Sulaiman S. Mehdi (Chief Executive Officer) and Faisal Nadeem (Chief Financial
Officer), which are repayable in ten years in equal monthly installments at a mark-up of 6% per
annum. The loans have been provided against collateral of property documents.

Following is the movement of long term loans to employees:

Long term

Opening balance 8,484 10,463
Repayments (2,330) (2,330)
Add: Interest receivable 222 351
Closing balance 8.3 6,376 8,484

The maximum aggregate amount of loans and advances outstanding at any time since the previous
statement of financial position was Rs. 8.484 million (2018 : Rs. 10.463 million).
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9.1

9.2

9.2.1

9.2.1.1

Note 2019 2018
INVESTMENT (Rupees in ‘000)
Long term investment 9.1 42,248 -
Short term investment 9.2 2,325,275 2,108,946
2,367,523 2,108,946
Long term investment
Financial assets carried at amortised cost 9.1.1&9.1.2 42,248 -

These are five year Pakistan Investment Bonds placed with the State Bank of Pakistan as statutory
deposit in accordance with the requirements of clause (a) of sub section 2 of section 29 of the
Insurance Ordinance, 2000. The Pakistan Investment Bonds have a face value of Rs. 50 million and
market value of Rs. 45.151 million as at December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018: Nil). These will
be released once the outstanding claims and balances relating to insurance business are settled.

These carry a profit yield at 13.71% per annum (December 31, 2018: Nil) payable at six month
interval. These PIB’s are maturing on July 12, 2023.

Short term investments

Financial assets comprise of the following:

- Investments carried at amortised cost 9.2.1 10,500 47,979
- Investments carried at fair value through other

comprehensive income 9.2.2 757,506 574,719

- Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss 9.2.3 1,557,269 1,486,248

2,325,275 2,108,946

Investments carried at amortised cost

Treasury bills - 44,979
Deposits maturing within one month 9.2.1.1 3,000 3,000
Deposits maturing within one year 9.21.2 7,500 -

10,500 47,979

These ‘Term Deposit Receipts’ carry mark-up at 11.25% per annum (2018: 8.00% per annum) and
are due to mature on January 10, 2020.

9.2.1.2 These “Term Deposit Receipts’ carry mark-up at 11.7% per annum (2018: Nil) and are due to

9.2.2

mature on June 24, 2020.

Market Value
2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

Investments carried at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Un-quoted shares 9.2.2.1 - -
Un-quoted debentures 9222 - -
Quoted shares - related parties 9.2.2.3 757,506 574,719

757,506 574,719
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9.2.2.1

9.2.2.1.1

9.2.2.2

9.2.2.3

9.2.2.3.1

9.2.3

Un-quoted Shares

Note Number of Shares Cost
Name of investee company 31-Dec-19 || 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-19 || 31-Dec-18
Rupees in '000'
Bankers Equity Limited 9.2.2.1.1 13,465 13,465 117 117
Cost as on December 31 117 117

Less: Provision for Impairment (117) (117)
Carrying Value - -

The company is in the process of liquidation, therefore, the name of the Chief Executive is not
available.

Un-quoted debentures

Cost
31-Dec-19][ 31-Dec-18
Rupees in '000'

Number of Bonds
31-Dec-19][ 31-Dec-18

Name of investee company

Hyson Sugar Mills Limited 120 120 60 60
Cost as on December 31 60 60
Less: Provision for Impairment (60) (60)
Carrying Value - =
Quoted Shares - Related Parties
Number of Shares Cost Market value
Name of investee company Note [31-Dec-19]| 31-Dec-18 |[31-Dec-19][31-Dec-19]| 31-Dec-18
————————————— Rupees in '000"-------------
Inv. Bank / inv. Cos / Sec. Cos
Dawood Hercules
Corporation Limited 9.2.2.3.1 794,380 794,380 47,652 122,501 88,295
Equity held: 0.17% (2018: 0.17%)
Textile Composite
Dawood Lawrencepur Limited 2,965,095 2,965,095 222,111 635,005 486,424
Equity held: 5.02% (2018: 5.02%)
269,763 757,506 574,719
Less: Provision for Impairment (151,821)
Carrying Value 117,942
Market Value as at December 31, 2019 757,506
Unrealised gain 639,564

0.794 million shares (2018: 0.794 million shares) of Dawood Hercules Corporation Limited having a market
value of Rs. 122.501 million (2018: Rs. 88.295 million) as at December 31, 2019 have been pledged as
collateral in favor of MCB Bank Limited against running finance facility obtained from the said bank.

Market Value

Note

Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss

Quoted shares
Mutual funds

2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

9.2.3.1 1,554,984 1,483,399
9.2.3.2 2,285 2,849
1,557,269 1,486,248
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9.2.3.1

9.2.3.1.1

9.23.1.2

Quoted Shares

Investment
Name of investee company Note Number of Shares Vi ?’ 9 Market Value percentage p?rce%?ge
gue of total Of paic-up
value of qapltal of
Investment ér;\::sta?"e
31-Dec-19 _31-Dec-18 _31-Dec-19 _ 31-Dec-19__ 31-Dec-18 pany
-------------- RlUprEEs 000 ===mmmmmmm=n
Cement
Lucky Cement Limited 200,000 525,000 84,777 85,680 228,202 3.62% 0.06%
Maple Leaf Cement Factory Limited - 384,000 - - 15,610 - -
84,777 85,680 243,812 3.62%
Chemical
Biafo Industries Limited - 229,800 - - 49,235
Commercial Banks
Bank AlFalah Limited 9.231.1& 5,000,000 5,000,000 207,496 228,500 202,950 9.65% 0.28%
9.2.3.1.2
Faysal Bank Limited 9.2.3.13 8,305,000 10,000,000 198,516 157,961 240,700 6.67% 0.55%
Habib Bank Limited 1,000,000 - 159,982 157,420 - 6.65% 0.07%
Meezan Bank Limited 2,000,000 - 187,720 190,260 - 8.04% 0.16%
United Bank Limited 600,000 1,050,000 102,562 98,700 128,772 4.17% 0.05%
856,276 832,841 572,422 35.18%
Engineering
Aisha Steel Mills Limited - 2,503,000 - - 26,282
Amreli Steel Limited - 1,300,000 - - 62,244
International Steels Limited - 466,100 - - 30,655
Mughal Iron & Steel Industries Limited - 1,636,500 - - 66,196
- - 185,377
Food & Personal Care Products
At-Tahur Limited 2,756,050 2,500,000 47,579 57,739 47,500 2.44% 1.71%
Matco Foods Limited - 1,650,000 - - 43,044 - -
47,579 57,739 90,544 2.44%
Glass & Ceremics
Shabbir Tiles & Ceremics Limited - 982,000 - - 14,229
Oil & Gas Exploration Companies
Oil & Gas Development Company Limited 500,000 500,000 68,824 71,160 64,000 3.01% 0.01%
Oil & Gas Marketing Companies
Pakistan State Oil Company Limited 550,000 370,700 104,396 105,402 83,567 4.45% 0.12%
Sui Northern Gas Pipeline Limited 9.2.3.1.3 1,250,000 - 97,854 95,213 - 4.02% 0.20%
202,250 200,615 83,567 8.47%
Pharmaceuticals
Searle Pakistan Limited 250,000 49,753 47,185 1.99% 0.12%
Technology & Communication
Netsol Technologies Limited 1,218,400 718,400 87,777 80,244 49,879 3.39% 1.36%
TRG Pakistan Limited 6,000,000 - 127,581 147,300 - 6.22% 1.10%
215,358 227,544 49,879 9.61%
Textile Composite
Gul Ahmad Textile Mills Limited - 1,000,000 - - 46,170
Kohinoor Textile Mills Limited - 250,000 - - 11,270
Nishat Chunian Limited - 1,500,500 - - 72,894
- - 130,334 -
Vanaspati & Allied Industries
Unity Foods Limited 2,000,000 32,469 32,220 1.36% 0.37%
1,557,286 1,654,984 1,483,399 65.68%
Unrealised loss on quoted shares __ (2302

1 million shares (2018: Nil) of Bank Alfalah Limited having market value of Rs. 45.7 million (2018: Nil) as at
December 31, 2019 have been pledged as collateral in favor of National Clearing Company of Pakistan
Limited against exposure margins and mark to market losses.

4 milion shares (2018: 4.5 million shares) of Bank Alfalah Limited having a market value of
Rs. 182.8 million (2018: Rs. 182.655 million) as at December 31, 2019, have been pledged with National Bank
of Pakistan Limited as collateral against running finance facility obtained from the bank.
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9.2.3.1.3 5 million shares (2018: Nil) of Faysal Bank Limited having a market value of Rs. 95.1 million (2018:
Nil) and 0.5 million shares (2018: Nil) of Sui Northern Gas Pipelines Limited having a market value
of Rs. 38.09 million (2018: Nil) as at December 31, 2019, have been pledged with Bank Al-Habib
Limited as collateral against running finance facility obtained from the bank.

9.2.3.2 Mutual Funds

Number of Units Carrying Value Market Value
Name of fund Note 31-Dec-19  31-Dec-18 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18
——————————————— Rupees '000'---------------
NBP Government Securities Liquid Fund 9.2.3.2.1 223,871 279,573 2,281 2,285 2,849
Carrying cost as at December 31, 2019 2,281 2,285 2,849
Market value as at December 31, 2019 2,285
Unrealised gain on mutual funds 4

9.2.3.2.1 223,871 units (2018: 223,871 units) of NBP Government Securities Liquid Fund having a market
value of Rs. 2.285 million (2018: Rs. 2.281 million) have been kept under pledge with National
Bank of Pakistan pending settlement of a claim in litigation.

2019 2018
10 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES Note (Rupees in '000)
Amounts due from other insurers / reinsurers -
Discontinued Operations 10.1 - -
Reinsurance recoveries against outstanding
claims - Discontinued Operations 5,406 5,406
Interest receivable 1,880 -
Sundry receivables 10.2 4,690 38,366
11,976 43,772
10.1  Amounts due from other insurers / reinsurers - unsecured
Considered good
- Foreign - =
- Local - -
Considered doubtful 2,129 2,129
2,129 2,129
Provision against amounts due from other insurers / reinsurers (2,129) (2,129)
10.2 Sundry receivables
Profit on bank deposits
- Savings accounts 14 16
- Term deposits 479 7
Others 2,778 36,950
Receivable from related party 10.3&10.4 1,419 1,393
4,690 38,366

10.3 This includes amount receivable from related party (Pebbles Private Limited) in respect of advisory
services provided.

10.4 The maximum aggregate amount of receivable at the end of any month during the year was Rs.
1.705 million (2018: Rs 1.464 million).
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2019 2018
Note (Rupees in '000)
11 ADVANCES AND SHORT-TERM PREPAYMENTS
Advances and deposits 7,250 2,075
Prepayments 1,048 1,141
Club Membership - employees (related party) - 75
8,298 3,291
12 CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Cash in hand 22 22
Current and other accounts
Current accounts 27 7,500
Savings accounts 12.1 1,820 2,048
1,847 9,548
1,869 9,570

121 These balances are placed under mark-up arrangement with mark-up ranging between 0.48% to
11.25% (2018: 3.35% to 8.00%) per annum.

12.2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of cash flow statement comprises of the following:

- Cash and bank balances 12 1,869 9,570
- Short term borrowing 18 (189,982) (211,800)
- Term deposit receipts 9.2.1 3,000 3,000

(185,113) (199,230)

13 ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP SHARE CAPITAL

2019 2018
(Number of shares)

250,000 250,000 Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each 2,500 2,500
fully paid in cash
58,377,722 58,377,722 Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each
issued as fully paid bonus shares 583,777 583,777
58,627,722 58,627,722 586,277 586,277

13.1  As at December 31, 2019, related parties hold 39,682,826 (2018: 39,682,826) ordinary shares of
Rs. 10 each.

13.2 As at December 31, 2019, Dawood Corporation (Private) Limited holds 62.03% (2018: 62.03%)
holding in Cyan Limited.
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14

14.1

14.2

15

15.1

2019 2018

Note (Rupees in '000)
RESERVES

Capital reserves
- Reserve for exceptional losses 14.1 10,535 10,535
- Capital gain reserve 14.2 2,553 2,553
13,088 13,088

Revenue reserve
- General reserve 120,000 120,000
133,088 133,088

The reserve for exceptional losses is a specific purpose reserve created to provide for possible
losses on exceptional insurance claims which the Directors do not consider to be available for
dividend distribution.

The reserve for capital gains is a specific purpose reserve created to provide for possible losses
on exceptional capital losses which the Directors do not consider to be available for dividend
distribution.

DEFERRED LIABILITY
Defined Benefit Plan

As explained in note 4.12.2 the Company operates an unfunded approved gratuity scheme for all
permanent employees.

The latest actuarial valuation of the gratuity scheme was carried out as of December 31, 2019. The
principal actuarial assumptions used for the purpose of the valuation were as follows:

Principal actuarial assumptions

The following significant assumptions have been used for valuation of this scheme.

2019 2018
a. Valuation discount rate 12.50% 13.75%
b. Salary increase rate 12.50% 13.75%
c. Average expected service length of employees (in years) 4 3.7

d. Assumption regarding future mortality experience are based on actuarial recommendations and
published statistics. The rates assumed are based on the SLIC 2001-05 mortality rates, related
down by one year.

The gratuity scheme exposes the entity to the following risks:
Mortality risks

The risk that the actual mortality experience is different. The effect depends on the beneficiaries’
service / age distribution and the benefit.

Final salary risks

The risk that the final salary at the time of cessation of service is higher than what was assumed.
Since the benefit is calculated on the final salary, the benefit amount increases similarly.
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15.2 The amount recognised in the statement of financial position is determined as follows:

2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

Present value of defined benefit obligation 17,358 15,281

15.3 Reconciliation of payable to defined benefit plan

Present value of defined benefit obligation 17,358 15,281
Net actuarial gains / (losses) not recognised - -
Balance at the end of the year 17,358 15,281

15.4 Movement in present value of defined benefit obligation

At January 1 15,281 12,237
Current service cost 2,868 2,458
Interest expense / (income) 2,048 1,272
20,197 15,967
Remeasurements:
- Gain from change in demographic assumptions - -
- Gain from change in financial assumptions (32 81
- Experience adjustments (2,040) (528)
(2,072) (447)
Benefit payments (767) (239)
At December 31 17,358 15,281

15.5 Movement in net liability / (asset) in the statement of financial position

Opening balance of net liabiltiy / (asset) 15,281 12,237
Charge for the year 4,916 3,730
Contributions made by the Company (767) (239)
Net remeasurement (gain) / loss for the year (2,072) (447)
Closing balance of net liability 17,358 15,281

15.6 Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Current service cost 2,868 2,458
Net interest income 2,048 1,272
4,916 3,730

15.7 The sensitivities of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions
are as under:

2019 2018
Impact on defined benefit Impact on defined benefit
obligation - increase / (decrease) obligation - increase / (decrease)

Changein Increasein Decrease in Changein  Increasein  Decrease in
assumption assumption assumption assumption assumption assumption

Discount rate +/(-) 100 bps 15,346 (19,717) +/(-) 100 bps 13,507 (17,371)
Salary increase rate +/(-) 100 bps 19,721 (15,305) +/(-) 100 bps 17,378 (13,469)

140 Cyan Limited



15.8
15.9

15.9.1

15.9.2

16

16.1

The above sensitivities analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other
assumptions constant. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant
actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated
with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when
calculating the gratuity liability recognised within the balance sheet.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 13 years.

Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted defined benefit obligation for the gratuity scheme is as
follows:

At December 31, 2019 Less than Between Between Over5 Total

ayear 1-2years 2-5years years

------------------- Rupees in '000 -------------------

Gratuity 790 890 3,143 505,468 510,291
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Historical information e Rupees in '000 ----------=--------
Defined benefit obligation 17,358 15,281 12,237 10,528 8,369
Fair value of plan assets - = = = =
(Surplus) / Deficit 17,358 _ 15,281 12,237 10,528 8,369
Remeasurement (Gain) / Loss on obligation (2,072) (447) 671) (1,314) (645)

Remeasurement (Gain) / Loss on plan assets

@072 @an Bl (814 64

Gratuity cost comprising the service cost and the net interest cost for the next year works out to
Rs. 5.036 million as per the actuarial valuation report of the Company as of December 31, 2019.

The disclosure made in notes 15.1 to 15.9.2 are based on the information included in the actuarial
valuation report of the Company as of December 31, 2019.

2019 2018
DEFERRED TAXATION (Rupees in '000)
Deductible temporary differences
Staff gratuity 5,034 4,432
Capital loss 64,732 -
Lease liability against right of use asset 4,978 -
Leave encashment - 283
74,744 4,715
Taxable temporary differences
Revaluation of investments 14,354 70,263
Right of use asset (4,468) -
Accelerated tax depreciation (815) (927)
9,071 69,336
83,815 74,051
Reconciliation of deferred tax liability
Opening balance 74,051 52,235
Recognised in profit or loss 10,364 21,976
Recognised in equity (600) (160)
Closing balance 83,815 74,051
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2019 2018
Note (Rupees in '000)
17 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Amounts due to other insurers / reinsurers -
Discontinued Operations 17.1 587 587
Accrued expenses 17.2 55,113 4,464
Provision for outstanding claims -
Discontinued Operations 8,805 8,805
Payable against purchase of investment - net - 23,158
Other creditors and accruals 17.3 3,669 1,423
Payable to provident fund - 112
68,174 38,549
17.1  Amounts due to other insurers / reinsurers
This includes amounts due to local companies.
17.2 The amount includes balance of compensated absences of key management personnel amounting
to Nil as at December 31, 2019 (2018: Rs. 0.977 million).
17.3  Other creditors and accruals
Brokerage payable 2,370 723
Sundry creditors 1,299 700
3,669 1,423
18 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS
Secured
Short term running finance 189,982 211,800
Mark-up accrued 5,464 6,346
195,446 218,146
18.1 The Company has running finance facility of Rs. 500 million (2018: Rs. 500 million) under mark-up
arrangement with Bank Al Habib Limited. The facility carries mark-up at 3 months KIBOR plus 1%
per annum (2018: 3 month KIBOR + 0.65% per annum) and will expire on March 31, 2020. The
amount utilised as at December 31, 2019 was Nil.
18.2 The Company has running finance facility of Rs.500 million (2018: Rs. 1,000 million) under mark-up
arrangement with National Bank of Pakistan. The facility carries mark-up at 3 months KIBOR plus
0.20% per annum (2018: 3 month KIBOR + 0.20% per annum) and will expire on May 31, 2020.
The amount utilised as at December 31, 2019 was Rs.120.982 million.
18.3 The Company has running finance facility of Rs.1,000 million (2018: Rs. 1,000 million) under mark-

up arrangement with MCB Bank Limited. The facility carries mark-up at 1 month KIBOR plus 0.25%
per annum (2018: 3 month KIBOR + 0.25% per annum) and will expired on January 31, 2020. The
amount utilised as at December 31, 2019 was Rs. 69 million.
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19 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Contingencies and commitments other than those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements
are as follows:

2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)
19.1 Guarantees issued on behalf of the Company
by commercial bank 2,800 2,800

19.2 Matters relating to taxation are given in note 24.1.
20 RETURN ON INVESTMENTS

Amortised cost

Interest earned on Pakistan investment bonds 2,263 -
Amortisation on

- Treasury bills 2,272 3,042

- Pakistan investment bonds 963 -

5,498 3,042

Fair value through other comprehensive income
and fair value through profit or loss
Dividend income:

- Related parties 46,121 30,250
- Others 48,222 63,607
94,343 93,857
99,841 96,899

21 OTHER INCOME
Income from financial assets
Profit on bank deposits 2,474 1,199
Income from long term loans 223 351

Income from non-financial assets

(Loss) / Gain on sale of property and equipment 990 (23)
Liabilities considered no longer payable written back - 121
Others 8 24
Advisory income from related party 12,000 10,750

15,695 12,422
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2019 2018
Note (Rupees in '000)
22 OPERATING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Salaries, wages and other benefits 22.1,222&22.3 115,541 58,103
Levy, cess and insurance 1,743 1,362
Rent, rates and taxes - 8,275
Depreciation on owned fixed asset 6 5,306 2,618
Depreciation on right-of-use asset 6 8,039 =
Amortisation 7 98 71
Legal and professional charges 2,756 2,690
Printing and stationery 1,369 2,503
Utilities 1,059 1,073
Vehicle running expenses 324 269
Advertisement, promotion and event expenses 1,255 1,108
Security guards expenses 1,386 1,260
Auditor's remuneration 22.5 1,977 2,402
Entertainment 2,180 2,115
Travelling and communication expenses 2,296 2,922
Fees and subscription 4,954 3,845
Postage and telegram 101 175
Books and periodicals 6 14
Repairs, renewal and decoration 1,497 1,549
Brokerage and commission expense 9,542 13,897
Bank and settlement charges 1,254 1,937
Employee training fee 445 393
Research expense 2,659 2,859
Donation 22.4 1,501 -
Other expenses 1,451 1,179
Reversal of provision for workers' welfare fund (24,246) -
Provision against doubtful debts - 2,055

144,493 114,674

22.1 This includes Rs. 4.398 million (2018: Rs. 3.49 million) in respect of staffs’ provident fund.

22.2 This includes Rs. 4.916 million (2018: Rs. 3.73 million) in respect of employees’ gratuity scheme.

22.3 Thisincludes provision amounting to Rs. 52.407 million (2018: Nil) in respect of variable compensation

to employees.

22.4 None of the directors or their spouse have interest in the donees.

22.5 Auditor's remuneration

Annual audit fee

Review and certifications
Out of pocket expenses
Taxation services

Sindh sales tax on services

23 FINANCIAL CHARGES

Interest on short term borrowings
Interest expense on lease liabilities against right-of-use asset

480 480
365 365
47 30
1,014 1,459
1,906 2,334
71 68
1,977 2,402
9,109 14,689
2,354 =
11,463 14,689
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24

241

2019 2018

Note (Rupees in '000)
TAXATION
Current year 20,400 29,060
Prior years (13,105) -
Deferred (10,364) (21,976)
(3,069) 7,084

Tax returns have been filed up to the Tax Year 2019 (Accounting year December 31, 2018) which
are deemed as assessments completed in terms of section 120(1) of the Income Tax Ordinance
2001 (ITO). However, the Company and the Department have filed appeals in respect of certain
assessment years which relate to the following:

For the Tax Year 2007, the return filed by the Company was amended by the Deputy Commissioner
of Income Tax by making additions to taxable income on account of proration of expenses
allocated under section 67 of the Income Tax Ordinance 2001, disallowance of amortisation of
computer software and addition on account of non-deduction of withholding tax fromn commission
and provision for incurred but not reported claims (IBNR) resulting in additional tax demand of Rs.
13.03 million. These additions were disputed by the Company at various appellate levels including
Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR). Currently, a miscellaneous application has been filed with
the ATIR for rectification of additional tax demand of Rs. 1.01 million arising out of disallowance of
amortisation of computer software and non-deduction of withholding tax from commission and the
ATIR directed the Commissioner Inland Revenue (CIR(A)) to pass appeal effect order. Further, the
Commissioner Inland Revenue has filed appeal in the High Court of Sindh against the order of the
learned ATIR on deletion of addition on account of proration of expenses allocated under section
67 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 of Rs. 37.42 million, which was adjudicated in favour of the
Company. The Commissioner Inland Revenue filed a civil review petition in the Supreme Court of
Pakistan against the judgment of the High Court of Sindh which is pending.

For the Tax Year 2009, Additional Commissioner Inland Revenue (ACIR) Audit has passed amended
order under Section 122(5A) of Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 and treated dividend income amounting
to Rs. 102 million as normal business income and charged normal tax rate i.e. 35% instead of
reduced rate of 10%. thus creating tax demand of Rs. 30 million. The Company has filed an appeal
against the said order before the ATIR. Subsequently, a stay was granted by ATIR subject to 15%
payment of the demand amount, amounting to Rs. 4.53 million. Thereafter, an order was issued by
ATIR confirming that tax on dividend for insurance companies must be charged at reduced rate of
10% and therefore the tax liability of Rs. 30 million is no more payable. The tax department has filed
a civil petition in the Sindh High Court against the order of ATIR which is pending.

For the Tax Year 2010, the Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals) vide appellate order deleted
the proration of expenses against dividend income and exempt capital gains. However, the CIR
(Appeals) has maintained the disallowance of the provision for IBNR amounting to Rs. 7.46 million
having tax implications of Rs. 2.61 million. The Company has filed appeal before the ATIR which
is pending. The department has also filed appeal before the ATIR against the deletion of proration
of expenses against dividend income, and exempt capital gains and disallowance of provision for
IBNR.

The management, based on the opinion of its tax advisor, is confident about the favourable outcome

of the above matters and hence, no additional provision has been considered necessary in these
financial statements.
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2019 2018
Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit (Rupees in '000)
Accounting profit before taxation 94,873 (211,002
Tax at applicable rate of 29% (2018: 29%) 27,513 -
Tax impact of prior year (13,105) -
Others (17,477) -
(3,069) -

The numerical reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting profit for the year 2018
has not been presented as the current charge pertains to tax collected as final tax under various
provisions of Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

Aggregate amounts charged in the financial statements for the year for remuneration, including all
benefits, to the directors and executives of the Company are as follows:

Chief Executive Directors Executives® Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)
Fees - - 1,250 1,150 - - 1,250 1,150
Managerial remuneration 12,868 12,664 - - 8,817 8,562 21,685 21,226
House rent, conveyance
and other allowances 10,995 11,156 - - 8,198 7,270 19,193 18,426
Contribution to provident fund 1,930 1,588 - - 1,454 1,141 3,384 2,729
25,793 25,408 1,250 1,150 18,469 16,973 45,512 43,531
Number of persons 1 1 3 3 3 3 7 7

Executive means an employee of a listed company other than the chief executive and directors
whose basic salary exceeds Rs. 1.2 million in a financial year. The Chief Executive Officer and an
Executive are provided with company paid club memberships.

* This includes remuneration paid to an executive director amounting to Rs. 10.641 million (2018:
Rs. 9.646 million).

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is provided with Company owned and maintained car.

In addition, the Company has made an accrual of Rs.52.407 million (2018: Nil) in respect of variable
compensation. The allocation of this amount,if any, to chief executive and executives has not been
determine so far and will be reflected in future financial statements on payment basis.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Related parties comprise companies with common directors, group companies, associated
companies, defined contribution plan and defined benefit plan, directors and key management
personnel and their close family members. Transactions with related parties are entered into at rates
negotiated with them. Remuneration to key management personnel are in accordance with their
terms of engagement.
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Following are the details of related parties with whom the Company had entered into transactions
or had agreements and arrangements in place during the year:

Percentage of

AR U shareholding in Common Directorship

Name Of Related Party

Company |
Dawood Corporation (Private) Limited Parent Company 62.03% N/A
Pebbles (Private) Limited Associated Company 2.67% Common Directorship
Dawood Hercules Corporation Limited Associated Company 0.00% Common Directorship
Dawood Lawrencepur Limited Associated Company 0.00% Common Directorship
The Dawood Foundation Associated Company 0.88% N/A
Inbox Business Technologies Limited Associated Company 0.00% Common Directorship
Kulsum Dawood Non-Executive Director 0.72% N/A
Hasan Reza Ur Rahim Non-Executive Director N/A N/A
Kamran Nishat Indepedent Director N/A N/A
Inam Ur Rahman Non-Executive Director N/A N/A
Shafig Ahmed Non-Executive Director N/A N/A
Sulaiman S. Mehdi Key management personnel N/A N/A
Faisal Nadeem Key management personnel N/A N/A
Cyan Limited Staff Provident Fund Associated Company N/A N/A
Cyan Limited Employees’ Gratuity Scheme Associated Company N/A N/A

Key management personnel of the Company comprise of the Directors, Chief Executive Officer and
Executives. Their remuneration has been disclosed in note 25 of the financial statements.

For the year ended December 31

2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)
Associated companies

Rendering of service 12,000 10,750
Purchase of service 8,995 8,476
Dividend Income 46,121 30,250
Dividend paid - 98,158
Other related parties

Provision relating to staff retirement gratuity scheme 4,916 3,730
Membership fee & other subscription 75 217
Contribution to staff provident fund 4,398 3,459
Key management personnel

Director fee 1,250 1,150
Remuneration 44,262 35,892
Loan recovery 2,330 2,330
Dividend paid - 1,050

26.1 Balances outstanding at December 31

Balances outstanding

Loan to Chief Executive Officer 880 1,940
Loan to other executive 5,496 6,544
Receivable from related party 1,419 1,393
Payable to related party 117 117
Security deposit with related party 1,740 1,740
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

As at December 31, 2019, the financial assets carried on the statement of financial position
are categorised either as ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’, ‘financial assets at
amortised cost’ or ‘financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income’. The financial
liabilities carried on the statement of assets and liabilities are categorised as other financial liabilities
i.e. liabilities other than ‘at fair value through profit or loss’.

Financial assets

Loans to employees

Long term deposits

Trade and other receivables
Advances

Cash and bank balances
Investments

Financial liabilities
Deferred liability - gratuity

Lease liability against right-of-use asset

Trade and other payables
Unclaimed dividend
Short term borrowings

Financial assets

Loans to employees

Long term deposits

Trade and other receivables
Advances

Cash and bank balances
Investments

Financial liabilities
Deferred liability - gratuity
Trade and other payables
Unclaimed dividend
Short term borrowings
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At fair value At fair value
At amortised through other .
. through profit Total
cost comprehensive
. or loss
income
Rupees in ‘000
6,376 - - 6,376
2,500 - - 2,500
11,976 - - 11,976
7,250 - - 7,250
1,869 - - 1,869
52,748 757,506 1,557,269 2,367,523
82,719 757,506 1,557,269 2,397,494
------------ As at December 31, 2019 ------------
Liabilities
‘at fair value At amortised Total
through profit cost
or loss’
————————————————————— Rupees in ‘000 -------------------—-
- 17,358 17,358
- 17,166 17,166
- 68,174 68,174
- 26,727 26,727
- 195,446 195,446
- 324,871 324,871
——————————————— As at December 31, 2018---------------
Financial P )
Loans and Held to . assets at fair
. . assets available Total
receivables maturity ¢ value through
or sale .
profit or loss
Rupees in ‘000
8,484 - - - 8,484
2,500 - - - 2,500
43,772 - - - 43,772
2,075 - - - 2,075
9,570 - - - 9,570
3,000 44,979 574,719 1,486,248 2,108,946
69,401 44,979 574,719 1,486,248 2,175,347
———————————— As at December 31, 2018 ------------
Liabilities
‘at fair value Other financial Total
through profit liabilities
or loss’
————————————————————— RlupEEs i 000 =========m=mm====s
- 15,281 15,281
- 38,549 38,549
- 32,599 32,599
- 218,146 218,146
- 304,575 304,575




28

28.1

28.2

28.2.1

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and
market risk (including interest/ mark-up rate risk, foreign exchange risk and equity price risk). The
Company'’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance. The Company actively monitors
the key factors that affect the stock market. The Company consistently manages its exposure to
financial risk in the manner described in the notes below.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for establishment and oversight of the Company’s
risk management framework. The executive management team is responsible for developing and
monitoring the Company’s risk management policies. The team regularly meets and any changes
and compliance issues are reported to the Board of Directors.

Risk management systems are reviewed regularly by the executive management team to reflect
changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company, through its training and
management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

Credit risk

Credit risk represents the risk of a loss if the counterparties fail to perform as contracted. The
Company’s credit risk mainly arises from deposits with banks, loan to employees, advances and
trade and other receivables. For banks and financial institutions, management keeps deposits with
reputed institutions. Credit risk on account of dividend receivable is minimal due to the statutory
protection. All transactions in listed securities are settled / paid for upon delivery using the system
of National Clearing Company of Pakistan Limited. The risk of default in these transactions is
considered minimal due to inherent systematic measures taken therein. The details on account
of certain classified equity and debt securities and provision held thereagainst are stated in note
9.2.2.1, 9.2.2.2 and 9.2.2.3 to these financial statements. Investments amounting to Rs: 42.248
million (2018: Rs: 44.979 million) relate to Government Securities and are not considered as
exposed to credit risk due to government guarantee.

Exposure to credit risk

The book value of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure, as specified below:

Note 2019 2018

Financial assets (Rupees in '000)
Long term loan 28.2.1.3 6,376 8,484
Long term deposits 2,500 2,500
Trade and other receivables 28.2.1.1 11,976 43,772
Advances 7,250 2,075
Bank balances 28.2.1.2 1,847 9,548
Investments 10,500 3,000

40,449 69,379
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28.2.1.1 The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2019 2018
| Gross | [Impairment] | Net || Gross | [Impairment] | Net |
(Rupees in ‘000)

Not past due 6,570 - 6,570 38,366 - 38,366
Past due but not impaired 5,406 - 5,406 5,406 - 5,406
Past due and impaired 2,129 (2,129) - 2,129 (2,129) -

14,105 (2,129) 11,976 45,901 (2,129) 43,772

28.2.1.2 The credit quality of the Company’s bank balances other than statutory deposits with SBP can be assessed with reference
to external credit ratings as follows:

2019 Rating Rating (Rupees in
Short term| [Long term| | Agency ‘000)
Habib Bank Limited A-1+ AAA JCR - VIS 548
Bank Al-Habib Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA 1,248
Bank Islami Pakistan Limited A-1 A+ PACRA 13
Bank Al Falah Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA 27
MCB Bank Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA -
National Bank Of Pakistan A-1+ AAA PACRA -
Summit Bank Limited * - - JCR - VIS 11
1,847
* The credit rating of the bank has been suspended.
2018 Rating Rating (Rupees in
Short term | [ Long term | | Agency ‘000)
Habib Bank Limited A-1+ AAA JCR - VIS 2,025
Bank Islami Pakistan Limited A-1 A+ PACRA 13
Summit Bank Limited A-3 BBB- PACRA 10
Bank Al Falah Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA 7,500
Bank Al Habib Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA -
MCB Bank Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA -
National Bank of Pakistan A-1+ AAA PACRA -
9,548

28.2.1.3 The credit risk on long term loan is minimal as these loans are given to employees and are deductible from their remuneration.
28.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Management closely monitors
the Company’s liquidity and cash flow position. This includes maintenance of statement of financial position
liquidity ratios, debtors and creditors concentration in terms of the overall funding mix.

The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the reporting date to the maturity date.

150 Cyan Limited



28.4

28.41

2019

Carrying Contractual Less than
amount cash flows one year

(Rupees in '000)

1-2years 2-5years Over5 years

On balance sheet financial liabilities and others

Deferred liability - gratuity 17,358 17,358 - - - (17,358)
Lease liability against right-of-use asset 17,166 17,166 (8,023) (9,143) - -
Trade and other payables 68,174 68,174 (68,174) - - -
Short term borrowings 195,446 195,446 (195,446) - - -
Unclaimed dividend 26,727 26,727 (26,727) - - -

324,871 324,871 (298,370) (9,143) - (17,358)

2018

Carrying  Contractual Less than
amount  cash flows one year
(Rupees in '000)

1-2years 2-5years Over 5 years

On balance sheet financial liabilities and others

Deferred liability - gratuity 15,281 15,281 - - - (15,281)
Trade and other payables 38,549 38,549 (38,549 - - -
Short term borrowings 218,146 218,146  (218,146) - - -
Unclaimed dividend 32,599 32,599 (32,599) - - -

304,575 304,575 (289,294) - - (15,281)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity
prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimising the return. However, the Company is exposed to interest rate risk and equity price risk.

The Company is exposed to market risk with respect to its investments, long term loan, short term deposits
and bank balances. The Company limits market risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio and by continuous
monitoring of developments in the equity market. The market risks associated with the Company’s business
activities are interest rate risk and price risk. The Company is not exposed to material currency risk.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate

because of changes in market interest rates. At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company’s
interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Carrying amounts Effective interest
(Rupees in ‘000) rate in %
Financial Assets 2019 2018 2019 2018
Fixed rate instruments
" 13.49% to o
- Government Securities 42,248 44,979 13.72% 8.74%
11.25% to 5
- TDR 10,500 3,000 11.7% 8.00%

Variable rate instruments

- Saving accounts 1,820 2,048 0.48% to 3.35% to 8%
- Short term deposits - = 11.25%

Sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Company does not account for fixed rate financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a
change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss and equity of the Company.
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Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the year end would increase or decrease net assets by Rs. 0.4407 million
(2018: Rs. 0.205 million). The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

28.4.1.1 Maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities

2019
Interest / mark-up bearing
More Not exposed
Profit rate % per than three to yield /
annum Upto three months and More than interest rate Total
months one year :
up to one risk
year
—————————————————————————— Rupees in ‘000) ---------=--==-==--=------
Financial assets
Long term investments 13.49% t0 13.72% - - 42,248 - 42,248
Loan to employees 6% - 2,094 4,282 - 6,376
Long term deposits - - - 2,500 2,500
Advances - - - 7,250 7,250
Investments 11.25% to 11.7% 3,000 7,500 - 2,314,775 2,325,275
Trade and other receivables - - - 11,976 11,976
Cash and bank balances 0.48% to 11.25% 1,820 - - 49 1,869
4,820 9,594 46,530 2,336,550 2,397,494
Financial liabilities
Deferred liability - gratuity - - 17,358 - 17,358
Lease liability against
right-of-use asset 12.91% 1,803 6,220 9,143 - 17,166
Trade and other payables - - - 68,174 68,174
Unclaimed dividend - - - 26,727 26,727
Short term borrowings 13.91% to 14.86% 195,446 - - - 195,446
197,249 6,220 26,501 94,901 324,871
On-balance sheet gap (a) (192,429) 3,374 20,029 2,241,649 2,072,623
Off-balance sheet financial instruments - - - - -
Off-balance sheet gap (b) - - - - -
Total interest rate sensitivity gap (a) + (b) (192,429) 3,374 20,029 2,241,649 2,072,623
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap (192,429) (189,055) (169,026)
2018
Interest / mark-up bearing
Not exposed
Profit rate % per Ll a2 to yield /
Upto three | |three months| | More than . Total
annum interest rate
months and up to one year risk
one year
—————————————————————————— [RlujpeEs i (0010)) =====mmmmmmammmammmma==s
Financial assets
Loan to employees 6% - 2,330 6,154 - 8,484
Long term deposits - - - 2,500 2,500
Advances - - - 2,075 2,075
Investments 8% t0 8.74% 47,979 - - 2,060,967 2,108,946
Trade and other receivables - - 43,772 43,772
Cash and bank balances 3.35% to 8% 2,048 - - 7,622 9,570
50,027 2,330 6,154 2,116,836 2,175,347
Financial liabilities
Deferred liability - gratuity - - 15,281 - 15,281
Trade and other payables - - - 38,549 38,549
Unclaimed dividend - - - 32,599 32,599
Short term borrowings 8.52% t0 9.13% 218,146 - - - 218,146
218,146 - 15,281 71,148 304,575
On-balance sheet gap (a) (168,119) 2,330 9,127) 2,045,688 1,870,772
Off-balance sheet financial instruments = - = - S
Off-balance sheet gap (b) = & & & &
Total interest rate sensitivity gap (a) + (b) (168,119) 2,330 9,127) 2,045,688 1,870,772
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap (168,119) (165,789) (174,916)
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Equity price risk

The Company is exposed to equity price risk because of investments held by the Company and
classified on the Statement of Financial Position as at fair value through other comprehensive
income and at fair value through profit or loss. To manage its price risk arising from investments in
equity securities, the Company diversifies its portfolio within the eligible stocks.

In case of 5% increase / decrease in KSE 100 index on December 31, 2019, net profit for the
year would increase / decrease by Rs. 37.548 million (2018: Rs. 88.748 million) as a result of
gains / losses on equity securities at fair value through profit or loss and fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity index had increased / decreased by 5% with
all other variables held constant and all the Company’s equity instruments moved according to the
historical correlation with the index. This represents management’s best estimate of a reasonable
possible shift in the KSE 100 index, having regard to the historical volatility of the index. The
composition of the Company’s investment portfolio and the correlation thereof to the KSE index, is
expected to change over time. Accordingly, the sensitivity analysis prepared as of December 31,
2019 is not necessarily indicative of the effect on the Company’s net assets of future movements in
the level of the KSE 100 index.

Foreign currency risk

The Company is not materially exposed to risk from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under
current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique.

Financial assets which are tradable in an open market are revalued at the market prices prevailing
on the reporting date. The estimated fair value of all other financial assets and liabilities is considered
not significantly different from carrying value as the items are short-term in nature or periodically
repriced.

As per the requirements of the IFRS 13, the Company shall classify fair value measurements using
a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (level 2); and

- Inputs for assets or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method.

————————————————— As at December 31, 2019 -------------o---
| Level1 || Level2 || Level3 || Total
——————————————————— RlU0EES [N 000k====mmmmmmm==s

ASSETS

Investment in securities - financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss
Quoted shares 1,554,984 - - 1,554,984
Mutual fund units - 2,285 - 2,285

Investment in securities - financial assets at

fair value through other comprehensive income
Quoted shares 757,506 - - 757,506

—————————————————— As at December 31, 2018 ----------------—-

| Levelt || Level2 || Level3 || Total

ASSETS e Rupees in ‘000-------------------
Investment in securities - financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss
- Quoted shares 1,483,399 - - 1,483,399
- Mutual fund units - 2,849 - 2,849
Investment in securities - financial assets

available for sale
- Quoted shares 574,719 - - 574,719

The Company’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of the different fair value hierarchy levels
at the date the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer occurred.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain a strong capital base to support the sustained development of its
businesses.

The Company manages its capital structure by monitoring return on net assets and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividend paid to shareholders or issue
new shares.
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32.1

2019 2018
EARNING / (LOSS) PER SHARE - basic and diluted (Rupees in '000)

Net profit / (loss) for the year attributable to ordinary
shareholders 97,942 (218,086)

(Number of shares)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

outstanding during the year 58,627,722 58,627,722
(Rupees)
Basic earning / (loss) per share 1.67 (8.72)

PROVIDENT FUND RELATED DISCLOSURES

The Company has contributory provident fund scheme for the benefit of all its permanent employees
under the title of “Cyan Limited Staff’ Provident Fund”. The Fund is maintained by the Trustees
and all decisions regarding investments and distribution of income etc. are made by the Trustees
independent of the Company.

The following information is based on the latest unaudited financial statements of the Fund for the
half year ended December 31, 2019:

2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)
Size of the fund - Total assets 44,430 32,979
Cost of investments made 43,227 32,982
Percentage of investments made 97.3% 100.0%
Fair value of investments 45,110 32,960

The break-up of fair value of investments is

2019 2018
(Rupeesin ||, (Rupeesin || o
‘000) & ‘000) e
Treasury Bills 12,303 27% 30,484 92%
Pakistan Investment Bonds 30,700 68% - 0%
Collective Investment Scheme 2,044 5% - 0%
Cash and Bank deposits 63 0% 2,476 8%

The investments of the provident fund have been made in accordance with the provisions of Section
218 of the Companies Act, 2017 and the rules formulated for this purpose.
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35

36

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
The average and total number of employees during the year and as at December 31, 2019 and 2018
respectively are as follows:
2019 2018
No of employees
Average number of employees during the year 18 18
Number of employees as at December 31 18 19
GENERAL
No significant rearrangements or reclassifications have been made in the financial statements during
the current year.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Board of Directors in its meeting held on February 24, 2020 have proposed a cash dividend in
respect of the year ended December 31, 2019 of Rs. 1 per share (10%) (December 31, 2018: Nil)
and bonus shares @ 5% (81 December 2018: Nil). These financial statements do not include the
effect of this appropriation which will be accounted for subsequent to the year end.
DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE
These financial statements were authorised for issue on February 24, 2020 by the Board of Directors
of the Company.
Faisal Nadeem Sulaiman S. Mehdi Kamran Nishat
Chief Financial Officer Chief Executive Director
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Pattern of Shareholding

The Companies Act, 2017 (Section 227 (2) (f)

Cyan Limited

Pattern of holding of the shares held by the Shareholders as at December 31, 2019
282 1 to 100 4,720
306 101 to 500 126,919
304 501 to 1000 287,430
464 1001 to 5000 1,235,085
117 5001 to 10000 889,218
55 10001 to 15000 686,821
38 15001 to 20000 687,304
19 20001 to 25000 431,944
17 25001 to 30000 485,583
11 30001 to 35000 354,620
8 35001 to 40000 308,187
8 40001 to 45000 125,241
6 45001 to 50000 246,701
8 50001 to 55000 156,963
6 55001 to 60000 356,558
8 65001 to 70000 201,949
2 70001 to 75000 140,653
2 75001 to 80000 156,704
1 80001 to 85000 81,188
1 85001 to 90000 88,500
2 90001 to 95000 186,244
2 100001 to 105000 206,200
1 105001 to 110000 110,000
1 110001 to 115000 112,486
2 120001 to 125000 248,000
1 135001 to 140000 136,973
1 170001 to 175000 172,071
1 190001 to 195000 190,500
1 415001 to 420000 420,000
1 495001 to 500000 500,000
1 510001 to 515000 518,330
1 815001 to 820000 817,000
1 1560001 to 1565000 1,564,383
1 1775001 to 1780000 1,777,603
1 1780001 to 1785000 1,780,097
1 1785001 to 1790000 1,787,511
1 4685001 to 4690000 4,688,356
1 36360001 to 36365000 36,364,680
1668 58,627,722
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The Companies Act, 2017 (Section 227 (2) ()

Categories of Shareholders Share held
1 Directors, Chief Executive Officer, and
their spouse and minor children 5,108,356 8.71%
2  Associated Companies, undertakings and
related parties. 39,262,826 66.97%
3 NIT and ICP 570 0.00%
4 Banks Development Financial Insititutions,
Non Banking Financial Institutions. 22,042 0.04%
5 Insurance Companies 21,658 0.04%
6 Modarabas and Mutual Funds 1,194 0.00%
7 Shareholders holding 10% or more 36,364,680 62.03%
8 General Public
a. Local 13,590,351 23.18%
b. Foreign 1,005 0.00%
9 Others
Foreign Companies 13,000 0.02%
Others 454,677 0.78%
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Pattern of Shareholding

The Companies Act, 2017 (Section 227 (2) (f)

Disclosure Requirement under Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019

(CCG) as on December 31, 2019

Categories of Shareholders Shareholders | Shares Held

Directors and their spouse(s) and minor children
Hussain Dawood
Kulsum Dawood

Associated Companies, undertakings and related parties

Dawood Corporation (Pvt.) Ltd.

4,688,356 8%
420,000 1%

36,364,680 62%

;
Pebbles (Pvt) Limited 1 1,564,383 3%
Hajiani Hanifa Bai Memorial Society 1 817,000 1%
Dawood Foundation 1 513,330 1%
Dawood Industries (Pvt.) Ltd. 1 3,433 0%
NIT & ICP 2 570 0%
Public Sector Companies and Corporations 3 38,805 0%
Banks, development finance institutions, non-banking
finance companies, ir]surance companies, takaful, 4 43,700 0%
modarabas and pension funds
Mutual Funds 1 1,194 0%
General Public
a. Local 1629 13,703,589 23%
b. Foreign 2 1,005 0%
Foreign Companies 1 13,000 0%
Others 19 454,677 1%
Totals 1668 58,627,722 100%

Share holders holding 5% or more voting rights
Dawood Corporation (Pvt.) Ltd.
Hussain Dawood

Shares Held

36,364,680 62%
4,688,356 8%
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Glossary

Abbreviation | Description | Abbreviation Description
AuM Assets under Management IFAC International Federation of
AGM Annual General Meeting Accountants
BOD Board of Directors IAS International Accounting Standards
BIC Board Investment Committee KG Kilo Grams
BAC Board Audit Committee KPK Khyber Pakhtunkhwa
BHR & RC Board HR & Remuneration Labs Laboratories .
Committee LSM Large Scale Manufacturing
CEO Chief Executive Officer LBT Loss before tax
CS Company Secretary MIC Management Investment Committee
CFO Chief Financial Officer Mgmt. Management
Co. Company NTN National Tax Number
Co-worker | Company worker NBFI Non-Bank Financial Institution
CAGR Compound Annual Growth Rate NIT National Investment Trust
CNIC Computerized National Identity Card PkR Pakistani Rupee
CDC Central Depository Company P/E Price Earnings Ratio
CY 19 Calendar Year 2019 PAT/(LAT) Profit after tax/(Loss after tax)
CPI Consumer Price Index PBT Profit before tax
CYTD Calendar year to date SME Small and medium enterprises
CSR Corporate Social Responsibility SOEs State Owned Enterprise
CCG Code of Corporate Governance TOR Terms of Reference
DH Group Dawood Hercules Group YoY Year-over-year
DR Discount Rate Syr Five years
DFI Development Financial Institution
EBITDA Earnings before interes’g, taxes,
depreciation and amortization
EFF Extended Fund Facility
EU GSP European Generalised System of
Preferences
EPS/(LPS) [Earnings per share/(Loss per share)
Ext. Hardrive | External hardrive
FY 19 Fiscal Year 2019
FX Reserves |Foreign Exchange Reserves
FPI Foreign Portfolio Investment
GDP Gross Domestic Product
GoP Government of Pakistan
HR Human Resource
1HFY19 First Half Year 2019
2HCY 19 Second Half Calendar Year 2019
IA&C Internal Audit and Compliance
Info. Information
IPO Initial Public Offering
Incl Including
IMF International Monetary Fund
ICH International Clearing House
IFRS International Financial Reporting
Standards
IBNR Incurred but not reported
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Electronic Dividend Mandate
Form Cyan Limited

In accordance with the provisions of section 242 of the Companies Act, 2017, dividend payable in cash
shall only be paid through electronic mode directly into the bank account designated by the entitled
shareholders. SECP vide Circular No. 18 of 2017 dated August 01, 2017, has presently waived this
condition till October 31, 2017. Any dividend payable after this due date shall be paid in the manner
prescribed only.

Shareholders are requested to send the attached Form duly filled and signed, along with attested copy
of their CNIC to the Company’s Share Registrar, M/s. CDC Share Registrar Services Limited, CDC
House, 99-B, Block-B, SMCHS, Main Shahrah-e-Faisal, Karachi. CDC shareholders are requested to
submit their Dividend Mandate Form and attested copy of CNIC directly to their broker (participant)/CDC.

| hereby communicate to receive my future dividends directly in my Bank account as detailed below:

Name of shareholder e
Folio Number/CDC Account NO. & —======m--mmmmmmmmmmm oo of Cyan Limited.
Cenize MumloET Gif SNEENOllE; ¢ s====s=semesmeeesmesmemeesmemmemeeeemmemeeeesessesemssas e saemasas
Title of Account mmmmmmmmmmmmmssmsmsssssesssmssmoemeeeeeeoeceeooooooooooooooes
IBAN () e
Name of Bank D D D DS S SRS RS ooDD=s
Bank branch | s===sssssssssscssssssssssssssssssossossssssssosssssssssesssssssssssossssssssses
Mailing Address of Branch | mmemmssssemsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssessoooessooooosoocoooooocoooooos
CNIC N, (EliEeh EliiesiEe] @opy) © s======s===esmesmesmemmesssemsosssoesssomssoseossesasoeosasseosaeameosas

NITINI (in €2&@ ©ff COIoEELR @ity | s=======cs=esesmemmemeeseermomseeseesesseesaemoeases e measee e s sasas

It is stated that the above particulars given by me are correct and to the best of my knowledge; | shall
keep the Company informed in case of any changes in the said particulars in future.

Shareholder’s Signature Date
NOTES:

*Please provide complete IBAN (International Bank Account Number), after checking with your concerned
Bank branch to enable electronic credit directly into your bank account.
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Proxy Form CydN....

I/We of
being a member of CYAN LIMITED and holder of Ordinary Shares as
per Share Register Folio No. and/or CDC participant ID No.
and Account / Sub Account No. hereby appoint
of
or failing him/her of as my proxy to

vote for me and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the company
to be held at The Dawood Foundation Business Hub, Ground Floor, Dawood Center,
M.T. Khan Road, Karachi on May 21, 2020 at 2:00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

Signed this day of 2020

Witness 1
Signature
Name

CNIC No. or
Passport No.
Address

Signature on Revenue
Stamps of Rupees Five

Signature should agree with specimen

Witness 2 signature with the Company.
Signature

Name

CNIC No. or
Passport No.
Address

Notes:
e A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint any member as his/her proxy to attend
the meeting and vote.

o If a member is unable to attend the meeting, they may complete and sign this form and send it to the
Company Secretary, Cyan Limited at the registered office 4th floor, Dawood Centre, M.T Khan Road,
Karachi so as to reach not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.

° For CDC Account Holders / Corporate Entities
In addition to the above the following requirements have to be met.

(i) The proxy form shall be witnessed by two persons whose names, addresses and CNIC numbers
shall be stated on the form.

(i)  Attested copies of CNIC or the passport of the beneficial owners and the proxy shall be provided
with the proxy form.

(i) The proxy shall produce his original CNIC or original passport at the time of the meeting. In case of
a corporate entity, the Board of Director resolution / power of attorney with the specimen signature
shall be submitted (unless it has been provided earlier) along with the proxy form to the company.
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The Company Secretary,
Cyan Limited
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The Company Secretary,
Cyan Limited

4™ Floor, Dawood Centre
M.T. Khan Road

Karachi




whanw jamapuniji.pk

Key features:
Licensed Entities Verification
Scam meter*

[r=1

)

o Jamapunji games®

B Tax credit calculator®

o Company Verification

B Insurance & Investment Checklist
727 FAQs Answered

Education Iri
Securites and Excha

[ Jarma Punji s an Investor
3" } ative of
= e
e el Commission of Pakistan

B12005

AL d (silamovas sy 4l s

Be aware, Be alert,
Be safe

Learn about investing at
www.jamapunji.pk

Stock trading simulator
(based on live feed from KSE)

Knowledge center
Risk profiler*
Financial calculator

Subscription to Alerts (event
notifications, corporate and
regulatory actions)

Jamapuniji application for
mobile device

g o BFEE b

Online Quizzes

n L 4
Jamapunji.pk @jamapunji_plk

"Mobile apps are also avallable for download for android and los devices



Website: www.cyanlimited.com
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